Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023, Meeting Agenda
Select Board Meeting starts: 5:30 PM
Select Board Meeting ends (unless extended) at 8:00 PM

Executive Session (5:30)
The Select Board will hold an Executive Session meeting to discuss a legal matter pursuant to | MRSA,
Section 405, subsection 6(E).
Pledge of Allegiance (regular meeting begins - 6:30)
Regular Meeting Items - 5 min,
23-078 - Minutes: Select Board meeting minutes of January 23, 2023.
23-079 - Warrants: #31-32
Communications - 20 min.
Select Board communications. - 5 min.
Staff Reports - 5 min
¢ Town Manager Report
¢ Treasurer’s Report - January
Boards, Committees, Commissions & Departments - 5 min.
¢ Board and Committee Minutes (listed separately)
Public Communication - Members of the public may address the Select Board - 5 min.
Old Business - 40 min,
23-076 - Discuss Draft Select Board procedures - 10 min.
23-077 - Consider the Town Meeting Budget and Warrant (second draft budget) - 30 minutes
New Business - 20 min.
23-080 - Consider agreements with Casco Bay Advisors for consulting services related to a potential
Franchise Agreement Renewal with Charter (Spectrum) - 5 min.
23-081 - Consider a contract amendment with the Kennebec Valley Council of Governments for
Comprehensive Planning Services - 5 min.
23-082 - Assigning negotiators for the AFSCME 93 contract negotiation - 5 min.
23-083 - Consider approval of Commercial Hauler permits for the Transfer Station - 5 min.
Other Business, Upcoming Meetings, and Future Agenda Items - 5 min.
Adjournment

This meeting will be held in-person at the Town Office
Participate via Zoom at: hitps://us02web.zoom.us/j/88149608367 or
Call-in at +1 (929) 436-2866 and enter meeting ID: 881 4960 8367 and passcode: 781405




EXECUTIVE SESSION




THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY

LEFT BLANK




REGULAR MEETING

¢ VIINUTES
o WARRANTS




Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023

Readfield Select Board Item # 23-078
Regular Meeting Minutes — Monday, January 24, 2023 — unapproved

Select Board Members Present: Dennis Price (Chair), Kathryn Woodsum, Sean Keegan, Steve DeAngelis,
Carol Doorenbos

Excused Absent:

Others Attending: Eric Dyer (Town Manager), Anjelica Pittman (Board Secretary), Jackie Drouin, Linnea
Koons, Robert Harris, Grace, Elaine Katz, Hannah Flannery, Ben Rodrigues, Bruce Hunter, Jerry Bley, Chip
Stephens (CEQO), Rebecca Lambert, Michael Skolnick {Archipelago), Simon Thorne (Consolidated

Communications)
Pledge of Allegiance

Regular Meeting Items - 5 min.

23-070 — Minutes: Select Board meeting minutes of January 9, 2023

> Kathryn motioned to approve, Scan seconded, 4-0 vote in favor

23-071 — Warrants: #29-30

> Warrant #29 & 30 — Kathryn motioned to approve, Sean seconded, 4-0 vote in favor
Communications - 15 min.

Select Board Communications — 5 min.

» Kathryn thanked Ben and Matt for a great job keeping the sidewalks clean this winter

» Carol asked if the town has a way to advertise the Comp Plan Survey locally, like on the Fire
Departments sign, as an example. She also asked if the Comp Plan Survey could be added to the
main page of the Town Website to make it easier for people to locate.

Boards, Committees, Commissions & Departments — 5 min.
» Board and Committeec Minutes — Age Friendly & Conservation Commission
Public Communication — Members of the Public may address the Select Board — 5 min,

» Bob Harris attended to ask about metal detecting policies on the Fairgrounds because he received a
request from someone, Eric responded that the town does ask for folks who are metal detecting on
public lands in Readfield to turn in items of significant value. Eric also thinks it would be a good
idea to establish a policy going forward as a part of the Open Space plan update currently in work.

Appointments, Reappointments, and Resignations — S min.
23-072 — Consider the appointment of Robert Bittar to the Age Friendly Committee
While Carol was initially open to the idea, and believes in welcoming anyone who is interested in

volunteering, Dennis did note that Bob’s application was incomplete and not thorough, and Eric noted that Bob

Page 1 of 6 — unapproved




Readfield Select Board
Regular Meeting Minutes — Monday, January 24, 2023 — unapproved

has been arrested on three occasions now for harassment and breaking his restraining order against Eric, as well,

as Town Manager, Eric needs to be able to communicate openly and effectively with all boards and their

members at all times.

»

Kathryn motioned to not approve the appointment of Robert Bittar to the Age Friendly Committee,

Sean seconded, 4-0 vote in favor

Public Hearing — Open Space Planning — 30 min.

Conduct a Public Hearing on Open Space in Readfield — 30 min.

»

Eric Dyer - The Open Space Plan was last updated in 2006; there are now over 1000 acres of Open
Space in Readfield. There are many dedicated committees and boards invested in the Open Space
plan update. The community has had a growing interest in actively managing public Open Space
especially since the Covid Pandemic.

Ben Rodriguez, Readfield Sexton — Discussed the option of adding conservation burial grounds
similar to the Baldwin Hill Conservation Cemetery in Fayette, to remember those before us in town,
especially as some of our current cemeteries have less and less plots available over time.

Linnea Koons, Conservation Commission — Concerned about the scenic vistas as their management
is currently left up to land owners, and also discussed the importance of ecological diversity, most of
the Open Space we currently have is woodlands, and Linnea would like to see more grasslands and
mixed brush, either by acquiring more different types of properties or aitering what the town already
owns.

Hannah Flannery, Recreation Board -- Hannah would like to see some Open Space used for
developing more athletic fields for the kids in town to use.

Bob Harris, Historical Society — Bob will consider ways to keep History in Readfield alive through
Open Spaces.

Jerry Bley, Conservation Commission, but speaking as a resident - Discussed the importance of
inventorying the information (such as soils quality) at hand and review the previous Open Space
plan as well as took through the recommendations that have been made over the years to improve the
current Open Space Plan. What is and is not effective. Eric asked Jerry if he thinks there could be
value in professional counseling support for updating the plan. Jerry does believe it would be helpful
as the folks working on the Plan are volunteers and have limited time and resources, it is a

multifaceted effort. As well, Jerry mentioned that is is key to have some GIS support.

Page 2 of 6 — unapproved




Readfield Select Board
Regular Meeting Minutes — Monday, January 24, 2023 — unapproved

Y

Jackie Drouin, Trails Committee — The Trails Committee wants Open Space wherever they are
needed and wanted, but a lot of work does go into what we already have.

Elaine Katz, Age Friendly Committee — Appreciates the Age Friendly Committee being involved in
the process and just requests that accessibility is kept in mind for Open Space uses and recreation so
as to allow seniors and disabled residents easy access to enjoy Open Spaces.

Chip Stephens, Code Enforcement — discussed the importance of accessibility, there are different
parts/chapters in the Comp Plan that also may involve or consider Open Spaces and affect how the
town develops. He also mentioned there is a good amount of property available on Sturtevant Hill
and Carlton Pond which are both used for snowmobile trails, find a way to utilize those resources
could encourage a lot of traffic and lead them to where you want them to be. Identify the Open
Space, find access to it and find a way to get people there and that will help out a lot.

Kathryn, Select Board — Policy updates and reviews are the responsibility of the Select Board, it is
important to have updates on a schedule. Open Space is one of the older policies, the Fairgrounds
Plan is another that is part of this and was last updated in 1995. Jesse Lee Church has 4 acres of
Open Space that was not on the radar until a few years ago when the Kents Hill Methodist Church
brought it to the town’s attention. It is an old Muster Ground, not listed as a town property or owned
by the church, so there is legality to this property to change the status to conservation. Open Space
plan updating will not be completed until after the Comp Plan update in the spring. July will be time
to work on Open Space, but recommends getting it in the works ahead of time to give board,
commission, and committee members time to review the current plan and come up with ideas to
improve it.

Sean Keegan, Select Board — Mentioned how the pandemic affected the importance of outside
activity and recreation for residents, which really highlights the importance of the Open Space
Planning.

Carol Doorenbos, Select Board — Open Space history started with a grant from LL Bean, she looked
into how much acreage the Town has, there were about 23 recreational and open spaces in the town.
A lot of families have also donated their property to the town. After totaling the acreage through the
towns website, there were 2400 out of 19,800 acres protected (not including the eight Readfield
cemeteries). Carols concern is that tax payers dollars are going towards the properties, and feels that
we are already blessed to have what we have. She would like to be budget neutral and thinks the

increase from $20k a year to $50k a year for Open Spaces is too much. Carol also mentioned that the

Page 3 of 6 — unapproved




Readfield Select Board
Regular Meeting Minutes — Monday, January 24, 2023 — unapproved

Old Comp Plan had a portion of protection for the Jesse Lee Church, she thinks the parking there is
dangerous and could be improved. Carol asked that until the Comp Plan updating is complete that no

tax dollars be spent on Open Space until it can be brought to a vote.

0Old Business — 5 min.

23-062 — Consider a revised Community Action Grant Select Board Resolution ~ 5 min.

>
»

>

Kathryn motioned to approve, Sean seconded

Carol was concerned about a portion of the resolution, the fourth statement in the resolution
“WHEREAS, the Town of Readfield experiences intense windstorms and rainstorms, blizzards and
ice storms, periodic drought conditions, and other natural hazards and seeks to better prepare for
future conditions;...” and felt it was a broad statement and that it was possibly an unnecessary
inclusion to the resolution. Eric responded that he did pull out some of the more indirect pieces, but
what is here is in support of the project areas at the top of the list. As an example he mentioned the
damage caused by a rainstorm the day before Christmas that caused $38k in damage.

Kathryn mentioned a small grammatical error in the document that needed editing.

Steve responded to Carol about the weather related portion of the resolution that the things listed are
happening in other areas of the country and that these weather events especially cannot be planned,
and we should build in protections for the things we have,

Sean agreed with Steve and mentioned how winter rain does not go into our wells but rather into the
lakes.

Dennis mentioned that it is important that we are as prepared as possible, even if that particular
portion does not apply currently, it could down the road.

Kathryn added to the discussion that the resolution is written in a way that adds flexibility

Carol motioned to amend the resolution to remove the portion of the resolution “WHEREAS, the
Town of Readfield experiences intense windstorms and rainstorms, blizzards and ice storms,
periodic drought conditions, and other natural hazards and seeks to better prepare for future
conditions;...” there was no second to the motion.

The initial motion was then voted on, 4-1 vote in favor, with Carol opposed.

New Business — 55 min.

23-073 — Consider a Consent Agreement for Map 140, Lot 071 — 10 min.

»

Chip presented an ongoing issue with the Beliveau’s property they purchased and had been

excessively cleared of trees and other vegetation, resulting in violations of the Land Use Ordinance.

Page 4 of 6 — unapproved




Readfield Select Board
Regular Meeting Minutes — Monday, January 24, 2023 — unapproved

The consent agreement is an effort to bring the property back into compliance without the need for
prosecution.

» Chip thanked Elliot Thayer, Joe Stephenson and Michael Skolnick for their efforts in correcting this
issue.

» Kathryn motioned to approve the Consent Agreement, Carol seconded, vote 5-0 in favor. Chip will
leave a copy with Eric for Select Board members to sign, and return to Michael Skolnick.

23-074 — Consider a CMP Town Pole Permit — 5 min.

» Sean noted that the pole in question is in Mount Vernon; Eric said he will coordinate with Mount
Vernon. Kathryn motioned to approve, Sean seconded, 5-0 vote in favor.

23-075 — Consider a letter of support to investigate broadband internet with Fidium Fiber — 15 min.

» Simon Thorne of Consolidated Communications, INC. Fidium Fiber attended to present the
opportunity, This broadband internet with Fidium Fiber would be shared by neighboring towns;
Fidium Fiber would cover the cost to build the infrastructure required, no contract agreement and
would be a partnership through a grant. The suggested contribution to secure the grant is $21k-
$210k, not required and would only need to be paid if the town received the grant. The higher the
contribution, the greater leverage Readfield would have in getting the grant. If the grant is awarded
to Readfield, Fidium Fiber will be added to the ballot in June with an estimated build date sometime
in 2024,

» Kathryn motioned to approve the letter of intent, seconded by Sean, vote 5-0 in favor.

» Kathryn motioned to extend the meeting to 9pm, Sean seconded, vote 5-0 in favor

23-076 — Discuss Draft Select Board procedures — 10 min.

» Kathryn developed a Draft Select Board Procedures manual off of the town of Saco, similar to an
employee handbook. Any changes to the document that members would like alter can be requested
by Eric’s email for inclusion.

23-077 — Consider a First Draft budget (first set of departments) — 15 min,

» Increasing costs in a number of areas such as fuel, electricity, and materials due to inflation. The
RSU budget is projected to increase by 8-10%. There may be some money available in the capital
expenditures and possibly some in reserves to make up the difference from inflation. Dennis thanked
the Budget Committee for all they do in maintaining a healthy town budget. Projected wage
increases for stipend positions are 10%, while hourly full time employee rates are projected to

increase 8% and 5% increase for Town Manager and CEQ. Legal fees were decreased due to a

Page 5 of 6 — unapproved




Readfield Select Board
Regular Meeting Minutes — Monday, January 24, 2023 — unapproved

healthy reserve budget. Tech has increased due to TRIO licensing and software, Tech Support, some
lines have been consolidated as well so there are some changes due to that restructure. Budget
Committee Meetings are available to attend or listen to live while they are happening, meetings are
not recorded.

Other Business, Upcoming Meetings, and Future Agenda Items - 5 min.

Motion to adjourn made by Sean at 9:00 PM seconded by Kathryn, vote 5-0 in favor

Adjournment

Minutes submitted by Anjelica Pittman, Board Secretary

Page 6 of 6 — unapproved




Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023

Item # 23-079
Jan. 30, 2023 Warrant Summary
Signature
s
Warrant |Journal Warrant Required |Approval
#: #: Amount Type: SB Reviewer: |: Date:
31 308 S 403,669.51 |Warrant Three
A 308 S 1,471.00 |State Fees |K. Woodsum |One 1/19/2023
B 308 $ 1,361.75 |State Fees |D. Price One 1/27/2023
32 322 S 22,577.55 |Payroll One

SUM S 426,247.06

Indicates public review is required following prior approval

indicates public review and approval are both required




Teasuves's Wamaot

Warrant #31 & 32 $426,247.06 Dates: 2/2/2023

To the Treasurer of Readfield:

This is to certify that there Is due and chargeable to the accounts listed below the sums
indicated, and you are directed to pay the amounts listed to the payees named herein.

Payee Account Amount Check #'s
EMPLOYEES Payroll $22,577.55 72177-72188
172177-172191
VARIOUS VENDORS Accounts
Payable $403,669.51 72152-72176
Total $426,247.06
Date Signed:

Dennis Price

Steven DeAngelis

Carol Doorenbos

Sean Keegan

Kathryn Woodsum




Readfield A / P Check Register 01/30/2023
12:10 PM Bank: Androscoggin Bank Page 1
Type Check Amount Date Wt Payee
P 295 184.91 02/02/23 31 0295 US CELLULAR
P 999 20.00 02/02/23 31 06031 Central Maine Power Co
P 999 59.55 02/02/23 31 0031 Central Maine Power Co
P 72152 1,471.00  01/19/23 31 0086 SECRETARY OF STATE (MOTOR VEH)
P 72153 1,361.75 01/26/23 31 0086 SECRETARY OF STATE (MOTOR VEH)
R 72154 1,291.65 02/02/23 31 0391 Atlantic Recydling Equipment, LLC
R 72155 3.59 02/02/23 31 0022 Audette's Hardware
R 72156 3,248.70 02/02/23 31 0043 Fire Tech and Safety
R 72157 3,889.06 02/02/23 kil 0797 Gorrill Palmer Consulting Engineers Inc
R 72158 111,70 02/02/23 31 0629 Irving Oil Marketing, Inc
R 72159 38.00 02/02/23 31 0083 Kennebec Cnty Registry Of Deeds
R 72160 2,041.64 02/02/23 31 0760 KVCOG
R 72161 255.65 02/02/23 31 0152 Lowe's
R 72162 8,699.60  02/02/23 31 0066 Maine Municipal Association
R 72163 8,581.44 02/02/23 31 0065 MAINE MUNICIPAL EMP. HEALTH
R 72164 7,224.39 02/02/23 31 (428 Morton Salt
R 72165 20.99 02/02/23 31 0858 PETTY CASH
R 72166 1,053.75 02/02/23 31 0841 PretiFlaherty
R 72167 23.54  02/02/23 31 0261 Quirk Auto Group
R 72168 309,458.75  02/02/23 31 0069 Regicnal School Unit#38
R 72169 1,859.50 02/02/23 31 0053 RS Leonard Landscape Architectu
R 72170 44,858.33 02/02/23 31 0008 Scott Horne Construction
R 72171 23.00  02/02/23 31 0561 Shredding on Site
R 72172 6247  02/02/23 31 0462 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN
R 72173 1,700.00 02/02/23 31 0689 Stevenson Solutions, LLC
R 72174 449,87 02/02/23 3 0313 Toshiba Financial Services
R 72175 5,657.99 02/02/23 31 068l Treas,State Maine (Pub Safety)
R 72176 18.69 02/02/23 31 0273 WINTHROP AUTO SUPPLY
Total 403,669.51
Count
Checks 28
Voids 0




Readfield
12:12 PM

Vendor-------

Warrant Recap 01/30/2023
Page t
Warrant 31

Amount Account----------

00391 Atlantic Recycling Equipment, LLC
00022 Audette's Hardware

00031 Central Maine Power Co

00031 Central Maine Power Co

00043 Fire Tech and Safety

00043 Fire Tech and Safety

00797 Goarrill Palmer Consulting Engineers Inc
00629 Irving Oil Marketing, Inc

00629 Irving Gil Marketing, Inc

00083 Kennebec Cnity Registry Of Deeds
00760 KVCOG

00152 Lowe's

00152 Lowe's

00152 Lowe's

00152 Lowe's

00152 Lowe's

00066 Maine Municipal Association
00065 MAINE MUNICIPAL EMP. HEALTH
00065 MAINE MUNICIPAL EMP, HEALTH
00065 MAINE MUNICIPAL EMP, HEALTH
00065 MAINE MUNICIPAL EMP, HEALTH
00065 MAINE MUNICIPAL EMP. HEALTH
00428 Morton Salt

00428 Morton Salt

00428 Morton Salt

00858 PETTY CASH

00841 PretiFlaherty

00261 Quirk Auto Group

00069 Regional Schoa! Unit#38

00053 RS Leonard Landscape Architectu
00008 Scott Horne Construction

00086 SECRETARY OF STATE (MOTOR VEH)
00086 SECRETARY OF STATE (MOTOR VEH)
00561 Shredding on Site

00462 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN

00689 Stevenson Solutions, LLC

00313 Toshiba Financial Services

00681 Treas,State Maine (Pub Safety)
00295 US CELLULAR

00295 US CELLULAR

00295 US CELLULAR

00295 US CELLULAR

00273 WINTHROP AUTO SUPPLY

1,291.65 SOLID WASTE / TRANSFER STA - EQUIP O,R &M / EQUIP MAINT
3.59 SOLID WASTE / TRANSFER STA - BUILDING O8M / MAINTENANCE
20.00 SOLID WASTE / TRANSFER STA - UTILITIFS / ELECTRIC
59.55 PROTECTION / Tower Sites - UTILITIES / ELECTRIC
1,623.70 CAPITAL IMPR / Fire Dept - EQUIP REPLAC / CAPITAL EQP
1,625.00 CAPITAL IMPR / Fire Dept - EQUIP REPLAC / CAPITAL EQP
3,889.06 CAPITAL IMPR / Sidewalks - PUBLIC WAYS f CONTRACT SVC
89.98 Maintenance / Veh/Eq Maint - EQUIP O,R &M / FUEL/OIL
21.72 Maintenance / Veh/Eq Maint - EQUIP O,R &M / FUEL/QIL
38.00 GENERAL GOVT / Admin - ADMIN / RECORDING
2,041.64 GENERAL GOVT / Grant/Plan - ADMIN / MISC.
129.95 Maintenance / Bldg Maint - BUILDING O&M / SUPPLIES
4.75 Maintenance / Bldg Maint - BUILDING Q&M f MAINTENANCE
25.57 Maintenance / Veh/Eq Maint -~ EQUIP O,R &M / EQUIP MAINT
86.85 Rds & Drain / Road Maint - PUBLIC WAYS / PATCHING
8.53 Maintenance / Gen Maint - EQUIP REPLAC / TOOLS
8,699.60 GENERA|. GOVT [ Insurance - INSURANCE / WORKERS COMP
2,487.37 SOLID WASTE / TRANSFER STA - INSURANCE / HEALTH INS
5,847.64 GENERAL GOVT / Insurance - INSURANCE / HEALTH INS
100.50 GENERAL FUND / HEALTH INSUR
13242 GENERAL FUND / IPP
13,51 GENERAL FUND / VSP Vision
2,386.69 Rds & Drain / Winter Maint - PUBLIC WAYS / Erosion/Salt
2,403.31 Rds & Drain / Winter Maint - PUBLIC WAYS / Erosion/Salt
2,434.39 Rds & Drain / Winter Maint - PUBLIC WAYS / Erosion/Salt
20,99 Maintenance / Veh/Eq Maint - EQUIP O,R &M / EQUIP MAINT
1,053.75 GENERAL GOVT / Attorney Fee - ADMIN / ATTORNEY FEE
23.54 Maintenance / Veh/Eq Maint - EQUIP O,R &M / Dump Truck
309,458.75 EDUCATION / RSU#38 - ASSESSMENTS / RSU#38 PYMT
1,859.50 CAPITAL IMPR / Parks/Rec - CONTRACT SVC / ENGINEERING
44,858.33 Rds & Drain / Winter Maint - PUBLIC WAYS / CONTRACT SVC
1,471.00 GENERAL FUND / Motor Veh Fe
1,361.75 GENERAL FUND / Motor Veh Fe
23.00 GENERAL GOVT / Admin - ADMIN / OFFICE SUP
62.47 GENERAL GOVT / Admin - ADMIN / OFFICE SUP
1,700,00 CEMETERIES f CEMETERIES - PUBLIC WAYS / CONTRACT SVC
449.87 GENERAL GOVT / Comptr/Equip - EQUIP O,R &M / OFFICE LEASE
5,657.99 PROTECTION / Dispatching - CONTRACT SVC / DISPATCH
36.98 GENERAL GOVT / Admin - PERSONNEL / TM Mile/Phon
36.98 GENERAL GOVT / Code Enforce - UTILITIES / CELL PHOMNE
73.97 Maintenance / Gen Maint - UTILITIES / CELL PHONE
36.98 COMM SERVICE / Animal Cntrl - UTILITIES / CELL PHONE
18.69 Maintenance / Veh/Eq Maint - EQUIP O,R &M / Dump Truck




01/30/2023

Readfield Warrant Recap
12:12 PM Page 2
Warrant 31
Vendor--~---- Amount Account----------
Prepaid Total-- 3,097.21
Current Total-- 400,572.30
Warrant Total-- 403,669.51




COMMUNICATIONS

e SELECT BOARD
e STAFF REPORTS
¢BOARDS & COMMITTEES
e PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS




THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY

LEFT BLANK




OLD BUSINESS




Town of Readfield
Rules and Order of Business

[Procedures Manual for Board Members]

Table of Contents

L
1L
11
V.
V.
VL
VIL

VIII.

IX
X
XL
XII.

XL

Purpose of Readfield’s Procedures Manual .............cccovevinieneneerieinie e 2
Overview of Basic TOWI DOCUMENES .......ccoeiiiiiiiiiiiieiseeeee e esee s, 3
Readfield Select Board: General Powers and Responsibilities ..........coocoveveeevivivininnee.. 4
Support Provided to:Select Board ... o st i s sonssin it 7
Rinanelal VIatters Ui e R S i lIE LI L e e ol oS e Ny Bt v e s 9
CommINICafOnS el e L s i e T o e e 10
Interaction with Town Staff/Officials .........c.ocoereeviiiirreci e 12
Select Board Meetings & WOrkSHOp ........ocovoieieiiiiiiiciiiit e 16
Procediie Adinistrati O o i s i s s i vasa s asn s s adesmsnt 28
Additional Training & Resource Materials ...........ccooviveeicieeienicceeeieceeeeeee s 29
LeavIng OILICE s oinisrssssmmgumimoesssssmoss oo sas v s e BT 30
DIE T IEOINS v oo st sussms o s i s bV R S ST S22 31
A PPENICE S s e e e e I oot 32

A. Resolution Adopting Select Board Rules of Conduct and Voting Procedures

Chart

B. Boardsand Commissions

C. Town Manager's Ad Hoc Committees

D. Code of Ethics: ICMA and State

E. Public Records and Proceedings — Freedom of Access Law—2011

I. Legislative History of this document

G. Ordinances, Policies, Permit Applications and the State Fireworks Law
H. Bylaws of the Select Board of Readfield, Maine

1. Select Board Orientation List

3. Town Manager Roles and Responsibilities

Approved: Month Day, 2023

Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023
Item # 23-076



“As aSelect Board member, you not only establish important and often critical governance policies for the community, but you are also a
board member, andresponsiblefor the fiscal health, of apublic corporation having an annual budget of over $6 million. The scope of services
and issues addressed by the Town organization go well beyond those frequently reported in the newspaper or discussed at Select Boardmeetings.”

I. Purpose of Readfield’s Procedures Manual

The Select Board of Readfield, Maine has prepared and adopted its own procedures manual to assist the Select Board
by documenting accepted practices and clarifying expectations, all based on the Bylaws of the Select Board of
Readfield, Maine. (See Appendix G.) Through agreement of the Select Board and staff to be bound by these practices,
administration of Select Board affairs is greatly enhanced. While attempting not to be overly restrictive, procedures are
established so that expectations and practices can be clearly articulated to guide Board members in their actions
governing the Town of Readfield. This procedures manual will aid the Select Board in taking bold/responsible action,
when necessary, to keep Readtield on the growing edge of well run, well managed, innovative towns.

Board Vision: Our vision is a high quality of life for Readfield citizens. Central to this vision is a sustainable economy
that offers an opportunity for everyone to have rewarding employment and for business to prosper, now and in the
Jfuture. The people of Readfield bring this vision into reality by working together and building on our tradition of
hard work, dedication, and ingenuity. What is our vision statement?

The following values should be maintained by the Board:
e High energy, open minded, achievement oriented,

e Have respect and care for each other,

¢ Be straightforward, no hidden agendas,

® Maintain humor,

¢ Traditions are respected, but not binding,

e Deliberate in many voices, but govern in one, and

e Collective rather than individual decisions.

Orientation of New Members: Itis important that members of the Board gain an understanding of the full range of services and
programs provided by the organization. As new members join the Select Board, department heads and committee chairs are
instructed to provide invitations for members to tour facilities and meet with key staff. Atany time, if there are facilities or programs
about which you would like more information, arrangements will be made to increase your awareness of these operations. An
orientation list is provided in the Appendix H and will be reviewed at the Select Board Orientation meeting held in June.



IL

Overview of Basic Town Documents

This procedures manual provides a summary of important aspects of Select Board activities. However, it cannot incorporate
all material and information necessary for undertaking the business of a Select Board. Many other laws, plans, and
documents exist which bind the Select Board to certain courses of action and practices. A summary of some of the most
notable documents that establish Select Board direction is provided below.

Readfield Ordinances: The Town ‘s ordinances contain local laws and regulations approved by voters. They cover a
variety of laws including, but not limited to, licensing, planning and land use, Floodplain Management, and Vehicles
and Traffic. Town Ordinances are available at the Town Office and on the Town Website.

Readfield Policies: There are an array of policies that the Select Board has reviewed and approved over the year, including
an Employee Handbook which was intended to address the overall expectations of all Readfield employees and Readfield as
the Employer. Town Policies are available at the Town Office and on the Town Website.

Maine Statutes: State Law contains many requirements for the operation of Town government and administration of
meetings of Select Boards throughout the state. Readfield is organized in accordance with provisions of the statutes.
Readfield has the Select Board-Town Manager form of government. This form of government prescribes that a Select
Board’srole is to establish polices and priorities, while the role of the Town Manager is the chief executive officer.

Annual Budget: The fiscal year of the Town shall begin on the first day of July and end on the last day of June of the ensuing
year. The Town’s annual budget provides a description of Town services and the resources used to provide services. The
document contains a broad overview of the budget as well as descriptions of programs offered within each division of the
organization. The Maranacook school budget is developed solely by the School Board and is voted on by the public
through secret ballot,

Comprehensive Plan: A state-mandated comprehensive plan adopted by the Board addresses future land development plans
and policies. This is required to be reviewed and re-written every ten years.

Capital Plan: The Town has developed an extensive capital plan for projects. The plan includes development fees, taxes, and
other revenues dedicated to capital expenditures.

Annual Report: This document is a requirement by State law. It provides an overview of Town departments, divisions,
and programs as well as some performance metrics and is published in May.

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR): This set of U.S. government financial statements comprises the
financial report of the Town of Readfield. It complies with the accounting requirements established by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). GASB provides standards for the content of a CAFR in its annually updated
publication Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards.



I11.

A CAFRis audited by an external firm hired by Select Board. The document is composed of three sections: Introductory,
Financial and Statistical. It combines the financial information of fund accounting and Enterprise Authorities accounting.
Our accounting firm audits this document for Board acceptance each year.

Readfield Select Board: General Powers and Responsibilities

A. Select Board Generally: The powers ofa Select Board in Maine to establish policy are quite broad. Essentially, Boards
may undertake any action related to Town affairs other than those forbidden or pre-empted by State or Federal law.
Specifically, the Board shall have the power, in the name of the Town, to do and perform all acts and things appropriate
to a municipal corporation and the general welfare of its inhabitants and which the Constitution and laws of the State of
Maine do not specifically forbid.

It is important to note that the Board acts as a body. No member has any extraordinary powers beyond those of other
members. While the Town Manager has some additional ceremonial and administrative responsibilities as described
below, inthe establishment of policies, voting, and in other significant areas, all Board members are equal.

It is also important to note that policy is established by at least a majority vote of the Board. While individual members
may disagree with decisions of the majority, a decision of the majority does bind the Town to a course of action. In turn,
it is staff’s responsibility to ensure the policy of the Board is upheld. Actions of staff to pursue the policy direction
established by a majority of Board do not reflect any bias against Board members who held a minority opinion on an

issue.

Limitations are imposed on a Board member’s ability to serve on advisory boards of the Town. No member of the
Board shall be appointed to or serve as a voting member of any Select Board, committee, or commission, whether
composed of citizen volunteers, Town employees, or a combination of both, except where the committee specifically
requires a Select Board representative, such as the multitown Solid Waste and Recycling Committee. This is not

construed as prohibiting members of the Board from serving on committees or subcommittees of the Board itself, or of

agencies representing other levels of government.

In fact, Board members are encouraged to participate and provide leadership in regional, state, and national programs
and meetings. Board members are strongly encouraged to report to the Board on matters discussed at subcommittees
and other regional, state, and national board/agency/group activities in which they have been involved.

Board members may choose to participate in community activities, committees, events, and task forces. When a Board
member participates in these types of activities, the Board member is acting as an interested party rather than acting on
behalf of the Select Board.

Select Board members should familiarize themselves with all Ordinances, Policies, Permit Applications and the State
Fireworks Law, all of which are listed in Appendix F and can be located and read on the Town website
readfieldmaine.org

B. Hiring of a Town Manager: The Select Board hires one position within the Town organization: the Town Manager
who serves at the will of the Select Board.

1. The Town Manager is an employee of the Town and shall have an employment agreement that specifies the terms of
employment including an annual evaluation by the Select Board.



2. The Town Manager shallreceive anegotiated contractual salary.

3. The appointment shall be for a term of up to three (3) years.

4. The Town Manager is responsible for all other personnel appointments within the Town.

C Roleofthe Town Manager: The Town Manager is the functional head of the Town. The specific duties of the
‘Town Manager are laid out in the Town Manager Roles and Responsibilities document which is included here in
Appendix L.

The Town Manager is assigned by the Select Board to consult and coordinate with the Select Board Chair and Vice-
Chair in the development of agendas for meetings of the Select Board. The scope of such review focuses on the
timing of business items and the volume of business that can be considered at any one meeting. Such review does not
allow for a unilateral unlimited delay ofitems to be considered by the Board. Should any significant disagreement arise
regarding the scheduling of items, these matters are to be resolved by the full Select Board.

The Town Manager may call attention to any point the Town Manager may believe is a critical factor relating to an
item before the Select Board during their meeting.




D. Deputy Town Manager: Appointed by the Town Manager. The Deputy Town Manager shall perform the duties of the
Town Manager during the Town Manager's absence or disability. The Deputy Town Manager shall serve in this
capacity at the pleasure of the Select Board. In the event of a vacancy in the office of Town Manager, the Deputy Town
Manager shall assume the office of Town Manager with all the duties and obligations of that office until a new Town
Manager is hired by the Select Board.

E. Appointment of Advisory Bodies: The Town has several standing boards/committees/commissions. In addition,
special-purpose citizen committees are encouraged and are often appointed by the Select Board to address issues of
interest. Some boards/committees/commissions will consist ofa Select Board member who in some cases have voting
privileges. The members who are residents of Readfield are nominated by the Town Manager and confirmed by the
full Board. The following procedures reflect the policy of the Select Board regarding the appointntent of volunteer
citizens to the various advisory bodies of the Town.

1. Theestablishment of these procedures ensures that well-qualified, responsible and willing citizens are given the
opportunity to serve the Town and participate in the governing of their community. These procedures apply to
all appointments and reappointments to standing advisory bodies.

2. Qualifications: A member must be knowledgeable in the areas of interest of the board/commission on which they
wish to serve. All members must be residents of the Town of Readfield during the term of appeintment. Non-
residents may participate in committee activities but cannot hold an official appointment.

3. Names to be considered for appointment will be submitted to the Town Manager. The applicant must be at least 18
years of age at the time of appointment unless it is specified that a youth member is desired. While seated
commission members may request that the Town Manager seek certain qualifications from new appointees, only
the Select Board appoints.




4. Terms: Unless otherwise stated by the Code, the term of office on most boards/committees/commissions is three
(3)or five (5) years for regular members. The term of office for alternate members varies.

5. No person should serve on more than one board/committee/commission at a time. However, individuals with
special qualifications may be asked to serve on an additional board/committee/commission, and some
boards/committees/commissions may require representation from other bodies.

F. Board Role in Disaster (Emergency Management): It is the intent and purpose of this article to establish an office
that will ensure the complete and efficient utilization of all Readfield facilities to prepare for and respond to disasters;
natural, fabricated enemy attack, or others. The Office of Emergency Management will be the coordinating agency for
allactivity in connection with emergency planning. This article will notadversely affect the work of any volunteer
agency organized for relief in disaster emergencies. It will be the instrument through which the community officials
may exercise the authority and discharge the responsibilities vested in them in Title 37-B, M.R.S.A. §781-834. The
Board’s role is described in the Emergency Management Regulations.




Iv.

A,

B.

Support Provided to Select Board

Staff/Clerical Support: General staff and administrative support to members of the Select Board is provided through
the Town Manager’s Office. Support services including scheduling of appointments, receipt of telephone messages,
assistance with the Internet and town assigned email, and other reasonable items as needed.

Interference with Administration: Except for the purposes of inquiries, the Select Board, or any of its members,
shall deal with Town employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the Town Manager solely
through the Town Manager. The Select Board, or any of its members, shall not give orders to any such employees either
publicly or privately. Sensitivity to the workload of support staff members in the Town Manager’s Office is appreciated.
Please note that the individual may have other work assigned with high priority. Should requested tasks require
significant time commitments, prior consultation with the Town Manager is requested.

. E-mail & Computer Access: Each Board member is provided with a Town of Readfield email account for

corresponding to constituents, other members of Board, and other Town related contacts. Please use the Town’s e-
mail system for the conduct of official business, and not for personal or politicalreasons.

1. All email correspondence, both in and out of Town issued email accounts are public records under the “Right to
Know Law?”. This means that they open for public viewing in the event of any legal discovery including inquires
under the Maine Freedom of Access Act (FOAA). Emails are retained via backup procedures for these purposes,
this includes emails deleted from your mailbox.

2. Access to email is currently provided to Board in two forms through a local Microsoft Exchange server with web
backup. Microsoft Outlook offers both app-based and browser-based options for use by Town employees and !
elected officials. Microsoft Outlook is operating system agnostic and can be used on any computer.

3. Computer access for Select Board members is provided through Surface tablets assigned to each Board member,
which will be outlined later in the document.

4. Distribution of email accounts and email access is given after the Board is inaugurated.

5. The appropriation of email accounts are as follows:
e Town Manager and all Board Members are given a Town email address;
¢ In June following an election, the Select Board receive (@Readfieldmaine.org addresses;

¢ A packet containing information on how to access the email system and a detailed instructional packet
is provided after inauguration.

¢ Automatic message forwarding is prohibited.

¢ The Communications Department will provide a signature template.

6. Individual Email Accounts:

¢ Town Manager manager@Readfieldmaine.org
e Select Board Chair dprice@Readfieldmaine.org

o Select Board Vice-Chair kwoodsum@Readfieldmaine.org

e Select Board Member sdeangelis@Readfieldmaine.org

e Select Board Member cdoorenbos@Readfieldmaine.org

¢ Select Board Member skeegan(@Readfieldmaine.org

7. It is important to note that emails between Select Board members can only include the sender and one other
Select Board member in order to not constitute a meeting which must be in public.



Brief overview of accessing the secure email system.
* Navigate one’s favorite web browser to_
https:/mail.readfieldmaine.org

e Members will be able to log in using their assigned username and password.

¢ Once inside the program — email, calendar, and contactswill be accessible

D. Meeting Rooms: A conference room is available on the first floor of Town Hall for shared use by staff and members
of the Select Board. Toreserve this room, please contactthe front desk clerk inthe Town office (207) 685- 4939.

E. Mail, Deliveries: Members of the Select Board do receive mail and other materials from the public, private interests, and
staff at Town Hall. A mailbox is maintained in the Town Managers Office at Town Hall. Meeting agendas and
packets are sent electronically on Friday afternoons prior to a scheduled Board meeting.

F. Tablets: The Town of Readfield will make available to Select Board members a Windows Surface device during their
term in office. After their term, the Surface device becomes the sole property of the Town. The Town will purchase and
install all software required to use the Surface device for Town business. The Town Manager and IT support will only
provide Surface device support as it relates to Town needs and applications while the Select Board member is in office.



Financial Matters

. Select Board Compensation: The Town Warrant provides compensation to members of the Select Board. The

Sclect Board members shallreceive anannualstipend, payable quarterly in an amount established through the budget
process. A seated Select Board may not increase its own salary. The Board may, by warrant article, change the annual
salary of the Select Board Members, but no such salary shall become effective until approved by the voters of
Readfield in the next regularly scheduled municipal election, either primary or general.

Expenditure Allowance: The annual Town budget includes an expenditure allowance for expenses necessary for
members to undertake official Town business. Eligible expenses include membership in professional associations,
attendance at conferences or educational seminars, and the purchase of publications and annual subseriptions, In
addition, mileage reimbursemnent is made for Town business.

{tisvery important tonote that any expense must be relatedto Town affairs. Public property andfunds may not be used for any private or
personal purpose. Courts have ruled that this prohibition includes personal political purposes.

. Town budgetary practices and accounting controls apply to expenditures within the Select Board budget: Board

members expenditures will be handled by the Town Manager and shall remain within the annual allocation. When
exceptional circumstances require that additional amounts be allocated, the request must be made to the Town Manager,
and Select Board action may be necessary. Reimbursement requests should be made through the Town Manager’s
Office immediately following an expense, with receipts. Expenditure records are public information.

10




VI.

Communications

. Overview: Perhaps the most fundamental role of the Board as a group is communication — communication

with the public to assess community opinions and needs as well as communication with staff to provide policy

direction and to gain anunderstanding of the implications of various policy alternatives. Because the Select

Board performs as a body (that is, acting based on the will of the majority as opposed to individuals), it is

important that general guidelines be understood when speaking for the Board. Equally important, when

members ate expressing personal views and not those of the Board, the public should be soadvised.

. Correspondence from Board Members: Members of the Select Board could be called upon to write letters to

citizens, businesses, or other public agencies. Typically, the Town Manager will be charged with transmitting the

Town’s official position on policy matters to outside agencies on behalf of the Select Board. Individual

members of Board could be asked to prepare letters for constituents in response to inquiries or to provide

requested information.

1.

On occasion, members may wish to transmit correspondence on an issue upon which the Board has yet to
take a position or about an issue for which the Board has no position. In these circumstances, members
should clearly indicate within letters that they are not speaking for the Select Board as a whole, but for
themselves as one member of Board.

After the Select Board has taken a position on an issue, official correspondence should reflect this position. In
addition, Town letterhead and staft support cannot be utilized for personal or political purposes.

Board members could be asked to prepare letters of recommendation for students and others seeking
appointment. It is appropriate for individual Board members to utilize Town letterhead and their Board titles
for such letters. No review by the full Board is required.

Speaking for “the Town” - Similar to written correspondence, when members are requested to speak to
groups or are asked the Board’s position on an issue, the response should reflect the position of the Board as
a whole. Of course, a member may clarify their vote on a matter by stating, “While I voted against X. the
Select Board voted in support of it.” When representing the Town at meetings or other venues, it is
important that those in attendance gain an understanding of the Select Board’s position as well as that of
the individual member.

a. Official Select Board Positions: The primary use of Town letterhead is to communicate official Board
positions on matters of public concemn. It is the role of the Town Manager to communicate these
positions. No other Board member shall communicate official Select Board positions utilizing Town
letterhead orthe Town logo or any approximation of either in their correspondence.

b. Individual Board members Concerning Town Matters: Individual Board members may not use
Town Letterhead or the Town Logo in correspondence on matters concerning official Town
business including a Board member’s independent opinion on any official matter, All materials must
adhere to local, state, and federal retention requirements.

11




C.

D.

F.

Social Media

1. Select Board Members, Committee, Commission and/or Board Members may choose to post and/or
comment on various social media sites using their personal accounts. In these instances, it is recommended
that the content and tenor of online comments and information posts should model the same decorum
displayed during Select Board, Committee, Commission, Board and community meetings, Please use good
judgement when posting to social media.

2, Public Records and Retention: All information posted, and other activity conducted on social media sites is
subject to the Public Records Act and record retention guidelines.

3. Allinformation and content on a Town social media site that is required to be retained under state and local
retention policies and guidelines shall be maintained for the required retention period in a format that
preserves the metadata of the original record. Prior approval of the retention format and procedures for each
Town social media toel being used shall be received form the Town Manager,

4. Alllaws governing copyright and fair use or fair dealing of copyrighted material owned by others, including
Town of Readfield’s own copyrights and brands shall be followed on social media sites.

Press Conference: Prior to holding a press conference, the Town Manager should, as a courtesy, inform
members of the Select Board. Statements representing community positions on any issue requires a prior
affirmative Board vote endorsing the stated position.

Role of Commission Liaison: Members of the Select Board may be assigned to serve in a liaison capacity with
one of more Boards, Committees or Commissions. The purpose of the liaison assignment is to facilitate
communication between the Select Board and the advisory body. The liaison also helps to increase the Select
Board's familiarity with the membership, programs, and issues of the advisory body. In fulfilling their liaison
assignment, members may elect to attend Board/Committee/Commission meetings periodically to observe the
activities of the advisory body or simply maintain communication with the commission chair on a regular
basis.

In interacting with commissions, Board members are toreflect the views of the Board as abody. Typically,
assignments to commission liaison positions are made at the beginning of a Board term. The Town Manager
will request liaison assignments which are desired by each member and will submit recommendations to the full
Board of the various committees, boards, and commissions which Select Board members will representasa
liaison. A vote of the Select Board will be taken to confirm all appointments,

Boards, Committees and Commissions: See Appendix F — Boards, Committees and Commissions




VIL

Interaction with Town Staff/Officials

Overview: Select Board policy is implemented through professional staff. Therefore, it is critical that the
relationship between the Select Board and staff be well understood by all parties so policies and programs
may be implemented successtully. The Town of Readfield has a long tradition of positive relationships between
members of the Select Board and staff. To maintain these effective relationships, it is important that roles be
clearly recognized.

Town Manager-Select Board Form of Government: Readfield hasadopted a Town Manager - Select Board
form of government. This structure reflects that it is the Select Board’s role to establish Town policy and
priorities. The Select Board hires a Town Manager to implement this policy and undertake the administration
of the organization. The Select Board shall work through the Town Manager in dealing with Town staff.

The Town Manager is hired by the Select Board to enforce its laws, to direct the daily operations of Town government,
to prepare and monitor the budget, and to implement the policies and programs initiated by the Select Board. The Town
Manager is responsible to the Select Board rather than to individual Board members, and directs and coordinates the
various departments.

Board/Administrator Relationship: The employment relationship between the Select Board and Town
Manager honors the fact that the Town Manager is the chief administrative officer of the Town. The Select Board
and the Town Manager are a participatory team and the Select Board should avoid situations that can result in
Town staft being directed, intentionally or unintentionally, by one or more members of the Select Board.
Regular communication between the Select Board and Town Manager is important in maintaining open
communications. All dealings with the Town Manager, whether in public or private, should respect the
responsibilities of the Town Manager in administrative matters, Disagreements should be expressed in policy
terms, rather than in terms that question satisfaction with or support of the Town Manager.

Evaluation: The Select Board is to evaluate the Town Manager on a regular basis to ensure that both the Select
Board and Town Manager are in agreement about performance and goals based on mutual trust and commeon
objectives. Readfield Select Boardshave utilized several areas of performance when evaluating the Town
Manager: leadership, judgment and problem solving, communications, interpersonal/ community relations, and
ability to accomplish goals and objectives are a few examples.

. Communication: As in any professional relationship, it is important that the Town Manager keep the Select

Board informed. The Town Manager respects and is sensitive to the political responsibility of the Select
Board and acknowledges that the final responsibility for establishing the policy direction of the Townisheld by
the Select Board. The Town Manager communicates with the Select Board in various ways. In addition to the
formal Board meetings, the Town Manager sends email communication to the Board to keep them informed
on topics. Communication must be undertaken in such a way that all Board members are treated similarly and
kept equally informed. It is equally important that the Board provide ongoing feedback, information, and
petceptions to the Town Manager including some response to written communication requesting feedback. It
is important to note that emails between Select Board members can only include the sender and one other
Select Board member in order to not constitute a meeting which must be in public.

Town Manager’s Code of Ethics: The Town Manager is subject to a professional code of ethics from the
professional association (ICMA). These standards appear in the appendix of this manual. It should be noted

13




that this code binds the Town Manager to certain practices that are designed to ensure actions are in support of
the Town’s best interests. Violations of such standards can result in censure by the professional association.

G. Select Beard/Town Attorney Relationship: The Town Attorney is the chief legal advisor for the Select Board,
Town Manager, and all Town departments, boards, agencies, committees, and commissions. The Town Attorney
shall serve at the will of both the Town Manager and the Select Board. The Select Board shall have the right to
employ or retain special attorneys, and appoint council to advise any Board, Committee or Commission, if it
deems it to be in the best interests of the Town. Individual Select Board Members are prohibited from
contacting the Town Attorney without prior approval by the Board as a whole. The general legal
responsibilities of the Town Attorney are to:

1. Provide legal assistance necessary for formulation and implementation of legislative policies and projects;

2. Representthe Town’sinterest, as determined by the Town Manager, inlitigation, administrative hearings,
negotiations, and similar proceedings;

3. Assist preparation of ordinances, resolutions, contracts, and other legal documents to best reflect and
implement the purposes for which they are prepared; and

4. Keep theSelect Board and staff apprised of court rulings and legislation affecting the legal interest of the Town. It
is important to note that the Town Solicitor does not represent individual members of Board, but the Select Board
as a whole.

H. Roles and Information Flow

1. Objectives: It is the intent of staff to ensure Select Board member’s free access to information from the Town
and to‘ensure that such information is communicated completely and with candor to those making the request. To
carry outthis responsibility, however, Select Board members must avoid intrusion into those areas that are the
responsibility of staff. Individual Select Board members may not intervene in staff decision- making, the
development of staff recommendations, scheduling of work, and executing department priorities without the
prior knowledge and approval of the Select Board as a whole. This is necessary to protect staff from undue
influence and pressure from individual Select Board members, and to allow staff to execute priorities given by
management and the Select Board as a whole without fear of reprisal.

2. Select Board roles: The Select Board by ordinance, may create, change, and abolish ofﬁcels, departments, and
agencies. The Select Board, by ordinance, may assign additional functions or duties to offices, departments, or
agencies.

+ Individual members of the Select Board should not attempt to pressure or influence staff decisions,
recommendations, workloads, schedules, and department priorities without the prior knowledge and approval
ofthe Board as a whole. Ifa Select Board member wishes to influence the actions, decisions,
recommendations, workloads, work schedule, and priorities of staff, that member must prevail upon the
Select Board to do so as a matter of Select Board policy.

+» Should a Select Board member become dissatisfied about a department, they should always talk it over with the
Town Manager, not the department head. Concerns about the department head must be taken to the Town
Manager only. Individuals are responsible to initiate resolution of problems as soon as possible and not let
them fester,

3. Access to Information: Individual Select Board members as well as the Select Board as a whole are permitted
complete freedom of access to any information requested of staff and shall receive the full cooperation and

14




candor of staff in being provided with any requested information. Appropriate personnel will pass critical
information to all Select Board members. The Town Manager or appropriate staff will always inform the Select
Board when a critical or unusual event occurs about which the public would be concerned.

4. Public Records: The law’s definition of “public records,” while broad, excludes records designated
confidential by other laws (see I M.R.S.A. § 402(3)). Because such designations are widely scattered
throughoutboth State and federal statutes, some commonly encountered exclusions are listed alphabetically
below.

a. Ambulance and rescue records, including medical records, 1 M.R.S.A. § 402(3)(H).
b. Concealed weapons applications, 25 M.R.S. A, § 2006.

¢. Criminal history and records information, 16 M.R.S.A. § 611 et seq. This law covers only certain records
held by municipal police departments; you must read the definition section carefully to identify what is and
is not confidential.

d. General assistance, 22 M.R.S.A. § 4306.

e. Identities of minors participating in municipal recreation programs, 1 M.R.S.A. § 402(3)(K).

£ Income tax information, 26 U.S.C. §6103 et seq. MMA Legal Services routinely advises that tax- related
information is not public under most circumstances. This includes FICA withholding and other deductions
or withholdings,

g Juvenilerecords and reports of municipal fire departments regarding the investigation and family
background of a juvenile fire setter, 1 M.R.S.A. § 402 (3) (D).

h. Nutrient Management Plan, 7 M.R.S.A. § 4202(1) submitted by a person who owns or operates a farm.

i. Personnelrecords,30-AM.R.8.A. §2702. Thisincludesrecords pertaining to an identifiable employee and
containing the following: medical information (physical and mental problems); performance evaluations
and personal references: credit information, information about the persenal history, general conduct or
character of members of an employee's immediate family; complaints, charges and accusations of
misconduct and replies to same, and other information which may result in disciplinary action. Resumes,
applications, references, and other information submitted by a person secking municipal employment, are
confidential, but except for letters and notes of reference expressly submitted in confidence, the
application, resume, and letters and notes of reference of a successful applicant become public records
after that applicant is hired. (Unlisted telephone numbers remain protected.)

j- Poverty abatement applications, 36 M.R.S.A, § 841,

k. Protection from abuse, 19-A M.R.S.A. § 4008. This law authorizes the court to order the omission or
deletion from publicly available records of the address of the plaintiff or minor child; when amunicipal
official receives a copy of such an order, they must maintain the confidentiality of that address.

.. Voteraddress, 21-A M.R.S.A. § 22(3). Where a voter submits to the registrar a signed statement that the
voter has good reason to fear for the safety of the voter or the voter’s family if the voter’s address were
public, the registrar shall treat that voter’s address only as confidential, and not as a public record.
Moreover, because new statutesregarding confidentiality are enacted almostannually, a thorough search of
Maine statutes should be undertaken before granting a request for records. Select Board members havea
responsibility in this information flow as well. It is critical that they make extensive use of staff and
commission reports and commission minutes. Board members should come to meetings prepared —
having read item documents as well as any additional information or memoranda that includes an update
onmajor projects or evolving issues. Additional information may be requested from staff, if necessary.

5. Staff roles: The Select Board recognizes the primary functions of staff as executing Select Board policy
and actions taken by the Select Board and in keeping the Select Board informed. The Select Board expects
the Town Manager to not cause or allow any practice, activity, decision, or circumstance, which is illegal,
immoral, imprudent, or in violation of community accepted business and professional ethics. Staff is
obligated to take gnidance and direction only from the Select Board as a whole or from the appropriate
management supervisers. Staff is directed to reject any attempts by individual members of the Select Board
to unduly direct or otherwise pressure them into making, changing, or otherwise influencing
recommendations. The Town Manager will make every effort to respond in a timely and professional
manner to all requests made by individual Select Board members for information or assistance, provided

15




that, the request is not of a magnitude, either in terms of workload or policy, which would require that it
would be more appropriately assigned through the direction of the full Select Board. If a request by an
individual Select Board member is determined by the Town Manager to take one hour or more of staff time
to complete, that request may be included as a request submitted by Select Board on the formal Select Board
agenda for full Select Board discussion,

Magnitude of Information Request: Any information, service-related needs, or policy positions perceived as
necessaty by individual Select Board members which cannot be fulfilled based on these guidelines should be
scheduled for a Select Board meeting. If so directed by action ofthe Select Board, the Town Manager will
proceed to complete the work within a Select Board -established timeline,

Staff Relationship with Advisory Bodies, Boards, Committees and Commissions: Staffl support and
assistance may be provided to commissions and task forces, but advisory bodies do not have supervisory
authority over Town employees. While staffmay work closely withadvisory bodies, staff members remain
responsible to their immediate supervisors and ultimately the Town Manager. The members of the
committee/commission/ board are responsible for the functions of the advisory body, and the chairperson is
responsible for committee compliance with its policies. Staff support includes preparation of a summary agenda,
and preparation of reports providing a briefbackground ofthe issue, a list of alternatives, recommendations, and
appropriate backup materials, ifnecessary. Advisory body members should have sufficient information to reach
decisions based upon a clear explanation of the issues. The assigned staff person may serve as secretary, taking
minutes as needed. It is important that advisory bodies wishing to communicate recommendations to the Select
Board do so through adopted or approved Select Board agenda procedures. In addition, when a commission wishes
to correspond with an outside agency, correspondence should be reviewed and approved by the Select Board.
Individuals who would like a commission to review a particular issue must also gain approval for such arequest
from the full Select Board. Staff members are to assist the advisory body chair to ensure appropriate compliance
with state and local laws and regulations. The Select Board has determined that Select Board membeis should not
lobby Advisory body board members for particular votes. However, Select Board members may request that board
memnbers consider certain issues during their deliberations.

16




VIIL. Select Board Meetings

A. Board Meeting Schedule: Meeting times and dates are established annually by the Select Board, and the

Select Board shall meet regularly at least once in every menth.

Regular Board Meetings: Regular meetings are held every other Monday inthe Town Hall upstairs

meeting room, § Old Kents Hill Road, Readfield, Maine. The public sessions of meetings begin at 6:30

p.m. with executive sessions generally being held prior to that time. There will be no new business after
8:30pm, unless the Select Board votes to continue. In the event that a regular meeting of the Board fallsona
legal holiday or the day prior to a holiday, the meeting is usually held the day following observance of the
holiday. Board members should inform the Town Manager as soon as possible if they intend to be out of
town on a set meeting date. Meetings are always available via Zoom for the public and for Select Board
members when a need arises.

Special Board Meetings: Special meetings may be called by the Town Manager, or by four members of
the Select Board. Written notice must be given to the Select Board and to the media 24 hours prior to a
special meeting. No business other than that announced may be discussed. All meetings shall be public.
Notice requirements of the Right to Know Law shall be complied with for all meetings; minutes ofthe
meeting shall be taken by the Town Clerk or designee and shall be available for public inspection,

Other Locations: The Board may, from time to time, elect to meet at other locations within the Town and
upon such election shall give public notice of the change of location in accordance with provisions of the
Code,

Location During Local Emergency: If, by reason of fire, flood or other emergency, it shall be unsafe to meet
in the Town Hall, the meetings may be held for the duration of the emergency at such other place as may
be designated by the Town Manager or, if the Town Manager does not so designate, by the Deputy Town
Manager.

Canceled Meetings: In the event that a regular meeting of the Select Board falls on a legal holiday or the
day prior to a holiday, the meeting is usually held the day following observance of the holiday. At other times
when the Select Board deems appropriate, one or more regular meetings may be canceled by a majority vote
of the Select Board. The Select Board must meet regularly, however, at least once each month. The Town
Manager may cancel a Select Board meeting during a winter storm event.

B. Placing Items on the Agenda

1.

Town Manager or Select Board: The Town Manager or a Select Board member may request an item to
be considered on a future agenda. Such request should be submitted to the Town Manager for review and
action.

Readfield Town Staff: Many times, Town Staff will have ideas, projects, or items which require Select
Board input or approval. Such items should be submitted to the Town Manager for review and action.

Members of the Public: A member of the public may request an item/and or petition to be placed on a
future agenda through communication with Select Board members or the Town Manager. The Town
Manager willreview and actupon the request. Some requests may notrequire Select Board action.




4. Emergency Items and Items not on the agenda: Emergency items and items not on the agenda may be

added to an agenda under “Other Business™. Emergency items are only those matters affecting public
health, life, property, or the public peace.

Deadlines: The agenda shall close seventy-two (72) hours before such meeting and shall be made public. All
item commentaries and supporting documentation for Board meetings must be turned in by 2:00 p.m. on
the Wednesday before the scheduled meeting, so that the agenda and packets can be prepared and ready to go
prior to 5:00 p.m. on Friday. When commentaries are not turned in by the deadline, it then places the burden
on the Town Manager who will then need to work after hours to get the packets done and this sometimes
doesn’t give enough time for officials and media to review them. Any agenda items receiving new information

on the day of the meeting may be tabled until the next meeting.

C. Tips on the Dais

1. Televised meetings: As part of its franchise agreement with the Town of Readfield, Charter provides the
Town with a channel on the local cable television system as a means for providing municipal information
to the citizens of Readfield. The Town Hall upstairs room is equipped with a public address system. The
system provides microphones at the dais, and a podium. There are several issues related to the sound
system which are important to keep in mind:

+ Board members should remember to lean forward and speak into the microphone which amplifies
into Board chambers and provides the audio for those viewing on television.

Use caution when discussing matiers near amicrophone before the meeting starts. During the cable
television setup process, microphones are on and televising background socunds even before the
meeting starts.

Speakers shall come forward to the podium. Do not allow people to speak from the audience, as those
viewing on television cannot hear them.

D. Order of Business

The Select Board establishes the general order of meetings through the adoption of aresolution. This section
summarizes each meeting component (the format is also provided in Appendix C).

ii.
iii.

Call to Order: Select Board Chair’s responsibility to start the meeting,
Pledge of Allegiance: Please stand and participate in the Pledge.

Roll Call: Recognition of members present, those absent, and those excused.
Regular Meeting Items:

1.

Approvalof Minutes: Minutes ofthe Select Board meetings are narrative minutes, wherein general
narrative is included, with motions and votes shown in the record. Such minutes shall be submitted to the
Board for approval and/or correction in draft form at a subsequent meeting under new business. It is the
policy of the Select Board that only the Town Manager, members of the Board, and the Select Board
Secretary has the authority to revise the minutes subject to a majority vote ofthe Select Board. Beard
members having only typographical corrections to minutes are encouraged to provide such corrections to the
Select Board Secretary directly and need not wait to submit such corrections at a meeting. As a time saving
measure, even full correction items should be written ahead and passed to the Select Board Secretary
before the meeting. Minutes are recorded in a book designated for Select Board Minutes only, and are
accessible on the Town website.

Approval of Warrants: A member of the Select will present the current warrants for payments and
provide a brief summary of expenditures. The warrants are printed in the packet and available to the
public. Each Select Board member is responsible for warrant review for one quarter each fiscal year with
the exception of the Chair who fills in when notified of a time conflict by the member. The Select Board
votes to accept the warrants.

18




V.

vi.

vii.

viii.

ix.

xi.

Communications: This is a time for general communication to and from the Select Board.

1. Select Board: An opportunity for Board Members to share topics of interest to them, events
taking place, requests for further information, or future agenda items for consideration. No
discussion of agenda items may be held here.

2. Staff Reports: The Town Manager presents the current status report since the last meeting. An
opportunity for the Town Manager to share with the Select Board, and the General Public issues or
concerns of staff, the community at large, or future items that the Board may need to take action
on (not ready for new business discussion or debate, but topics that may already being discussed
publicly}. The Treasurer presents the monthly report for the previous month at the first meeting
of the month.

3. Boards, Committees, Commissions and Departments: Representatives from different
advisory boards, committees, or commissions may speak to the Board. It is encouraged that
members of these organizations inform the Town Manager prior to their attendance so that they can
plan accordingly.

4. Boards, Committees and Commissions Minutes: Minutes are recognized from the most recent
meetings. Minutes are due to the Town Office within a week of each meeting.

5. Public: The Public will be allowed to speak for a maximum of three (3) minutes during the public
comment itetn on the agenda. Members of the public will sign up ahead of the start to the
meeting and state their full name and address of residence. In addition, the public is allowed to
speak at the Town Manager’s discretion and during public hearings on specific matters,

Appointments, Reappointments, and Resignations: This section is for dealing with membership

to boards/committees/commissions.

New Business: Items requiring Board vote that may require additional information. A Board

member may ask questions on any item on the agenda. Board members are encouraged to seek

clarifications prior to the meeting, if possible. A member may request an item be referred to the
next Board meeting for further discussion. Examples of items include reading and adoption of
ordinances, various resolutions approving agreements, minor budgetary items, public hearings, status
reports, approval of bids, routine Town operations, various licenses and permits, reviewing plans
that are in progress, consideration of proposals, and any other business items that have not
previously come before the Select Board. These items shall be approved, adopted, accepted, ete., by
motion of the Select Board.

Old Business: Items requiring Board vote that have previously been considered by the Select Board

and may require additional information. A Board member may ask questions on any item on the

agenda. Board members are encouraged to seek clarifications prior to the meeting, if possible. A

member may request an item be referred to the next Board meeting for further discussion. These

items shall be approved, adopted, accepted, etc., by motion of the Select Board.

Other Business, Upcoming Meetings, and Future Agenda Items: This section is informative

only and used primarily for planning purposes with the entire Select Board.

Workshop: This is a chance for discussion, presentation, or problem solving with the Board and

is a part of the larger meeting. Items discussed will not have any Select Board action, but may be

moved to the New Business section at a future meeting.

Executive Session (closed to the public): The ability of a Select Board to conduct executive
sessions is restricted by state law. A motion to go into executive session shall indicate the precise nature
of the business of the executive session. Certain defined circumstances exist wherein a Select Board
19




may meet without the public in attendance. Such circumstancesinclude:

1. Real Property: The purchase, sale, exchange, or lease ofreal property with the Town’s
negotiator must be announced in open session prior to the executive session.

2. Litigation: Pending or a significant exposure to litigation, or the decision to initiate litigation. The
litigation or title must be identified in open session prior to the executive session unless the Select
Board states that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude existing settlement
negotiations or make service of process.

3. Personnel: Anexecutive session is held to discuss the appointment, employment, evaluation of
performance, or dismissal of a public employee, or to hear complaint against the employee unless
the employee requests a public hearing,

4. Labor: Labor contracts, proposals, and meetings between a public agency and its negotiators. The
parties must be named before the body or agency may go into executive session. Negotiations
between the representatives of a public employer and public employees may be open to the public if
both parties agree to conduct negotiations in open sessions.

5. PovertyProperty Tax Abatements: Under 36 M.R.S.A §84 |, municipalities may abate (forgive)a
property tax for “error or mistake” including illegality or irregularity, or for reason of “infirmity or
poverty™.

In order to make this somewhat confusing process an understandable one for the individual(s)

involved, a policy and application were drafted. It is critical to stress that there shall be no violation

of closed session confidential information. Members of the Select Board, employees of the Town,
or anyone ¢lse present shall not disclose to any person, including effected/opposing parties, the press,
or anyone else, the content or substance of any discussion, which takes place in a closed session
without Select Board direction and concurrence. Typically, executive sessions are scheduled prior
to the public portions of the meeting. This is done so public portions of the meeting are not
interrupted by closed sessions. In addition, such sessions may require the attendance of special legal
counsel and consultants. In an attempt to manage the costs of these professionals, it is beneficial to
conduct closed sessions at a time certain and the Town Manager and Town Manager will consult as
to when the timing of an executive session will take place.

xii. Report from Executive Session: A motion to exit executive session shall be held as part of public
record. After a motion, second and vote take place, further action should be considered, and a motion
should be made. This would be the report from executive session. [fthere is no report, that should be
stated by a member of the Board.

xiii. Adjournment: A motion, a second, and a vote of the Board would be required to
end a meeting.

E. General Procedures

The Select Board may choose to use amodified version of Roberts Rules of Order. Roberts Rules was developed

for large-scale legislative bodies. A scaled-down and modified version is more appropriate for a Board having

five members. It is the policy of the Board not to become involved in the entanglements over a parliamentary

procedure. Consistent with any applicable Town ordinance, statute or other legal requirement, any issue of

procedure relating to the conduct of a meeting or hearing not otherwise provided for herein may be determined by

the Town Manager, subject to appeal to the full Select Board.

1. Presiding Officer: The Select Board Chair is the Presiding Cfficer at Select Board meetings. In the absence or

incapacity of the Select Board Chair, the Select Board Vice-Chair serves as presiding officer. The Select

20




10.

11.

12.

13.

Board Chair shall have authority to preserve order at all Select Board meetings, to remove any person from any
meeting of the Select Board for disorderly conduct and to enforce the rules of the Select Board.

Seating Arrangement of the Board: The Select Board Chair and Vice-Chair are seated in the center of the dais with
the other members and the Town Manager seated on each side.

Signing of Town Documents: The Town Manager shall sign all Resolutions, Special perniits, contracts, and
other documents, which have been adopted by the Select Board and require an official signature, as directed by
the Select Board.

Quorum: Three-fifths of the Board members constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

Discussion Rules: To assist the Select Board in the development of a structure for orderly discussion of items,
rules have been prepared which represent accepted practices for the management of Select Board meetings. Only
items on the agenda shall be addressed during meetings. All discussion on an item takes place during the item
time and will not be revisited. Other rules as follows below. Theserules are setin place at the first Board
meeting after elections in June. The Select Board Chair shall be the facilitator of Select Board meetings. Inthe
role as facilitator, the Select Board Chair will assist the Select Board to focus on their agenda, discussions, and
deliberations.

. Obtaining the Floor: A member of the Select Board or staffshall first address the Select Board Chair and gain

recognition. Comments and questions should be limited to the issue before the Board.

Questions to Staff: A Select Board member shall, after recognition by the Select Board Chair, address questions
to the Town Manager, department head or designated staff member, If a Select Board member has questions
related to anitem on the agenda, that member should contact the Town Manager prior to the meeting in order to
allow staff time to research a response/answer for the meeting.

Comments for the Record: If a Select Board member desires for a comment to be included in the minutes, it is
their responsibility to indicate that the statement is “for the record” before making the comments.

Interruptions: Once recognized, a Select Board member is considered to have the floor, and other Select Board
members may not interrupt the speaker except to make a point of order or point of personal privilege. In such
a circumstance, the Select Board member holding the floor shall cease speaking until the point of order or
privilege is resolved. Upon being recognized by the Select Board Chair, members of the staft' shall hold the floor
until completion of their remarks or until the Select Board Chair withdraws recognition.

Discussion limit: A Select Board member should not speak more than once on a particular subject until every
other Select Board member has had the opportunity to speak. Select Board members are encouraged to discuss
items during the decision-making process and may ask staffto respond when appropriate. The Select Board
Chair should allow other members to speak first and then give their own views and summarize.

Tabling procedure: Tabling an item immediately stops discussion and causes a vote to postpone a matter
indefinitely or to a time and date certain.

Right of protest: A Select Board member is encouraged but never required to state reasons for a dissenting vote,

Move the question: The purpose of moving the question is to disallow further debate and put an issue to an
immediate vote. A Select Board member may “move the question” on an item which is being considered. The

21




motion requires a second, is not debatable, and must pass by a three-fifths vote. If the motion carries, the item is
no longer debatable, and the Select Board must vote on the issue at hand in a separate vote.

14. Abstention from Voting: A conflict of interest shall be declared whenever appropriate and in compliance with
state law. The affected Select Board member will not participate in the discussion or vote on the item and
should remove themselves from the dais while the itemn is on the floor, Ifa Select Board member abstains
because of a legal conflict, the member must briefly state on the record the nature of the conflict. The clerk
will register an “Abstained” vote in the minutes.

15. Conducting Business at a Late Hour: Afier 8:30 p.m. a three-fifths vote of the Select Board is required to
begin consideration of any further items on the agenda.

16. Other Protocol: Other guidelines have also been adopted to ensure meetings of the Select Board emphasize
the importance of the business being conducted in a professional manner. Select Board members, staff, and the
public shall:

*  Work to preserve appropriate order and decorum during all meetings,

+ Discourage side conversations, disruptions, interruptions, or delaying efforts,

» Select Board members should inform the Select Board Chair when departing from a meeting,

« Limit disruptive behavior. The Select Board Chair will call persons demonstrating rude, boisterous, or
profane behavior to order, If such conduct continues, the Select Board Chair may call a recess, request the
removal of such person(s) from the Chambers, adjourn the meeting, or take such other appropriateaction,

+ Recognize that only the Select Board, staff, advisory body chairs, or designated representatives, and those
authorized by the presiding officer shall be permitted to address the Board directly during new business.

» Limit breaks of the Select Board to 5 minutes. The Select Board has authorized the Select Board Chairto
resume the meeting if a quorum exists and other members have not returned from break within this time.

17. Enforcement of Order: Any Select Board member may request the presiding officer to enforce the rules of
protocol, Upon motion and majority vote, the presiding officer shall be required to do so.

18. Values of Respect: The Select Board has also recognized the importance of approaching the public’s business in
an environment of personal respect and courtesy that places emphasis on the consideration of policy and aveids
personalization of comments. Some general guidelines utilized by the Select Board include:

» Discussion should focus on policy matters,

» Personal criticism of members is inappropriate,

» Proper decorum should be displayed as other members express their views, and
« Treat members of the public equally.

F. Voting Procedures; When present, all Select Board members are to vote, unless they exercise their right of
abstention. Failure of a seated member to express a vote constitutes an affirmative vote. Voting shall be by raised
hand, and the Yeas and Nays shall be recorded in the minutes. No ordinance, resolution, or motion shall be passed
or become effective without an affirmative vote. Select Board members may declare consensus at the discretion of
the Select Board Chair, ifthere are no negative votes or objections. Upon the request of any Select Board
member, a raised hand vote will be taken and recorded.

1. Tie Vote: The Select Board Chair votes to break the tie,

2. Courtesy Vote: Attimes, amember will be absent from a meeting. Issues will arise that would pass if that member
were present. Another Board member who is present, yet planning to vote against an item, may sometimes alter
their vote to an affirmative vote in recognition that the measure would have passed if the absent member attended.

22




H.

3. Motions: There are a number of types of motions, each of which must meet certain requirements before a vote can
be taken. A reference guide to motions is provided in chart form in Appendix C of this manual. General Procedure:

» Discussion on an agenda item may take place prior to a motion being made.
+ Sclect Board members wanting to make a motion should be recognized by the Select Board Chair.

« Before a motion can be considered or debated it must be seconded.

» Once the motion has been properly made and seconded, the Select Board Chair shall open the matter for
discussion offering the first opportunity to the moving party and, thereafter, to any Select Board member
properly recognized by the Select Board Chair.

» Once the matter has been fully discussed and the Select Board Chair calls for a vote, no further discussion will
be allowed, provided, however, before the call for the vote, Select Board members may be allowed to explain
their vote. After the first vote is cast, explanations must wait until all votes are cast.

+ Executive Session: The Maine Freedom of Access Law, 1 MRSA 403, states that “Executive sessions may be
called only by a public, recorded vote of 3/5 of the members present and voting. ... A motion to go into
executive session must indicate the precise nature of the business of the executive session and include a citation
of one or more sources of statutory or other authority that permits an executive session for that business.”
Accordingly, the following chart shall apply:

Members Affirmative
Present Votes
and Voting 3/5 Required
5 3.0 3

. Amendments: When a motion is on the floor, and an amendment is offered and seconded, the amendment should be

acted upon prior to acting on the main motion.

Reconsideration: The motion to reconsider enables the majority of the assembly to bring back for further
consideration a motion that has been voted on during the course of a meeting. Only a member who voted with the
prevailing side can make this motion. If approved, the item can then be taken up.

Notification and Advertising: The Town attempts to publicize matters of significant neighborhood or community
public interest that appear on a Select Board agenda, as well as all matters where advertising is required by law.
Advertisements may include location maps, project descriptions and, in some instances posting of property, ifrequired,
written in plain English in order to fully inform all interested individuals. All advertising is to be accomplished in an
economical manner.

Development of Agenda: A long-range calendar that reflects an estimate of when items will be scheduled is
developed by the Town Manager on a regular basis (as determined by the parties). All agenda packets are delivered
on Friday. Given this agenda development schedule, it will usually require at least one week for the preparation of a
report requested by the Select Board. Complex reports, of course, will require more time to prepare, and an
estimated time of completion can be provided to the Select Board.

. Public Hearings:

1. General Procedure: The Select Board procedure for the conduct of public hearings is generally as follows:
¢ The Select Board Chair takes a vote to open the hearing from the Select Board.
¢ The Select Board Chair opens the public hearing,
« Staff presents its report.
» Board members may ask questions of staff if they so desire.

23




» The applicant or appellant then has the opportunity to present comments, testimony, or arguments. In the
case of an appeal when the appellant is different from the applicant, the appellant should be called up first to
provide comments or testimony.

+ Members of the public are provided with the opportunity to present their comments, testimony, or
argument.

+ 'The applicant or appellant is given an opportunity for rebuttal or concluding comments. In the case of an
appeal when the appellant is different from the applicant, the appellant is given the opportunity for closing
comments.

« The public hearing is closed by vote of the Select Board.

+ The Select Board deliberates on the issue.

» If the Select Board raises new issues through deliberation and seeks to take additional public testimony
(questions of the public, applicant, or appellant), the Public Hearing must be reopened. At the conclusion
of the public testimony, the Public Hearing is again closed.

« The Select Board deliberates and takes action.
¢ The Select Board Chair announces the final decision of the Select Board.

Time for Consideration: Matters noticed to be heard by the Select Board will commence at the time
specified in the notice of hearing, or as soon thereafter, as is reasonably possible, and will continue unti} the
matter has been completed or until other disposition of the matter has been made.

Continuance of Hearings: Any hearing being held, noticed, or ordered to be held by the Select Board
at any meeting of the Select Board may, be continued or re-continued to any subsequent meeting.

Public Discussion at Hearings: When a matter for public hearing comes before the Select Board, the Select
Board Chair will open the public hearing. Upon opening the public hearing and before any motion is
adopted related to the merits of the issue to be heard, the Select Board Chair shall inquire if there are any
persons present who desire to speak on the matter which is to be heard or to present evidence respecting the
matter.

Public Member Request to Speak: Any person desiring to speak or present evidence shall make their
presence known to the Select Board Chair and upon being recognized by the Select Board Chair, the person
may speak or present evidence relevant to the matter being heard. No person may speak without first being
recognized by the Select Board Chair.

Select Board Questions of Speakers: Members of the Select Board who wish to ask questions of the
speakers or each other must do so through the Select Board Chair during the public hearing portion but only
after first being recognized by the Select Board Chair. Interaction with the speaker shall be limited to a
question or questions, rather than an ongoing dialogue. Select Board members should avoid raising
questions as a method to extend the allocated time for a speaker.

Due Process: The Select Board Chair shall conduct the meeting in such a manner as to afford due process,

Public Oral Presentations: All Select Board rules pertaining to oral presentation by members of the public
apply during public hearings,

Materials for Public Record: All persons interested in the matter being heard by the Select Board shall be
entitled to submit written evidence or remarks, as well as other graphic evidence. All such evidence presented
will be retained by the Town Clerk as part of the Clerk’s record of the hearing, unless otherwise directed.




10. Germane Comments: No person will be permitted during the hearing to speak about matters or present
evidence, which is not germane to the matter being considered. A determination of relevance shall be made by
the Select Board Chair, but may upen moticn by a Select Board member be appealed to the full Board.

11. Communications and Petitions: Written communications and petitions concerning the subject matter of the
hearing will be noted, read aloud, or summarized by the Select Board Chair. A reading in full shall take place if
requested by any member of the Select Board.

12. Admissible Evidence: Hearings need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence and
witnesses. Any relevant evidence may be considered if it is the sort of evidence upon which responsible persons
are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs.

L. Addressing the Select Board:

1. Staff Presentations: Staff presentations will be limited to 10 minutes. The Select Board Chair must
approve longer staff presentations prior to the Select Board Meeting,

2. New Business Oral Presentations: The Select Board Chair may allow any member of the public wishing
to address the Select Board orally on Town Business matters appearing on the Select Board agenda to do so
when that item js taken up by the Board, or as otherwise specified by the Select Board or its presiding
officer.

3. Time Limit: Cral presentations may not exceed three minutes unless otherwise provided.

4. Project Applicant or Appellant: The project applicant, appellant, or other person or entity with a substantial
direct property interest, or their representative shall have a total of 5 minutes for their presentations. The initial
comments or presentation shall be limited to 3 minutes and the rebuttal or concluding comments shall be
limited to 2 minutes,

5. All Other Persons: All other persons wishing to speak on the matter shall be limited to 3 minutes unless
changed by Select Board action. Speaker time limits are inclusive of oral and visual presentations and
shall constitute the cumulative 5-minute time limit for each speaker for the meeting.

6. The Select Board Chair:with the concurrence of the Select Board, may alter any of the enumerated time
allocations based on the complexity of the item and the number of persons wishing to speak on the item.

7. Presentation Submitted in Writing: Persons who anticipate oral presentations exceeding five minutes are
encouraged to submit comments in writing at the earliest possible time for distribution to the Select Board
and other interested parties. Comments should be submitted sufficiently in advance of the scheduled meeting
date to insure distribution to the Select Board prior to the meeting.

8 OralPresentations & Public Communications Cumulative Time Limit: Members of the public making
oral presentations to the Board in connection with one or more agenda items at a single meeting shall be
limited to a cumulative total of thirty (30) minutes, and three (3) minutes per person for oral presentations at
such meeting unless otherwise provided.

9. Comments in Writing Encouraged: Members of the public may submit, and are encouraged to submit,
comments in writing to the Select Board relating to any items of Town business, whether on the Select
Board agenda or otherwise. Such written comments will be distributed to members of the Select Board and
considered and acted upon, or not acted upon, as the Select Board in its judgment may deem appropriate.




10. Repetitious or Dilatory Comments Prohibited:

» A speaker shall not present the same or substantially same items or arguments to the Select Board
repeatedly or be repetitious or dilatory in presenting their oral comments. If a matter has been presented
orally before the Select Board, whether the Select Board has taken action, or determined to take no action,
the same person may not present the same or substantially same matter orally. Nothing in the foregoing
precludes submission of comments to the Select Board in writing for such action or non-action, as the
Board, in its discretion, may deem appropriate.

« In order to expedite matters and to avoid repetitious presentations, the designation of a spokesperson is
encouraged. Whenever any group of persons wishes to address the Select Board on the same subject
matter, those persons are encouraged to designate a spokesperson to address the Select Board. With the
consent of the Select Board, the Select Board Chair may extend the time allocation for a designated
spokesperson.

M. Waiver of Rules: Any of the procedures herein may be waived by majority vote of the Select Board members present

when it is deemed that there is good cause to do so based upon the particular facts and circumstances involved.

. Non-Exclusive Rules: The rules set forth are not exclusive and do not limit the inherent power and general legal

authority of the Select Board, or of its presiding officer, to govern the conduct of Select Board meetings as may
be considered appropriate from time to time or in particular circumstances for purposes of orderly and effective
conduct of the affairs of the Town.

. Open Meeting Laws: (Freedom of Access Law a/k/a “Right to Know Law”) Operations and procedures of the

Town and Select Board incorporate requirements of the state’s Right to Know Law. Because this law is such an
important part of local government operations, some specific requirements of the law are highlighted betow for your
information and future reference.

1. Applicability and Penalties: The entire Town organization conducts its business in compliance with the
Freedom of Access Law. The intent of the Law is to ensure that deliberation and actions of local public
agencies are conducted in open and summarized in this chapter,

2. Applicability: The Law applies to Board and all commissions, boards, and task forces that advise Board. Staff
cannot promote actions that would violate the Law,

3. Meetings: All meetings shall be open and public. A Select Board meeting takes place whenever a quorum (3 or
more members) is present and information about the business of the body is received; discussions and email
qualify as meetings. Social functions (e.g., receptions, dinners) do not fall under the Act unless Town business
is discussed in public meetings. A presentation of the Law is provided to all Select Board members when
assuming office (asrequired by law).

4. Exceptions: An emergency situation exists (determined by a majority of the Select Board). The need to take
action arose subsequent to the agenda being posted and there is a need for immediate action (determined by
2/3 vote of the Board,; or if less than 2/3 are present, by unanimous vote). The item was continued to ancther
meeting.

5. Public Input: The public, by law, has an opportunity to address the Select Board, at the time the matter is
heard as a public hearing on any item of interest within the jurisdiction of the Select Board. The Select Board
Chair has the right to establish a time limit on speakers and the total time-allocated for a particular issue. Three
minutes per speaker have been standard, but in extreme cases, shorter or longer time periods may be enacted.
26




11.

12.

13.

Speakers should state their name and residency for the record.

Public Disruptions: A portion or all of the public may be removed if willful disruption makes conducting the
meeting “unfeasible”; the press may remain unless they participate in the disruption.

Correspondence; All writings distributed for discussion or considerations ata public meeting are public
records except those listed in the right-to-know law.

Public Hearings: The item commentary is read. A motion is made to move and second the opening of the
hearing. Anyone who has comments or concerns including Select Board meinbers can address the Select
Board. A motion is made to move and second the closing of the hearing. The motion on the item is made. A
Select Board member vote is taken. The Select Board Chair announces the final decision of the Select Board
(see I above).

Special Meetings: The Select Board Chair or a majority ofthe Select Board may call special meetings provided
strict notification requirements for delivery to the media and the Select Board 24 hours before the time of the
meeting be met.

. Emergency Meetings: Emergency meetings may be called without notification due to the disruption or

threatened disruption of public facilities. Only work stoppages or crippling disasters that impair the public
health and/or safety qualify for emergency meetings.

Other Provisions: The Law provides many other restrictions and requirements; this chapter is intended merely
as a Select Board summary and overview of the Law and nothing in this Chapter supersedes the provisions of
the right to know law. Please check with the Town Attorney and/or the Town Clerk for more information.

Serial Meetings: Serial meetings are meetings that at any one time involve only a portion of the Select
Board, but eventually involve a quorum. Serial meetings can yield a process which deprives the public the
opportunity for a meaningful contribution to the decision-making process. Board members are encouraged to
consider the implications of serial meetings when engaging in discussion with their colleagues on a matter within
thejurisdiction on the Town.

Business Minutes: The body of the minutes should contain a separate parag‘raph for each subject matter,

giving, in the case of all-important motions, the name of the mover, the second, and should show:

+» the wording in which each motion was adopted or otherwise disposed of (with the facts as to whether the
motion may have been debated or amended before disposition being mentioned only parenthetically); and
the disposition of the motion, including — if it was temporarily disposed of — any primary and secondary
amendments and all adhering secondary motions that were thenpending;

+ secondary motions that were not lost or withdrawn. (Roberts Rules of Order, 10th Ed. pg. 452)

27




IX.

AL

B.

Procedure Administration

Annual Review of Select Board Protocols: The Select Board will review and revise the Select Board Protocols as
needed or every two years.

AdherencetoProtocols: During Select Board discussions, deliberations, and proceedings, the Select Board
Chair isprimarily responsible to ensure that the Select Board, staff, and members of the public adhere to the
Select Board’s adopted procedures.

Town Manager as Protocol Advisor: The Town Manager assists the Select Board Chair as aresource to confer
withand an advisor for interpreting the Select Board’s adopted protocols.

Adherence to Administrative Procedure and Process Procedures: The Select Board has delegated the Select
Board Chair responsible to discuss, on behalf of the full Select Board, any perceived or inappropriate
administrative action with a Select Board member. The Select Board Chair will discuss with the Select Board
member the action and suggest a more appropriate process or procedure to follow. After this discussion, if further
inappropriate action continues, the Select Board Chair will report the concern to the full Select Board.

28




Al

Additional Training & Resource Materials

Maine Municipal Association (MMA): The MMA is an association of cities in Maine, of which the Town of
Readfield is a member. It provides many levels of service including the production of educational conferences for
local officials, publication of various newsletters, and a monthly magazine Maine Town & Town (formerly The Maine
Townsman). As well, MMA’s members’ services legal staffis available torespond to questions with regard topolicy
and legalquestions. The MMA also has lobbyists on staff that represent the interest of cities before the state
legislature and federal government. Committees having local officials as members are also organized around the
interests of Town departments (e.g. Select Board, Town Manager, Town Clerk, Fire, Police, Community Services,
Community Development) to address issues as they arise. The MMA website is www.memun. org. MMA annually
holds an Elected Officials seminar. New Select Board members are encouraged to attend.

International Town Management Association (ICMA): ICMA is a professional association of local government
chiefexecutives, of which the Town of Readfield and its Town Manager is a member. The association has an extensive
list of publications to assist local officials. The Association’s Elected Officials Handbook series can be of great value
to Board members. Publications have also been developed on every basic Town service.

Town Administration Office: Thereference material listed below is available uponrequest to the Town Manager’s
Office:

« Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised
» Town Manager Code of Ethics
» Resolution Adopting Select Board Rules or Order and Voting Procedures Chart
» A Guide to the Freedom of Access Law a/k/a “Right to Know Law”
« Property Tax Abatement Policy
+ Other Reference Material on File — Other reference material that may be of interest is on file with the Town
Cierk Materials include:
i. Elected Officials Handbook/Presentation
ii. Town of Readfield Municipal Code
iii. Maine Revised Statutes Annotated
iv. Current Operating and Capital Budget
v. Annual Audit and CAFR Document

29




XL

Leaving Office

A. Return of Materials and Equipment: Any item owned by the Town that is currently in the possession of the
elected official will be returned to the Town.

B. Lobbying Restrictions: The Town discourages lobbying by former Board members for a period of one year
after leaving office. The following policy has been established to maintain an environment where in every person has
the opportunity to address the Town’s legislative bodies and have their opinion heard and considered. No former
Town official, for one year after leaving office or one year after termination of their employment with the Town,
shall, for compensation, act as agent or attorney for any other person by making any formal or informal appearance
before the Select Board if the purpose ofthe appearance or communication is to influence legislative or
administrative action by the Town.

1. Definition of Official: Official means a Select Board member, Town Manager, Town Manager, Town Attorney,
and the heads of the Town departments, including the Fire Chief, the Pelice Chief, the Town Clerk, the Finance

ctor, and the Tax Assessor. the- Economic Development Director, the Directorof

Director, the Building Inspe
Plannine—the-Dire U

2. Exemptions: The following activities are not subject to the prohibition:
+ Appearance or communications by a former Town official for the sole purpose of representing themselves
or members of their immediate family in connection with any matter pending before the Town;
» IfaTownofficial becomes an officer or employee of another public agency, appearance or communication
made on behalf of that other public agency in connection with matters pending before the Town.

C. Vacancies, Forfeiture of Office, Filling of Vacancies Summary:

1. Vacancies: The office of Town Manager or a Select Board Member shall become vacant upon death,
resignation, removal from office in the manner authorized by law, or forfeiture of office.

2. Forfeiture of Office: The Town Manager or a Select Board Member shall forfeit the office if they:
» Lacksatany time during the term of office any qualification for the office prescribed by ordinance or by law.
o Is convicted of a crime or offense involving moral turpitude.

+ Failsto attend three consecutive regular meetings of the Select Board without being excused by the
Select Board.

3. Filling of Vacaneies: Deputy Town Manager shall fill a vacancy in the office of Town Manager.
In the case of a vacancy created in the Select Board State statute shall apply.

30



XIL

A

B.

Definitions

Ordinance: The term is used to designate the enactments of the Town of Readfield. It designates a local law of the
Town of Readfield, duly enacted by the proper authorities (the voting public is the legislative body), prescribing
general, uniform, and permanent rules of conduct relating to the corporate affairs or the government of its
inhabitants of the municipality. Ordinances govern the administrative code, zoning, building, safety, etc., matters
of the municipality.

Order: A mandate; precept; command or direction authoritatively given; policy or procedure. The Select Board
can give instructions to the Town Manager in the form of an order. A motion adopts an order after one reading.

. Resolution: The term is usually employed to denote the subject matter of which would not properly constitute an

ordinance, such as a mere expression of opinion; a vote of thanks or of censure, ete. Such is not law but merely a form
in which the Select Board expresses an opinion, will, or intent. A motion adopts a resolve after one reading,

The chief distinction between a “resolution” and an “order” is that the former is used whenever the Select Board
wishes merely to express an opinion as to some given matter or thing, while by an “order” it is intended to direct and
control matters applying to persons or things in general.

Ordinance distinguished. “Resolution” denotes something less formal than “ordinance™; generally, it is mere expression
of opinion or mind of the Select Board concerning some matter of administration, within its official cognizance.

Appropriation: Select Board authorization for the expenditure of monies and stipulating the amount, manner, and
purpose of the item of expenditure. Adoption of the budget constitutes appropriations of the amounts specified
therein.

3N




XIII. Appendices

Need to add a statement that says where to locate all of the appendices. Maybe we need to write what heading they
are under on the website as some things are not readily apparent. Or we can be certain that each listed appendix is
available through the search feature on the website.

We agreed to not include the appendices but only to reference them.

Appendix A. Resolution to Adopting Select Boards Rules of Conduct and Voting (from Saco document below).
We did not share this with the Board in the packet and will need to adopt it in order to adopt this manual.

Appendix I. Select Board Orientation List.

I would change the title to ‘Suggested Select Board Orientation List’.

I think this should be a new stand-alone document, remove the last two lines, and add in pages 80 through 82
below.

I'would add Appendix K. Conflict of Interest and Recall Process Ordinance, since it is referenced in the BCC
handbook.

I would add Appendix L. Standards of Conduct for Public Meetings.

32



APPENDIX A
Resolution Adopting Select Board Rules of Conduct and Voting Procedures Chart

We would need to adopt this.

33




Rules and Journal; The Select Board shall determine its own rules and order of business based on what is provided
within this document at the first meeting of each newly elected Select Board. The Select Board shall provide for the
keeping of a journal of its proceedings. This journal shall be a public record and shall be kept in the office of the
Town Clerk.

Roberts Rules will be the parliamentary procedure for the Board.
Select Board meeting agenda:

READFIELD SELECT BOARD MEETING
(DATE AND TIME)
Town Hall Upstairs Meeting Room and on Zoom

Call to Order
Pledge of Allegiance
Roll Call
Regular Meeting Items:
Approval of Minutes
Approval of Warrants
Communications:
Select Board
Staff Reports
Boards, Committees, Commissions and Departments
Boards, Committees, Commissions Minutes
Public
Appointments, Reappointments, and Resignations
New Business
0Old Business
Other Business, Upcoming Meetings, and Future Agenda Items
Workshop
Executive Session
Report from Executive Session

Adjournment

{If there are no items under specific sections of the agenda, the sections in bold above will be removed from the agenda
for that specific meeting).




ORDER OF PRECEDENCE OF MOTIONS.
The ordinary motions rank as follows, the lowest in rank being at the bottom and the highest at the top of the list. When
any one of them is immediately pending the motions above it in the list are in order, and those below are out of order.

3| 4|5 Motion

a | X [« Fix the Time to Adjourm.

b | —[-- Adjourn.

¢ | X |- Take a Recess.

---| -~ | --- Raise a Question of Privilege.

-- Call for the Orders of the Day.

-- Lay on the Table.

wwe | wes | w=a| - | X Previous Question.

== | === [ === | =] X Limit or Extend Limits of Debate.
X --- Postpone 10 a Certain Time.
X]- --- Commit or Refer.

X |=-]---] X|-- Amend.
X

X

== | == | -~ | -~ Postpone Indefinitely.
=={ -] X |- A Main Motion.

1 Debatable
2 Usually Privileged
3 Not always privileged:
a Privileged only when made while another question is pending, and in an assembly that has made no
provision for another meeting on the same day or the next day.
b Loses its privileged character and is a main motion if any way qualified, or if its effect, if adopted, is to
dissolve the assembly without any provision for its meeting again.
¢ Privileged only when made while other business is pending.
4 Can be amended
5 Require a 2/3 (4 members) vote for adoption; the others require only amajority.

35




APPENDIX B
Boards and Committees

Include Readfield’s BCC Guide

36




Appendix D
Codes of Ethics
ICMA
MMA

37




The ICMA Code of Ethics

The ICMA Code of Ethics was adopted by the ICMA membership in 1924, and most recently amended by the
membership in May 1998, The Guidelines for the Code were adopted by the ICMA Executive Board in 1972, and most
recently revised in September 2013,

The mission of ICMA isto create excellence in local governance by developing and fostering professional local government
management worldwide. To further this missien, certain principles, as enforced by the Rules of Procedure, shall govern the
conduct of every member of [CMA, who shall;

Tenet 1 - Be dedicated to the concepts of effective and democratic local government by responsible elected officials and
believe that professional general management is essential to the achievement of this objective.

Tenet 2 - Affirm the dignity and worth of the services rendered by government and maintain a constructive, creative, and
practical attitude toward Jocal government affairs and a deep sense of social responsibility as a trusted public servant.

GUIDELINE
Advice to Officials of Other Local Governments. When members advise and respond to inquiries from elected or appointed
officials of other local governments, they should inform the administrators of those communities.

Tenet 3 - Be dedicated to the highest ideals of honor and integrity in all public and personal relationships in order that the
member may merit the respect and confidence of the elected officials, of other officials and employees, and of the public,

GUIDELINES
Public Confidence. Members should conduct themselves so as to maintain public confidence in their profession, their local
government, and in their performance of the public trust.

Impression of Influence. Members should conduct their official and personal affairs in such a manner as to give the clear
impression that they cannot be improperly influenced in the performance of their official duties.

Appointment Commitment. Members who accept an appointment to a position should not fail to report for that position.
This does not preclude the possibility of a member considering several offers or seeking several positions at the same time,
but once a bona fide offer of a position has been accepted, that commitment should be honored. Oral acceptance of an
employment offer is considered binding unless the employer makes fundamental changes in terms of employment.

Credentials. Anapplication for employment or for ICMA’s Voluntary Credentialing Program should be complete and accurate
as to all pertinent details of education, experience, and personal history. Members should recognize that both omissions and
inaccuracies must be avoided.

Professional Respect. Members seeking a management position should show professional respect for persons formerly
holding the position or for others who might be applying for the same position. Professional respect does not preclude
honest differences of opinion; it does preclude attacking a person’s motives or integrity in order to be appointed to a position.

Reporting Ethics Violations. When becoming aware of a possible viclation of the ICMA Code of Ethics, members are
encouraged to report the matter to ICMA. Inreporting the matter, members may choose to go on record as the complainant

38




or report the matter on a confidential basis.

Confidentiality. Members should not discuss or divulge information with anyone about pending or completed ethics cases,
except as specifically authorized by the Rules of Procedure for Enforcement of the Code of Ethics.

Seeking Employment. Members should not seek employment for a position having an incumbent administrator who has not
resigned or been officially informed that his or her services are to be terminated.

Tenet 4 - Recognize that the chief function of local government at all times is to serve the best interests of all of the people.

GUIDELINE

Length of Service. A minimum of two years generally is considered necessary in order to render a professional service to the
local government. A short tenure should be the exception rather than a recurring experience. However, under special
circumstances, it may be in the best interests of the local government and the member to separate in a shorter time. Examples

of such circumstances would include refusal of the appointing authority to honor commitments concerning conditions of
employment, a vote of no confidence in the member, or severe personal problems. It is the responsibility of an applicant for a
position to ascertain conditions of employment. Inadequately determining terms of employment prior to arrival does not
Jjustify premature termination.

Tenet 5 - Submit policy proposals to elected officials; provide them with facts and advice on matters of policy as a basis for

making decisions and setting community goals; and uphold and implement local government policies adopted by elected
officials.

GUIDELINE

Conflicting Roles. Members who serve multiple roles — working as both Town attorney and Town manager for the same
community, for example —should avoid participating in matters that create the appearance of a conflict of interest. They
should disclose the potentiat conflict to the governing body so that other opinions may be solicited.

Tenet 6 - Recognize that elected representatives of the people are entitled to the credit for the establishment of local
government policies; responsibility for policy execution rests with the members.

Tenet 7 - Refrain from all political activities which undermine public confidence in professional administrators. Refrain
from participation in the election of the members of the employing legislative body.

GUIDELINES

Elections of the Governing Body. Members should maintain areputation for serving equally and impartially all members of
the governing body of the local government they serve, regardless of party. To this end, they should not participate in an
election campaign on behalf of or in opposition to candidates for the governing body.

Elections of Elected Executives. Members shall not participate in the election campaign of any candidate for Town
Manager or elected county executive.

Running for Office. Members shall not run for elected office or become involved in political activities related to running for
elected office, or accept appointment to an elected office. They shall not seek political endorsements, financial contributions
or engage in other campaign activities.

39




Elections. Members share with their fellow citizens the right and responsibility to vote. However, in order not to impair their
effectiveness on behalf of the local governments they serve, they shall not participate in political activities to support the
candidacy of individuals running for any Town, county, special district, school, state or federal offices.

Specifically, they shallnotendorse candidates, make financial contributions, sign or circulate petitions, or participate in fund-
raising activities for individuals seeking or holding elected office

Elections relating to the Form of Government. Members may assist in preparing and presenting materials that explain the
form of government to the public prior to a form of government election. If assistance is required by another community,
members may respond,

Presentation of Issues. Members may assist their governing body in the presentation of issues involved in referenda such as
bond issues, annexations, and other matters that affect the government entity’s operations and/or fiscal capacity.

Personal Advocacy of Issues. Members share with their fellow citizens the right and responsibility to voice their opinion on
public issues. Members may advocate for issues of personal interest only when doing so does not conflict with the
performance of their official duties,

Tenet 8 - Make it a duty continually to improve the member’s professional ability and to develop the competence of
associates in the use of management techniques.

GUIDELINES
Self-Assessment. Each member should assess his or her professional skills and abilities on a periodic basis.

Professional Development. Each member should commit at least 40 hours per year to professional development activities
that are based on the practices identified by the members of ICMA.

Tenet 9. Keep the community informed on local government affairs; encourage communication between the citizens and all
local government officers; emphasize friendly and courteous service to the public; and seek to improve the quality and image
of public service.

Tenet 10 - Resist any encroachment on professional responsibilities, believing the member should be free to carry out
official policies without interference, and handle each problem without discrimination on the basis of principle and justice.

GUIDELINE
Information Sharing. The member should openly share information with the governing body while diligently carrying out the
member’s responsibilities as set forth in the charter or enabling legislation.

Tenet 11 - Handle all matters of personnel on the basis of merit so that faimess and impartiality govern a member’s
decisions, pertaining to appointments, pay adjustments, promotions, and discipline.

GUIDELINE
Equal Opportunity. All decisions pertaining to appointments, pay adjustments, promotions, and discipline should prohibit
discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, political affiliation, disability, age, or
marital status.

40




[t should be the members’ personal and professional responsibility to actively recruit and hire a diverse staff throughout their
organizations.

Tenet 12 - Seek no favor; believe that personal aggrandizement or profit secured by confidential information or by misuse of
public time is dishonest.

GUIDELINES

Gifts: Members should not directly or indirectly solicit any gift or accept orreceive any gift— whether it be money, services,
loan, travel, entertainment, hospitality, promise, or any other form—under the following circumstances: (1) it could be
reasonably inferred or expected that the gift was intended to influence them in the performance of their official duties; or (2)
the gift was intended to serve as a reward for any official action on their part.

It is important that the prohibition of unsolicited gifts be limited to circumstances related to improper influence. In de
minimus situations, such as meal checks, some modest maximum dollar value should be determined by the member as a
guideline. The guideline is not intended to isolate members from normal social practices where gifts among friends,
associates, and relatives are appropriate for certain occasions.

Investments in Conflict with Official Duties. Member should not invest or hold any investment, directly or indirectly, in any
financial business, commercial, or other private transaction that creates a conflict with their official duties.

In the case of real estate, the potential use of confidential information and knowledge to further amember’s personal interest
requires special consideration. This guideline recognizes that members’ official actions and decisions can be influenced if
there is a conflict with personal investments. Purchases and sales which might be interpreted as speculation for quick profit
ought to be avoided (see the guideline on *“Confidential Information”).

Because personal investments may prejudice or may appear to influence official actions and decisions, members may, in
concert with their governing body, provide for disclosure of such investments prior to accepting their position as local
government administrator or prior to any official action by the governing body that may affect such investments.

Personal Relationships. Member should disclose any personal relationship to the governing body inany instance where there
could be the appearance of a conflict of interest. For example, if the manager’s spouse works for a developer doing business
with the local government, that fact should be disclosed.

Confidential Information. Members should not disclose to others, or use to further their personal interest, confidential
information acquired by them in the course of their official duties.

Private Employment. Members should not engage in, solicit, negotiate for, or promise to accept private employment, nor
should they render services for private interests or conduct a private business when such employment, service, or business
creates a conflict with or impairs the proper discharge of their official duties.

Teaching, lecturing, writing, or consulting are typical activities that may not involve conflict of interest, or impair the proper
discharge of their official duties. Prior notification of the appointing authority is appropriate in all cases of outside
employment.

41




Representation. Members should not represent any outside interest before any agency, whether public or private, except with
the authorization of or at the direction of the appointing authority they serve.

Endorsements. Members should not endorse commercial products or setvices by agreeing to use their photograph,
endorsement, or quotation in paid or other commercial advertisements, whether or not for compensation. Members may,
however, agree to endorse the following, provided they do not receive any compensation: (1) books or other publications;
(2) professional development or educational services provided by nonprofit membership organizations or recognized
educational institutions; (3) products and/or services in which the local government has a direct economic interest.

Members’ observations, opinions, and analyses of commercial products used or tested by their local governments are
appropriate and useful to the profession when included as part of professional articles and reports.

42




State of Maine Code of Ethics:

Please note: This packe is infended for general information purposes only andshouldnot take the place of a thoroughreview of pertinent statutes,
consultation with legal counsel, or other specific guidance on this subject.

Legal Distinction - Maine law recognizes four kinds of ethical dilemmas in municipal government: conflict of interest,
incompatibility of office, prohibited appointments or employment, and bias (see “State Law and Ethics,” Maine Townsman,
July 1990,); conflict of interest is only one type of ethical dilemma, although the term “conflict of interest™ is sometimes used
generically (and incorrectly) torefer to all four. A conflict of interest, strictly speaking, exists where an official has a personal
pecuniary (financial) interest in amatter of official business. Incompatibility of office is present where the same person cannot
hold two public offices, by virtue of their respective and conflicting duties, simultaneously no matter how dedicated or
financially disinterested. Prohibited appointments or employment is paid positions, which are barred to the municipal officers
{selectpersons or Beardors) because they either created the positions or increased the positions’ compensation. Bias occurs
where an official, due to prejudice or a familial relationship with the applicant, is unable to make a fair and impartial decision
in a matter requiring objectivity (i.e., a “quasi-judicial” proceeding). These distinctions are important because the
circumstances under which an ethical problem may arise, and the legal consequences that may result ifit is ignored or handled
improperly, can vary widely depending on which type of problem itis.

Appearances- The basic rationale for regulation of ethics among municipal officials is to foster and preserve public trust in the
fundamental integrity of local government. Even where an official’s conduct may not be legally proscribed, personal
relationships or competing interests may create an appearance of impropriety sufficient to undermine public confidence in the
fairness and honesty of local officials. State law (30-A M.R.8.A. § 2605(6)) therefore encourages officials to avoid the
appearance of a conflict of interest by disclosure or by abstention in suchcases.

Local Ethics Policies- State law (30-A M.R.S.A. § 2605(7)) authorizes the municipal officers to adopt an ethics policy
governing local officials. Some municipalities have found this to be an effective method for dealing with ethical dilemmas le ft
unresolved by other law. (For a good example, see the Town of Bangor’s “Code of Ethics,”.) A municipality also may adopt a
charter provision that authorizes the municipal officers to reprimand one of its own members for violating the municipal
charter. (See Monroe v. Town of Gray, 1999 ME 190, 743 A2d 1257).

Who Decides- Ultimately, of course, only a court can determine whether an official has violated an ethical restriction and, if
so, what penalties or consequences may follow. However, the numerous statutes and cases can serve as a guide to local
officials inresolving their own specific ethical dilemumas. In addition, certain moral principles may apply (see “Ethics: More
than Just a Set of Rules, Maine Townsman, July 1990). In the absence oflocal charter, ordinance or bylaw provisions to the
contrary, it is generally recognized that a

majority of a board (not including the member whose participation is in question) may determine whether a member has a
disqualifying ethical problem.

Date of last vevision: 7/02

However, the statutes referenced here may have been amended during the last legislative session, and we will update them
when the text becomes available.

43




APPENDIX E
Public Records and Proceedings — Freedom of Access Law — 2011

www.maine.gov/foaa/law/

Please note: This packet is intended for general information purposes only and should not take the place of a thorough review of pertinent
statutes, consultation with legal counsel, or other specific guidance on this subject.

Maine Revised Statutes

Maine Freedom of Access Law
Title 1: General Provisions, Chapter 13: Public Records and Proceedings

Subchapter 1: FREEDOM OF ACCESS

§400. SHORT TITLE
This subchapter may be known and cited as "the Freedom of Access Act." [2011, ¢. 662, §1 (NEW).] SECTION HISTORY
2011, c. 662, §1 (NEW).

§401. DECLARATION OF PUBLIC POLICY; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION
The Legislature finds and declares that public proceedings exist to aid in the conduct of the people's business. It is the intent

of the Legislature that their actions be taken openly and that the records of their actions be open to public inspection and
their deliberations be conducted openly. It is further the intent of the Legislature that clandestine meetings, conferences or
meetings held on private property without proper notice and ample opportunity for attendance by the public not be used to
defeat the purposes of this subchapter. [1973, c. 758, (RPR).]

This subchapter does not prohibit communications outside of public proceedings between members of a public body unless
those communications are used to defeat the purposes of this subchapter. [2011, ¢. 320, Pt. B, §1 (NEW).]

This subchapter shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies as contained in the
declaration of legislative intent. [1975, c. 758, (RPR).]

SECTION HISTORY 1975, c. 483, §1 (AMD). 1975, c. 758, (RPR). 2011, c. 320, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).

§402. DEFINITIONS
1. Conditional approval. Approval of an application or granting of a license, certificate or any other type of permit upon

conditions not otherwise specifically required by the statute, ordinance or regulation pursuant to which the approval or
granting is issued.
[ 1975, c. 758, (NEW).]

1-A. Legislative subcommittee. "Legislative subcommittee” means 3 or more Legislators from a legislative committee

appointed for the purpose of conducting legislative business on behalf of the committee.
[ 1991, ¢. 773, §1 (NEW).]

2. Public proceedings. The term "public proceedings" as used in this subchapter means the transactions of any functions
affecting any or all citizens of the State by any of the following:

A. The Legislature of Maine and its committees and subcommittees; [1973, c. 758, (NEW).]

B. Any board or commission of any state agency or authority, the Board of Trustees of the University of Maine
System and any of'its committees and subcommittees, the Board of Trustees of the Maine Maritime Academy and
any of its committees and subcommittees, the Board of Trustees of the Maine Community College System and any
ofits committees and subcommittees; [ 1989, ¢. 358, §1 (AMD); 1989, ¢. 443, §1 (AMD); 1989, ¢c. 878, Pt. A, §1

A4



{RPR}; 2003, ¢. 20, Pt. 00, §2 (AMD); 2003, c. 20, Pt. OO0, §4 (AFF).]
C. Any board, commission, agency or authority of any county, municipality, school district or any regional or other
political or administrative subdivision; [1991, ¢. 848, §1(AMD).]

D. The full membership meetings of any association, the membership of which is composed exclusively of
counties,municipalities, school administrative units orother political oradministrative subdivisions; of
boards, commissions, agencies or anthorities of any such subdivisions; or of any combination of any of
these entities; [1995, ¢. 608, §1 (AMD).]

E. The board of directors of a nonprofit, nonstock private corporation that provides statewide noncommercial public
broadcasting services and any of its committees and subcommittees; [2009, c. 334,

§1 (AMD).]

F. Anyadvisoryorganization, including any authority, board, commission, committee, Board, task force or similar
organization of an advisory nature, established, authorized or organized by law or resolve or by Executive Order
issued by the Governor and not otherwise covered by this subsection, unless the law, resolve or Executive Order
establishing, authorizing or organizing the advisory organization specifically exempts the organization from the
application of this subchapter; and [2009, ¢. 334, §2 (AMD).]

G. The committee meetings, subcommittee meetings and full membership meetings of any association that:
() Promotes, organizes or regulates statewide interscholastic activities in public schools or in both public and

private schools; and
(2} Receives its funding from the public and private school members, either through membership dues or fees
collected from those schools based on the number of participants of those schools in interscholastic activities.
This paragraph applies to only those meetings pertaining to interscholastic sports and does not apply to any meeting or
any portion of any meeting the subject of which is limited to personnel issues, allegations of interscholastic athletic rule
violations by member schools, administrators, coaches or student athletes or the eligibility of an individual student
athlete or coach. [2009, c. 334, §3 (NEW).]

{2009, c. 334, §§1-3 (AMD)]

3

Public records. The term "public records" means any written, printed or graphic matter or any mechanical or electronic
data compilation from which information can be obtained, directly or after translation into a form susceptible of visual
or aural comprehension, that is in the possession or custody of an agency or public official of this State or any of its
political subdivisions, or is in the possession or custody of an association, the membership of which is composed
exclusively of one or more of any of these entities, and has been received or prepared for use in connection with the
transaction of public or governmental business or contains information relating to the transaction of public or
governmental business, except:

A. Records that have been designated confidential by statute; [19735, ¢. 758, (NEW).]

B. Records that would be within the scope of a privilege against discovery or use as evidence recognized by the courts
of this State in civil or criminal trials if the records or inspection thereof were sought in the course of a court
proceeding; [1975, ¢, 758, (NEW).]

C. Legislative papersand reportsuntil signed and publicly distributed inaccordance withlegislative rules, and records,
working papers, drafts and interoffice and intra-office memoranda used or maintained by any Legislator, legislative
agency or legislative employee to prepare proposed Senate or House papers or reports for consideration by the
Legislature or any of its committees during the legislative session or sessions in which the papers or reports are
prepared or considered or to which the paper or report is carried over; [1991, ¢. 773, §2 (AMD).]

C-1. Information contained in a communication between a constituent and an elected official if the information:

(1) Is of a personal nature, consisting of:
(b} Anindividual's medical information of any kind, including information pertaining to diagnosis or treatment
of mental or emotional disorders;
(¢) Credit or financial information;

45




1L

(d} Information pertaining to the personal history, general character or conduct of the constituent or any
member of the constituent’s immediate family;
(e} Complaints, charges of misconduct, replies to complaints or charges of misconduct or memoranda or other
materials pertaining to disciplinary action; or

()  Anindividual's social security number; or
(2 Would be confidential if it were in the possession of another public agency or official; [2011, c. 264,

§1 (NEW).]
Material prepared for and used specifically and exclusively in preparation for negotiations, including the
development of bargaining proposals to be made and the analysis of proposals received, by a public employer in
collective bargaining with its employees and their designated representatives; [1989, c. 358,
§4 (AMD).]
Records, working papers, interoffice and intra-office memoranda used by or prepared for faculty and administrative
committees of the Maine Maritime Academy, the Maine Community College System and the University of Maine
System. The provisions of this paragraph do not apply to the boards of trustees and the committees and
subcommittees of those boards, which are referred to in subsection 2, paragraph B; [1989, c. 358, §4 (AMD); 1989,
c. 443, §2 (AMDY); 1989, c. 878, Pt. A, §2 (RPR); 2003, ¢. 20, Pt. OO0,
§2 (AMD); 2003, ¢. 20, Pt. OO, §4 (AFF).]
Records that would be confidential if they were in the possession or custody of an agency or public official of the
State or any of its political or administrative subdivisions are confidential if those records are in the possession of
an association, the membership of which is composed exclusively of one or more political or administrative
subdivisions of the State; of boards, commissions, agencies or authorities of any such subdivisions; or of any
combination of any of these entities; [1991, <. 448, §1(AMD).]

. Materials related to the development of positions on legislation or materials that are related to insurance or

insurance-like protection or services which are in the possession of an association, the membership of which is
composed exclusively of one or more political or administrative subdivisions of the State; ofboards, commissions,
agencies or authorities of any such subdivisions; or of any combination of any of these entities; [1991, ¢. 448, §1
{AMD).

Medical records and reports of municipal ambulance and rescue units and other emergency medical service units,
except that such records and reports must be available upon request to law enforcement officers investigating
criminal conduct; [1995, c. 608, §4 (AMD).]

Juvenilerecords andreports of municipal fire departments regarding the investigation and family background of a
juvenile fire setter; [1999, ¢, 96, §1 (AMD).]

Working papers, including records, drafts and interoffice and intra-office memoranda, used or maintained by any
advisory organization covered by subsection 2, paragraph F, or any member or staff of that organization during the
existence of the advisory organization. Working papers are public records if distributed by amember or in a public
meeting of the advisory organization; [2001, ¢. 673, §1 (AMD).]

Personally identifying information concerning minors that is obtained or maintained by amunicipality in providing
recreational or non-mandatory educational programs or services, ifthe municipality has enacted an ordinance that
specifies the circumstances in which the information will be withheld from disclosure. This paragraph does not
apply torecords governed by Title 20-A, section 6001 and does not supersede Title 20-A, section 6001-A; [2003, ¢.
392, §1 (AMD).]

. Recordsdescribing security plans, security procedures or risk assessments prepared specifically for the purpose of

preventing or preparing for acts of terrorism, but only to the extent that release of information contained in the
record could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the physical safety of government personnel or the public.
Information contained in records covered by this paragraph may be disclosed to the Legislature or, in the case of a
political or administrative subdivision, to municipal officials or board members under conditions that protect the
information from further disclosure. For purposes of this paragraph, "terrorism" means conduct that is designed to

46




M.

cause serious bodily injury or substantial risk of bodily injury to multiple persons, substantial damage to multiple
structures whether occupied or unoccupied or substantial physical damage sufficient to disrupt the normal
functioning of a critical infrastructure; [2003, ¢. 614, §1 (AMD).]

Records or information describing the architecture, design, access authentication, encryption or security of
informationtechnology infrastructure, systems and software. Records or information covered by this paragraph
may be disclosed to the Legislature or, in the case of a political or administrative subdivision, to
municipal officials or board members under conditions that protect the information from further
disclosure; [2011, ¢. 662, §2 {AMD).]

Social security numbers; [2011, ¢. 320, Pt. E, §1(AMD).]
Personal contact information concerning public employees, except when that information is public pursuant to

other law. For the purposes of this paragraph:

(1) "Personal contact information" means home address, home telephone number, home facsimile number, home
e-mail address and personal cellular telephone number and personal pager number; and

(2) "Publicemployee” meansan employee as defined in Title 14, section 8102, subsection I, except that "public
employee" does not include elected officials; [2009, c. 1, §1 (COR).]

Geographic information regarding recreational trails that are located on private land that are authorized voluntarily

as such by the landowner with no public deed or guaranteed right of public access, unless the landowner authorizes

the release of the information; [2011, c. 149, §1 (AMD).]

(Paragraph P as enacted by PL 2009, c. 339, §3 isREALLOCATED TO TITLE 1, SECTION 402, SUBSECTION 3,
PARAGRAPH Q)

Q.

(REALLOCATED FROM T. 1, §402, sub-§3) Security plans, staffing plans, security procedures, architectural
drawings or risk assessments prepared for emergency events that are prepared for or by or kept in the custody of
the Department of Corrections or a county jail if there is a reasonable possibility that public release or inspection of
the records would endanger the life or physical safety of any individual or disclose security plans and procedures
not generally known by the general public. Information contained in records covered by this paragraph may be
disclosed to state and county officials if necessary to carry out the duties of the officials, the Department of
Corrections or members of the State Board of Corrections under conditions that protect the information from
further disclosure; [2013, c. 339, §1 (AMD).]

Social security numbers in the possession of the Secretary of State; and [2013, ¢. 339, §2 (AMD).]
E-mail addresses obtained by a political subdivision of the State for the sole purpose of disseminating non

interactive notifications, updates and cancellations that are issued from the political subdivision or its elected
officerstoan individual or individuals that request orregularly acceptthese non-interactive communications, [2013,
¢. 339, §3 (NEW).]

[2013, ¢. 339, §§1-3 (AMD)]

3-A. Public records further defined. "Public records" also includes the following criminal justice agency records:

Al

B.

Records relating to prisoner furloughs to the extent they pertain to a prisoner's identity, public criminal history
record information, as defined in Title 16, section 703, subsection 8, address of furlough and dates of furlough;
[2013, c. 267, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

Records relating to out-of-state adult probationer or parolee supervision to the extent they pertain to a
probationer’s or parolee's identity, public criminal history record information, as defined in Title 16, section 703,
subsection 8, address of residence and dates of supervision; and [2013, ¢. 267, Pt. B, §1 {AMD).]

Recordsto the extent they pertain to a prisonet's, adult probationer's or parolee’s identity, public criminal history
record information, as defined in Title 16, section 703, subsection 8, and current address or location, unless the
Commisstoner of Corrections determines that it would be detrimental to the welfare of a client to disclose the
information. [2013, ¢. 267, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

[ 2013, c. 267, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

47




4. Public records of interscholastic athletic organizations. Any records or

minutes of meetings under subsection 2, paragraph G are public records.
[ 2009, c. 334, §4 (NEW).]

5. Public access officer. "Public access officer" means the person designated pursuant to
section 413, subsection 1.

[ 2011, c. 662, §3 (NEW).]

6. Reasonable office hours. "Reasonable office hours” includes all regular office hours of an agency or official. [ 2011, c.

662, §3 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
1973, c. 433, §1 (AMD). 1975, c. 243, (RPR). 1975, c. 483, §2 (AMD). 1975, c. 758, (RPR). 1977, ¢. 164, §§1,2 (AMD).
1977, ¢. 696, §9 (AMD). 1985, c. 695, §§1,2 (AMD). 1985, c. 779, §81,2 (AMD). 1987, ¢. 20, §1 (AMD). 1987, ¢. 402,
$AI (AMD). 1987, c. 477, §1 (AMD). 1989, c. 358, §§1-4 (AMD). 1989, c. 443, §§1,2 (AMD). 1989, c. 878, $841,2
(AMD). 1991, c. 448, §§1,2 (AMD). 1991, c. 773, §§1,2 (AMD). 1991, c. 848, §1 (AMD). 1995, c. 608, §§1-5 (AMD),
1997, ¢. 714, §1(AMD). 1999, c. 96, §§1-3 (AMD). 2001, . 477, §1 (AMD). 2001, c. 675, §§1-3 (AMD). 2003, ¢. 20,
$O02(AMD). 2003, c. 20, §O04 (AFF). 2003, c. 392, §§1-3 (AMD). 2003, c. 614, §§1-3 (AMD). 2005, ¢. 381, §§1-3

(AMD). 2007, ¢. 597, §1 (AMD). RR 2009, c. 1, §§1-3 (COR). 2009, c. 176, §§1-3 (AMD). 2009, ¢. 334, §§1-4 (AMD).
2009, c. 339, §§1-3 (AMD). 2011, c. 149, §§1-3 (AMD). 2011, c. 264, §1 (AMD). 2011, ¢. 320, Pt. E, §1 (AMD). 2011, c.
662, §§2, 3 (AMD). 2013, . 267, Pt. B, §1 (AMD). 2013, ¢. 339, §§1-3 (AMD).

§402-A. PUBLIC RECORDS DEFINED
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
1975, c. 483, §3 (NEW). 1975, c. 623, §1 (RPR). 1975, c. 758, (RP).

§403. MEETINGS TO BE OPEN TO PUBLIC; RECORD OF MEETINGS

L Proceedings open to public. Except as otherwise provided by statute or by section 405, all public proceedings must be

open to the public and any person must be permitted to attend a public proceeding.
[2011, ¢. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).]

2. Record of public proceedings. Unless otherwise provided by law, a record of each public proceeding for which notice
is required under section 406 must be made within a reascnable period of time after the proceeding and must be open to
public inspection. At a minimum, the record must include:

A. The date, time and place of the public proceeding; [2011, ¢. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).]

B, The members of the body holding the public proceeding recorded as either present or absent; and [2011, ¢. 320, Pt.
C, §1 (NEW).]

C. All motions and votes taken, by individual member, if there isaroll call. [2011, ¢. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).] [2011,¢c.

320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).]

3. Audioorvideo recording. An audio, video or other electronic recording of a public proceeding satisfies the
requirements of subsection 2.
[2011, c. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW}.]

4. Maintenance of record, Record management requirements and retention schedules adopted under Title 5, chapter 6
apply to records required under this section.
[2011, ¢. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).]

5. Validity of action. The validity of any action taken in a public proceeding is not affected by the failure to make or
48




maintain a record as required by this section.
[2011, c. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).]

6. Advisory bodies exempt from record requirements. Subsection 2 doesnot apply to advisory bodies that make
recommendations but have no decision-making authority.

[ 2011, c. 320, Pt. C, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

1969, c. 293, (AMD). 1975, c. 422, §1 (AMD). 1975, c. 758, (RPR}. 2009, c. 240, §1 (AMD). 2¢11, ¢. 320, Pt. C, §1 (RPR).

§404. RECORDED OR LIVE BROADCASTS AUTHORIZED
It order to facilitate the public policy so declared by the Legislature of opening the public’s business to public scrutiny, all

persons shall be entitled to attend public proceedings and to make written, taped or filmed records of the proceedings, or to
live broadcast the same, provided the writing, taping, filming or broadcasting does not interfere with the orderly conduct of
proceedings. The body or agency holding the public proceedings may makereasonable rules and regulations governing these
activities, so long as these rules or regulations do not defeat the purpose of this subchapter. [1975, ¢. 758, (RPR).]

SECTION HISTORY
1975, c. 422, §2 (RPR). 1975, c. 483, $4 (AMD). 1975, c. 758, (RPR).

§404-A. DECISIONS
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
1973, c. 433, §2 (NEW). 1973, c. 704, §§1,2 (AMD). 1975, ¢. 758, (RP).

§405. EXECUTIVE SESSIONS
Those bodies or agencies falling within this subchapter may hold executive sessions subject to the following conditions. [ 1975,
c. 758, (INEW).]

1. Not to defeat purposes of subchapter. An executive session may not be used to defeat the purposes of this
subchapter as stated in section 401,
[ 2009, c. 240, §2 (AMD).]

2. Finalapproval of certain items prohibited. An ordinance, order, rule, resolution, regulation, contract, appointment or

other official action may not be finally approved at an executive session,
[ 2009, c. 240, §2 (AMD).]

3. Procedure for calling of executive session. An executive session may be catled only by a public, recorded vote of 3/5

of the members, present and voting, of such bodies oragencies.
{ 2009, c. 240, §2 (AMD).]

4. Motion contents. A motion to go into executive session must indicate the precise nature of the business of the
executive session and include a citation of one or more sources of statutory or other authority that permits an executive
session for that business. Failure to state all authorities justifying the executive session does not constitute a violation of
this subchapter if one or more of the authorities are accurately cited in the motion. An inaccurate citation of authority
for an executive session does not violate this subchapter if valid authority that permits the executive session exists and

the failure to cite the valid authority was inadvertent.
[ 2003, ¢. 709, §1 (AMD).]

5. Matters not contained in motion prohibited. Matters other than those identified in the motion to go into executive
session may not be considered in that particular executive session.

49




[ 2009, ¢. 240, §2 (AMD).]

6. Permitted deliberation. Deliberations on only the following matters may be conducted during an executive session:

A.

Discussion or consideration of the employment, appointment, assignment, duties, promotion, demotion,
compensation, evalvation, disciplining, resignation or dismissal of an individua! or group of public officials,
appointees or employees of the body or agency or the investigation or hearing of charges or complaints against a

person or persons subject to the following conditions:

(1) Anexecutive sessionmay be held only if public discussion could be reasonably expected to cause damage to the
individual's reputation or the individual's right to privacy would be violated;

{2y Any person charged or investigated must be permitted to be present at an executive session if that person so
desires;

{3) Any personcharged or investigated may request in writing that the investigation or hearing of charges or
complaints against that person be conducted in open session. A request, if made to the agency, must be
honored; and

(4) Anypersonbringing charges, complaints orallegations ofmisconductagainst the individualunder discussion
must be permitted to be present.

This paragraph does not apply to discussion of a budget or budget proposal; [2009, c. 240, §2 (AMD).]

B.

H.

Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension or expulsion of a public school student or a student at

a private school, the cost of whose education is paid from public funds, as long as;

(1) The student and legal counsel and, if the student is a minor, the student’s parents or legal guardians are
permitted to be present at an executive session if the student, parents or gnardians so desire; [2009, c. 240, §2
(AMD) ]

Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently

attached to real property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only

if premature disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or
agency; [1987, c. 477, §3 (AMD).]

. Discussion of labor contracts and proposals and meetings between a public agency and its negotiators. The parties

must be named before the body or agency may go into executive session. Negotiations between the representatives
of a public employer and public employees may be open to the public if both parties agree to conduct negotiations
in open sessions; [1999, ¢. 144, §1 (RPR).]

Consultations between a body or agency and its attorney concerning the legal rights and duties of the body or
agency, pending or contemplated litigation, settlement offers and matters where the duties of the public body's or
agency's counsel to the attorney's client pursuant to the code of professional responsibility clearly conflict with this
subchapter or where premature general public knowledge would clearly place the State, municipality or other public
agency or person at a substantial disadvantage; [2009, ¢, 240, §2 (AMD).]

Discussions of information contained inrecords made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by
the general public to those records is prohibited by statute; [1999, ¢. 180, §1 (AMD).]

Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting
or employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services
to that body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person
examined; and [1999, c. 180, §2 (AMD).]

Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to
Title 30-A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph C in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District
Court when the consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter. [1999, ¢. 180, §3 (NEW).]

[ 2009, c. 240, §2 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

50




1975, . 758, (RPR). 1979, c. 541, §43 (AMD). 1987, c. 477, §§2,3 (AMD). 1987, c. 769, §AI (AMD). 1999, ¢. 40, §§1,2
(AMD). 1999, c. 144, §1 (AMD). 1999, ¢. 180, §§1-3 (AMD). 2003, c. 709, §1 (AMD). 2009, ¢. 240, §2 (AMD).

§405-A. RECORDED OR LIVE BROADCASTS AUTHORIZED
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
1975, ¢. 483, §5 (NEW). 1975, ¢. 758, (RP).

§405-B. APPEALS
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
1975, . 483, §5 (NEW). 1975, c. 758, (RP).

§405-C. APPEALS FROM ACTIONS
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
1975, c. 483, §5 (NEW). 1975, c. 758, (RP).

§406. PUBLIC NOTICE

Public notice shall be given for all public proceedings as defined in section 402, if these proceedings are ameeting of abody
or agency consisting of 3 or more persons. This notice shall be given in ample time to allow public attendance and shall be
disseminated in a manner reasonably calculated to notify the general public in the jurisdiction served by the body or agency
concerned. In the event of an emergency meeting, local representatives of the media shall be notifted of the meeting,
whenever practical, the notification to include time and location, by the same or faster means used to notify the members of
the agency conducting the public proceeding. [1987, c. 477, §4(AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
1975, ¢. 483, §6 (AMD). 1975, ¢. 758, (RPR). 1987, c. 477, §4 (AMD).

§407. DECISIONS
1. Conditional approval or denial. Every agency shall make a written record of every decision involving the conditional

approval or denial of an application, license, certificate or'any other type of permit. The agency shall set forth in the
record the reason or reasons for its decision and make finding of the fact, in writing, sufficient to appraise the applicant
and any interested member of the public of the basis for the decision. A writtenrecord or a copy thereof shall be kept by

the agency and made available to any interested member of the public who may wish to review it.
[ 1975, c. 758, (NEW).]

2. Dismissal or refusal to renew contract. Every agency shall make a written record of every decision involving the
dismissal or the refusal to renew the contract of any public official, employee or appointee. The agency shall, except in
case of probationary employees, set forth in the record the reason or reasons for its decision and make findings of fact,
in writing, sufficient to apprise the individual concerned and any interested member of the public of the basis for the
decision. A written record or a copy thereof must be kept by the agency and made available to any interested member of

the public who may wish to review it.
[ 2009, ¢. 240, §3 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
1975, ¢. 758, (NEW). 2009, ¢. 240, §3 (AMD).

§408. PUBLIC RECORDS AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION AND COPYING

51




(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
1975, ¢. 758, (NEIF). 2003, c. 709, §2 (RPR). 2007, c. 501, §1 (AMD). 2009, ¢. 240, §4 (AMD}. 2011, ¢. 662, §4 (RP).

§408-A. PUBLIC RECORDS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION AND COPYING
Except as otherwise provided by statute, a person has the right to inspect and copy any public record in accordance with this

section within a reasonable time of making the request to inspect or copy the public record, [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]
1. Inspect. A personmay inspect any public record during reasonable office hours. An agency or official may not charge a
fee for inspection unless the public record cannot be inspected without being converted or compiled, in which case the

agency or official may charge a fee as provided in subsection 8.
[2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

2. Copy. A person may copy apublic record in the oftice of the agency or official having custody of the public record during
reasonable office hours or may request that the agency or official having custody of the record provide a copy. The agency
or official may charge a fee for copies as provided in subsection 8.

A. A request need not be made in person or in writing. [2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW),]
B. The agency or official shall mail the copy upon request. [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).][ 2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW)}.]

3. Acknowledgment; clarification; time estimate; costestimate. The agency or official having custody or control of a public
record shall acknowledge receipt of a request made according to this section within 5 working days of receiving the
request and may request clarification concerning which public record or public records are being requested. Within a
reasonable time of receiving the request, the agency or official shall provide a good faith, nonbinding estimate of the
time within which the agency or official wilt comply with the request, as well as a cost estimate as provided in subsection

9. The agency or official shall make a good faith effort to fully respond to the request within the estimated time,
[2013, c. 350, §1 (AMD.]

4. Refusals; denials. Ifabody or an agency or official having custody or control of any public record refuses permission
to inspect or copy or abstract a public record, the body or agency or official shall provide written notice of the denial,
stating the reason for the denial, within 5 working days of the receipt of the request for inspection or copying. Failure to
comply with this subsection is considered failure to allow inspection or copying and is subject to appeal as provided in
section 409.

[ 2013, ¢. 350, §2 (AMD).]

5. Schedule. Inspection, conversion pursuant to subsection 7 and copying of a public record subject to a request under this
section may be scheduled to occur at a time that will not delay or inconvenience the regular activities of the agency or
official having custody or control of the public record requested. If the agency or official does not have regular office
hours, the name and telephone number of a contact person authorized to provide access to the agency's or official's records
must be posted in a conspicuous public place and at the office of the agency or official, if an office exists.

[2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

6. Norequirement to create new record. An agency or official is not required to create a record that does not exist,

[2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

7. Electronically stored public records. An agency or official having custody or control of a public record subject to a
request under this section shall provide access to an electronically stored public record either as a printed document of
the public record or in the medium in which the record is stored, at the requester's option, except that the agency or
ofticial is not required to provide access to an electronically stored public record as a computer file if the agency or
official does not have the ability to separate or prevent the disclosure of confidential information contained in or
associated with that file.

A. Ifin order to provide access to an electronically stored public record the agency or official converts the record into a
52




form susceptible of visual or aural comprehension or into a usable format for inspection or copying, the agency or
official may charge a fee to cover the cost of conversion as provided in subsection 8. [2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

B. This subsection does not require an agency or official to provide a requester with access to a computer terminal.
[2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]
[2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]

8 Paymentof costs. Except as otherwise specifically provided by law or court order, an agency or official having custody
of a public record may charge fees for public records as follows.

A. The agency or official may charge a reasonable fee to cover the cost of copying, [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]

B. The agency or official may charge a fee to cover the actual cost of searching for, retrieving and compiling the
requested public record of not more than $15 per hour after the first hour of staff time per request. Compiling the
public record includes reviewing and redacting confidential information. [2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

C. The ageney or official may charge for the actual cost to convert a public record into a form susceptible of visual or
aural comprehension or into a usable format. [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]

D. Anagency or official may not charge for inspection unless the public record cannot be inspected without being
compiled or converted, in which case paragraph B or C applies. [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]

E. The agency or official may charge for the actual mailing costs tomail a copy of arecord. [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]
[ 2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

9. Estimate. The agency or official having custody or control of a public record subject to a request under this section
shall provide to the requester an estimate of the time necessary to complete the request and of the total cost as provided
by subsection 8. If the estimate of the total cost is greater than $30, the agency or official shall inform the requester

before proceeding. If the estimate of the total cost is greater than $100, subsection 10 applies.
[ 2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

. Paymentin advance. The agency or official having custody or control of a public record subject to a request under this
section may require a requester to pay all or a portion of the estimated costs to complete the request prior to the search,
refrieval, compiling, conversion and copying of the public record if:

A. The estimated total cost exceeds $100; or [2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]
B. Therequester has previously failed to pay a properly assessed fee under this chapter in a timely manner. [2011, c.
662, §5 (NEW).]

[ 2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

1. Waivers. The agency or official having custody or control of a public record subject to arequest under this section may
waive part or all of the total fee charged pursuant to subsection if:

A. The requester is indigent; or [2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW).]
B. The agency or official considers release of the public record requested to be in the public interest because doing so
islikely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of government and is not

primarily in the commercial interest of the requester. [2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]
[2011, c. 662, §5 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
2011, ¢. 662, §5 (NEW). 2013, c. 350, $81, 2 (AMD).

§409. APPEALS

L. Records. Any person aggrieved by arefusal or denial to inspect or copy a record or the failure to allow the inspection or
copying ofa record under section 408-A may appeal the refusal, denial or failure within 30 calendar days of the receipt of
the written notice of refusal, denial or failure to any Superior Court within the State as a trial de novo. The agency or
official shall file an answer within 14 calendar days,. If a court, after a trial de novo, determines such refusal, denial or
failure was not for just and proper cause, the court shall enter an order for disclosure. Appeals may be advanced on the

53




docket and receive priority over other cases when the court determines that the interests of justice so require,
[ 2013, ¢. 350, §3 (RPR).]

2. Actions. Ifanybody oragency approves any ordinances, orders, rules, resolutions, regulations, contracts, appointments
or other official action in an executive session, this action is illegal and the officials responsible are subject to the

penalties hereinafter provided. Upon learning of any such action, any person may appeal to any Superior Court in the
State, Ifa court, after a trial de novo, determines this action was taken illegally in an executive session, it shall enter an
order providing for the action to be null and void. Appeals may be advanced on the docket and receive priority over

other cases when the court determines that the interests of justice sorequire,
[2011, c. 559, Pt. A, §2 (AMD).]

3. Proceedings not exclusive. The proceedings authorized by this section are not exclusive of any other civil remedy
provided by law.
[ 2009, c. 240, §6 (AMD).]

4. Attorney’s fees. In an appeal under subsection 1 or 2, the court may award reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation
expenses to the substantially prevailing plaintiff who appealed the refusal under subsection 1 or the illegal action under
subsection 2 if the court determines that the refusal or illegal action was committed in bad faith. Attorney’s fees and
litigation costs may not be awarded to or against a federally recognized Indian tribe.

This subsection applies to appeals under subsection 1 or 2 filed on or after January 1, 2010. [ 2009, c. 423, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
1975, c. 758, (NEW). 1987, c. 477, §5 (AMD). 2007, c. 695, Pt. C, §1 (AMD). 2009, c. 240, §§5, 6 (AMD). 2009, ¢. 423,
$1(AMD). 2011, c. 559, Pt. 4, §§1, 2 (AMD). 2011, c. 662, §6 (AMD). 2013, ¢. 350, §3 (AMD).

§410. VIOLATIONS

Forevery willful violation of thissubchapter, the state governmentagency or local government entity whose officer oremployee
committed the violation shall be liable fora civil violation for which a forfeiture of not more than $500 may be adjudged. [1987,
¢. 477, §6 (RPR).]

SECTION HISTORY
1975, c. 758, (NEW). 1987, c. 477, §6 (RPR).

§411. RIGHT TO KNOW ADVISORY COMMITTEE

1. Advisory committee established. The Right to Know Advisory Committee, referred to in this chapter as "the advisory
committee," is established to serve as a resource for ensuring compliance with this chapter and upholding the integrity of

the purposes underlying this chapter as it applies to all public entities in the conduct of the public's business.
[ 2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

2. Membership. The advisory committee consists of the following members:
A. One Senator who is a member of the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary
matters, appointed by the President of the Senate; [2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]
B. One member of the House of Representatives who is a member of the joint standing committee of the Legislature
having jurisdiction over judiciary matters, appointed by the Speaker of the House; [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

C. One representative of municipal interests, appointed by the Governor; [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]
D. One representative of county orregional interests, appointed by the President of the Senate; [2005, ¢. 631, §1

(NEW)]
E. One representative of school interests, appointed by the Governor; [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]
54




F. One representative of law enforcement interests, appointed by the President of the Senate; [2005, ¢. 631,
§1 (NEW).]
G. One representative of the interests of State Government, appointed by the Governor; [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

I One representative of a statewide coalition of advocates of freedom of access, appointed by the Speaker of the
House; [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

I One representative of newspaper and other press interests, appointed by the President of the Senate; [2005, ¢. 631
§1 (NEW).]

2. One representative of newspaper publishers, appointed by the Speaker of the House; [2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

K. Tworepresentatives of broadcasting interests, one appointed by the President of the Senate and one appointed by
the Speaker of the House; [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

L. Two representatives of the public, one appointed by the President of the Senate and one appointed by the Speaker
of the House; and [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

M. The Attorney General or the Attormey General's designee. [2005,¢. 631, §1 (NEW).] The advisory committee shall
invite the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court to designate a member of the judicial branch to serve as a

member of the committee,
[ 2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW) ]

3

3. Terms of appointment. The terms of appointment are as follows.
A. Except as provided in paragraph B, members are appointed for terms of 3 years. [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]
B. Members who are Legislators are appointed for the duration of the legislative terms of office in which they were
appointed. [2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]
C. Members may serve beyond their designated terms until their successors are appointed. [2005, ¢, 631,§1 (NEW).]

[ 2005, ¢c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

4. First meeting; chair. The Executive Director of the Legislative Board shall call the first meeting of the advisory
committee as soon as funding permits. At the first meeting, the advisory committee shall select a chair from among its
members and may select a new chair annually.

[ 2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

5. Meetings. The advisory committee may meet as often as necessary but not fewer than 4 times a year. A meeting may be
called by the chair or by any 4 members.
[ 2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

6. Duties and powers, The advisory committee:

A. Shall provide guidance in ensuring access to public records and proceedings and help to establish an effective
process to address general compliance issues and respond to requests for interpretation and clarification of the laws;
[2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

B. Shall serve as the centrat source and coordinator of information about the freedom of access laws and the people's
right to know. The advisory committee shall provide the basic information about the requirements of the law and
the bestpractices for agencies and public officials. The advisory committee shall also provide general information
about the freedom of access laws for a wider and deeper understanding of citizens' rights and their role in open
government. The advisory committee shall coordinate the education efforts by providing information about the
freedom of access laws and whom to contact for specific inquiries; [2005, ¢. 2, §1 (COR).]

C. Shallserve as aresource to support the establishment and maintenance of a central publicly accessible website that
provides the text of the freedom of access laws and provides specific guidance on how a member of the public can
use the law to be a better informed and active participant in open government. The website must include the
contact information for agencies, as well as whom to contact with complaints and concerns. The website must also
include, or contain a link to, a list of statutory exceptions to the public records laws; [2005, ¢. 2, §1 (COR).]

D. Shallserve asaresource to support training and education about the freedom of access laws. Although each agency

55




is responsible for training for the specific records and meetings pertaining to that agency's mission, the advisory
committee shall provide core resources for the training, share best practices experiences and support the
establishmentand maintenance of enline training as well as written question- and-answer summaries about specific
topics. The advisory committee shall recommend a process for collecting the training completion records required

under section 412, subsection 3 and for making that information publicly available; [2007, ¢. 576, §1 (AMD).]

L. Shallserve as aresource for the review committee under subchapter 1-A in examining public records exceptions in
both existing laws and in proposed legislation; {2003, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

F. Shallexamine inconsistencies in statutory language and may recommend standardized language in the statutes to
clearly delineate what information is not public and the circumstances under which that information may
appropriately be released; [2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

G. May make recommendations for changes in the statutes to improve the laws and may make recommendations to
the Governor, the Legislature, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court and local and regional governmental
entities with regard to best practices in providing the public access to records and proceedings and to maintain the
integrity of the freedom of access laws and their underlying principles. The joint standing committee of the
Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary matters may report out legislation based on the advisory committee’s
recommendations; [2005, c¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]

H. Shallserve asanadvisertothe Legislature whenlegislationaffecting public accessisconsidered; [2005,¢.631, §1
(NEW) ]

L May conduct public hearings, conferences, workshops and other meetings to obtain information about, discuss,
publicize the needs of and consider solutions to problems concerning access to public proceedings and records;
[2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW) ]

J. Shall review the collection, maintenance and use of records by agencies and officials to ensure that confidential

records and information are protected and public records remain accessible to the public; and [2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]
K. Mayundertake other activities consistent with itslistedresponsibilities. [2005, ¢. 631, §1 (NEW).]
[ 2007, c. 576, §1 (AMD).]

7. Outside funding for advisory committee activities. The advisory committee may seek outside funds to fund the cost
of public hearings, conferences, workshops, other meetings, other activities of the advisory committee and educational
and training materials. Contributicns to support the work of the advisory committee may not be accepted from any party
having a pecuniary or other vested interest in the outcome of the matters being studied. Any person, other than a state
agency, desiring to make a financial or in-kind contribution shall certify
to the Legislative Board that it has no pecuniary or other vested interest in the outcome of the advisory committee's
activities, Such a certification must be made in the manner prescribed by the Legislative Board. All contributions are subject
to approval by the Legislative Board. All funds accepted must be forwarded to the Executive Director of the Legislative
Board along with an accounting record that includes the amount of funds, the date the funds were received, from whom the
funds were received and the purpose of and any limitation on the use of those funds. The Executive Director of the

Legislative Board shall administer any funds received by the advisory committee.
12005, c. 631, §1 (NEW}.]

8.  Compensation. Legislative members of the advisory committee are entitled to receive the legislative per diem, as
defined in Title 3, section 2, and reimbursement for travel and other necessary expenses for their attendance at
authorized meetings of the advisory committee. Public menibers not otherwise compensated by their employers or other
entities that they represent are entitled to receive reimbursement of necessary expenses and, upon a demonstration of
financial hardship, a per diem equal to the legislative per diem for their attendance at authorized meetings of the advisory

comimittee.
[ 2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

9, Staffing. The Legislative Board shall provide staft support for the operation of the advisory committee, except that the
56




Legislative Board staff support is not authorized when the Legislature is in regular or special session, In addition, the
advisory committee may contract for administrative, professional and clerical services if funding permits.

[ 2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

10. Report. By January 15, 2007 and at least annually thereafter, the advisory committee shall report to the Governor, the
Legislative Board, the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary matters and the
Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court about the state of the freedom of access laws and the public's access to
public proceedings and records,

[ 2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
RR 2005, ¢. 2, §1 (COR). 2005, c. 631, §1 (NEW). 2007, c. 576, §1 (AMD).

§412, PUBLIC RECORDS AND PROCEEDINGS TRAINING FOR CERTAIN ELECTED QFFICIALS AND
PUBLIC ACCESS OFFICERS
1. Training required. A public access officer and an elected official subject to this section shall complete a course of

training on the requirements of this chapter relating to public records and proceedings. The official or public access
officer shall complete the training not later than the 120th day after the date the elected official takes the oath of
office to assume the person's duties as an elected official or the person is designated as a public access officer
pursuant to section 413, subsection 1,

[2011, ¢. 662, §7 (AMD).]

2. Training course; minimum requirements. The training course under subsection 1 must be designed to be
completed by an official or a public access officer in less than 2 hours, Ataminimum, the training must include
instruction in:

A. The generallegal requirements of this chapter regarding public records and public proceedings;
[2007, c. 349, §1 (NEW).]
B.  Procedures andrequirements regarding complying with a request for a public record under this
chapter; and [2007, ¢. 349, §1 (NEW).]
€. Penalties and other consequences for failure to comply with this chapter. [2007, c. 349, §1 (NEW).]
Anelected official or a public access officer meets the training requirements of this section by conducting a thorough

review of all the information made available by the State on a publicly accessible website pursuant to section 411,
subsection 6, paragraph C regarding specific guidance on how a member of the public can use the law to be a better
informed and active participant in open government. To meet the requirements of this subsection, any other training

course must include all of this information and may include additional information.
{2011, c. 662, §7 (AMD).]

3. Certification of completion. Upon completion of the training course required under subsection 1, the elected
official or public access officer shall make a written or an electronic record attesting to the fact that the training has
been completed. The record must identify the training completed and the date of completion. The elected official
shallkeep the record or file it with the public entity to which the official was elected. A public access officer shall

file the record with the agency or official that designated the public access officer.
[ 2011, c. 662, §7 (AMD).]

4. Application. This section applies to a public access officer and the following elected officials:

A. The Governor; [2007, ¢. 349, §1 (NEW).]

B. The Attorney General, Secretary of State, Treasurer of State and State Auditor; [2007, ¢. 349, §1 (NEW).]
C. Members of the Legislature elected after November 1, 2008; [2007, ¢, 576, §2 (AMD).]

D. [2007, c. 576, §2 (RP).]

E. Commissioners, treasurers, district attorneys, sheriffs, registers of deeds, registers of probate and budget comniittee
57




members of county governments; [2007, ¢. 576, §2(NEW).]

F. Municipal officers, clerks, treasurers, assessors and budget committee members of municipal governments; [2007, ¢.

576, §2 (NEW).]

G. Officials of school administrative units; and [2011, ¢. 662, §7 (AMD).]

1L Officials of aregional or other political subdivision who, as part of the duties of their offices, exercise executive or
legislative powers. For the purposes of this paragraph, "regional or other political subdivision" means an
administrative entity or instrumentality created pursuant to Title 30-A, chapter 115 or 119 or a quasi-municipal

corporation or special purpose district, including, but not limited to, a water district, sanitary district, hospital district, school
districtof any type, transit district as defined in Title 30- A, section 3501, subsection 1 or regional transportation corporation as defined in Title
30-A, section 3501, subsection 2. {2007, ¢. 576, §2 (NEW).]

[ 2011, ¢. 662, §7 (AMD).)

SECTION HISTORY
2007, ¢. 349, §1 (NEW). 2007, ¢. 576, §2 (AMD). 2011, ¢. 662, §7 (AMD).

§413. PUBLIC ACCESS OFFICER

1. Designation; responsibility, Each agency, county, municipality, school administrative unit and regional or other
political subdivision shall designate an existing employee as its public access officer to serve as the contact person for
that agency, county, municipality, school administrative unit and regional or other political subdivision with regard to
requests for public records under this subchapter. The public access officer is responsible for ensuring that each public
record request is acknowledged within a reasonable period of time and that a good faith estimate of when the response
to the request will be complete is provided according to section 408-A. The public access officer shall serve as aresource
within the agency, county, municipality, school administrative unitand regional or other political subdivision concerning

freedom of access questions and compliance.
[2011, c. 662, §8 (NEW).]

2. Acknowledgmentand response required. An agency, county, municipality, school administrative unit and regional or
other political subdivision that receives a request to inspect or copy a public record shall acknowledge and respond to

the request regardless of whether the request was delivered to or directed to the public access officer.
[ 2011, c. 662, §8 (NEW).]

3. Nodelay based on unavailability, The unavailability of a public access officer may not delay aresponse to arequest.
2011, c. 662, §8 (NEW),]

4. Training. A public access officer shall complete a course of training on the requirements of this chapter relating to
public records and proceedings as described in section412.
[ 2011, c. 662, §8 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY 2011, c. 662, §8 (NEW).

58




L.egislative History for. Rules and Order of Business

Nice to see that this is something they address on a fairly regular basis.

59




Appendix F
Readfield Ordinances, Policies, Permit Applications and the State Fireworks Law

€0




e o b

Home »»

Boards & Committees »

Select Board »»

Town Ordinances, Policies & Permits

Other Permit Applications

Cat ol

Building Permit Application

Driveway Entrance Permit Application
Junkyard Permit Application
Marijuana Establishment Application
Planning Board Application

Road Name Application

Sludge Applications

Home »

Boards & Committees »»

Select Board »

Town Ordinances, Policies & Permits

Ordinances

® @& o ¢ ¢ & ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ©°o ¢ ¢ © ° o o o

B

Policies

Administrative Ordinance 7-14-20

Animal Control Ordinance 6-12-18

Appeals Board Ordinance 6-13-17

Cemetery Ordinance 6-12-18

Communication Towers Ordinance 5/2008
Conflict of Interest and Recall Ordinance 6/14/2016
E-911 Addressing Ordinance 6/2011

Firearms Ordinance 6/9/15

Fire Department Ordinance 6/2011

Floodplain Management Ordinance 6/201 1
Food Sovereignty Ordinance 7/14/2020
General Assistance Ordinance 10/2005

Land Use Ordinance 7/2020 (LUO) & Maps
Marijuana Establishments Ordinance 7-14-2020

Mass Gathering Ordinance
Noise Standards

Pace Ordinance 6-13-2017

Public Ways. Traffic and Parking Ordinance 12/09/2019
Property Tax Assistance Ordinance 6-12-18

Sludge Ordinance 6/2011

Solar Ordinance 6-8-2021

Solid Waste Disposal & Recycling Ordinance 6/2011

Home »

Boards & Committees »»

Select Board »

Town Ordinances, Policies & Permits

Annual Board Chairs meeting policy 1/2015
Broadband Internet Resolution 08-17-2020

61



Broadband Internet Resolution (Addendum) 11-16-2020
Capitalization Policy 1st adopted 12-12-16

Disbursement of State Fees & Employees Wages Policies 7-11-16
Disposition of Tax Acquired Property 1/2010

Financial Procedures 6/2010

Fire Station Safety, Occupancy and Use Resolution 11-16-2020
FOAA and Complaint Policies 11/2012 & 2/2014

Grant Policy 07/21/2003

Governmental Television Policy & Procedures 2/2003
Investment Policy 3/2010

Pre-Holiday Closing Policy reviewed 1/14

Personnel Policy 2/2016

Post Issuance Compliance Policy 8/2013

Procedures for Application & Appointment 6/13/2016

Public Communications Policy 2/2013

Purchasing Policy 12/2015

Mail Box Placement Guidelines

Messenger Policy 11/13/2017

Naming Policy 2/2014

Non Emergency Operations Plan (EOQP) Protocol 5/2014
Outstanding or Delinquent Tax Policy 8-21-2017

Readfield's Standards of Conduct for Public Meetings 5/31/16
Remote Participation Policy 08/24/2021

Select Board Role and Responsibilities - 5-17-2021
Tobacco-Free Policy 08-17-2020

Town Manager Roles and Responsibilities

Trails Agreement and Easement Accept. Policy approved 3-25-15
Transfer Station Activity Policy 9-9-2019

Undesignated Fund Balance Policy 3/2010

Warrant Article Petition Policy 2/2009

State Laws that Apply to Readfield

These are State Laws that Readfield follows because we have not ordinance to address these items.

Maine Consumer Fireworks Law Title 8 sec 221-A

62




Appendix G (Format is all wrong)

Page 1 of 3
Bylaws of the Select Board

of the Town of Readfield, Maine

1. Purpose and Scope

1.1 The purpose of these Bylaws is to establish
reasonable rules of procedure for Select Board
(hereinafter referred to as the "Board") meetings
and to promote the fair, orderly and efficient
conduct of the Board's proceedings and affairs.
The Board shall recognize and conform its purpose
and scope to the five-person Board and Town
Manager form of government as established by the
State of Maine. These Bylaws shall govern the
Board's core practices and procedures except as
otherwise provided for by Town Ordinance, State
law, and Federal law,

1.2 These Bylaws recognize there will be from
time to time other duties both official and
ceremonial that may not be covered by the
proceedings focus of these Bylaws but are known
to be appropriate as defined in law or by
established practice.

2. Core Responsibilities

2.1 Responsibilities of the Select Board include
but are not limited oversight of Town finances and
property, protection of the health, safety and
welfare of Town residents, and facilitation of
appropriate relationships with the public, service
providers and external agencies, and other
government entities.

2.2 The Select Board administers its
responsibilities by hiring, contracting with,
appropriately supervising and evaluating,
collaborating with, and supporting and retaining in
the best interests of the public a Town Manager.
This relationship is governed by the five-person
Board and Town Manager form of government as
established by the State of Maine.

3. Members

3.1 The Members of the Board shall be five
registered voting residents of the Town of
Readfield and elected at its Town Meeting to three
year terms with the terms staggered so that a
minimum of one and maximum of two occur each
year. Members take office immediately upon
election.

3.2 Vacancies on the Board shall be filled by
interim elections except for one occurring within
the final four months of a term may at the Board’s
option occur at Town Meeting.

3.3 No Member may represent the Board or assume
individual authority outside the regular order of
Board proceedings without the Board’s prior
approval.

3.4 Upon initial election, Members are expected to



attend a workshop for Newly Elected Local
Officials, Freedom of Access Act training, and a
National Incident Management course as soon as
reasonably practicable.

4. Officers and Duties

4.1 Officers of the Board shall consist of a Chair
and a Vice Chair. These officers shall be chosen
annually at the first regular meeting of each year
following Town Meeting by and from among Board
Members. Vacancies in the position of either the
Chair or Vice Chair positions shall immediately be
filled by regular meeting procedures. These
officers of the Board may be removed and replaced
upon majority vote for stated just cause.

4.2 The Chair shall preside at all Board meetings
and shall have authority to rule on questions of
evidence and procedure, to maintain order,
determine the course of proceedings and to take
such other action as may be necessary and not
inconsistent with these Bylaws or other law to
enable the Board to perform its duties and conduct
its affairs. The Chair and the Vice Chair shall,
together with the Town Manager, sef the agenda in
advance of each meeting. In the absence of the
Chair, the Vice Chair shall preside and shall have
the same authority as the Chair, In the event of the
absence at a scheduled meeting of both the Chair
and the Vice Chair, the Board Members present
shall elect a Chair Pro Tem from amongst those
Members present to conduct the meeting,

4.3 The Chair shall act as the Board’s primary
contact in an official capacity with the Town
Manager. This shall not constrain Board Members
from having reasonable conversations and making
requests for information deemed appropriate by the
Member and Town Manager. This type of
relationship does not extend to any other
employees of the Town and the Board recognizes
the Town Manager as its contact on all Town
functions involving staff.

Page 2 of 3

4.4 The Chair may act as a public spokesperson for
the Board on matters previously decided by the
board or in matters that require public
announcement or sharing of information on Town
matters and in the instances of declared
emergencies.

4.5 The Board shall elect a three-person Board of
Assessors from within its membership for one year
terms at the first regular meeting of each year
following Town Meeting.

4.6 The Board may designate informal positions
such as but not limited to time-keeper, note-taker,
committee liaisons, and ad hoc sub committees of
the Board. It may further elect Board Members as
its representatives to regional entities that the
Town has chosen to participate in.

5. Meetings

5.1 Regular meetings to conduct the business of the

64




Board shall be held at intervals determined by the
Board throughout the year with the minimum of
one regular meeting per month, As previously
established (3.2), an agenda is set in advance.
Members may ask the Chair that items be placed
on a future agenda or may move at a meeting to do
s0 by adding to an agenda. Regular meetings shall
at a minimum observe in its planning the following
agenda items:

- Review and approval of minutes of the previous
meeting,

- Approval of warrants for payments of all Town
expenses,

- Oral and written communications from and among
Select Board Members, Town Manager and staff,
Town Boards, Commissions, and Committees,
public comment and questions,

- Appointments under Select Board purview,

- Unfinished business,

- New business,

- And other presentations, discussions, or public
hearings.

5.2 The Board may also conduct workshop
meetings on specific topics at its option. Binding
votes may not be taken at workshop meetings. A
retreat for goal setting, review, and other matters
may also be conducted as a workshop. All
workshop meetings are open to the public.

5.3 The Board may necessarily from time to time
conduct Executive Sessions in conjunction with
other meetings or on a stand-alone basis only to
the extent allowed by Maine law. Motions to go
into Executive Session shall be made publically
with a recorded vote stating the purpose, citing
relevant governing law allowing the session,
stating who will be in attendance, and if, upon
exit, the Board will take any action by way of an
immediate public vote,

5.4 Special meetings may be called at the
discretion of the Chair or upon the request of a
majority of the Board, provided however that
notice thereof shall be given to each Member and
to representatives of the press at least four days in
advance of the scheduled meeting, except in case
of extraordinary circumstances when notice shall
be given by the fastest and earliest means possible.
No business may be conducted other than as
specified in the said notice of the meeting.

5.5 Public hearings conducted by the Board shall
be called as required by law or on such other
occasions as a majority of the Board may deem
appropriate. Notice of all such hearings be given as
required by law. Hearings may be conducted as an
item of business within a regular Board meeting or
as a stand-alone hearing regarding larger matters.
The Chair shall convene all hearings by describing
the purpose of the hearing and general procedures
to be followed. The Board may receive any oral or
documentary information but may exclude that it

65




deems irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly
repetitious. If the hearing is on an adjudicatory
matter, each party of interest shall have right to
present its case in an order determined by the
Chair and subject to reasonable time limits to
ensure all parties and the public have an adequate
opportunity to be heard.

5.6 Notice of all Board meetings shall be given as
required by law and all such meetings shall be
open to the public except as otherwise provided for
by law. No business may be conducted by the
Board except at a duly called and noticed meeting
with a quorum consisting of a majority of its
Members being present.

5.7 Each Board may determine its own schedule of
ordinance initiation, ordinance review, policy
management, capital investment planning, budget
work, comprehensive plan reflection, joint
meetings with committees, and other business
deemed appropriate.

Page 3 of 3

5.8 The Town Manager or the Town Manager’s
designee shall act as secretary at Board meetings.
The secretary shall prepare agendas, take minutes,
maintain records, prepare and send
correspondence, and perform other duties as are
normally carried out by a secretary. Minutes of
Select Board meetings will include a brief
summary of each agenda item and a record of all
votes taken. Records of the Board shall be deemed
public and available as required by law.

5.9 The Board will establish and post ground rules
for meetings to establish expectations of respectfuil
conduct, norms, and courtesy for all participants at
meetings.

6. Voting

7. Waivers and Amendments

7.1 These Bylaws are considered to be a Town
Policy. Any provision of these Bylaws may be
waived on any occasion by majority vote of the
Boeard unless otherwise provided by law. These
Bylaws may be amended at any time in writing by
majority vote of the Board.

Approved adopted on May 17, 2021 by:

Bruce Bourgoine

6.1 Any action of the Board shall require the
affirmative vote of a majority of its membership
present and voting unless otherwise provided by
law.

6.2 No Board Member may participate or vote on
any matter in which the Member has a conflict of
interest or other disqualification as defined by law.
Any question of whether a Board Member has such
a conflict of interest or other disqualification shall
be decided by majoerity vote of the remaining
Members.

6.3 All Members who are present and not
disqualified as provided herein shall vote in every
matter to be voted upon unless excused by the

66




Chair for valid reason.

6.4 The Board may reconsider any vote decision
that creates a ruling at the same meeting or at a
subsequent meeting within 30 days of its original
decision, provided that both a vote to reconsider
and any action taken pursuant thereto shall occur
and be completed within said 30 days. This does
not preclude the Board from taking up any matter

again based on new information or other changes,

Christine Sammons

Kathryn Mills Woodsum

Dennis Price

Ralph Eno

These Bylaws replace upon approval all previous
versions of the Select Board Bylaws and all

policies known as the Roles and Responsibilities of

the Readfield Select Board.

67




Appendix H

ORIENTATION LIST FOR NEW SELECT BOARD MEMBERS

Things to read or know before attending your first meeting:

Select Board Roles & Responsibilities

Select Board By-laws

Town Manager Roles & Responsibilities

Town Manager Contract

Procedures for appointments to boards and committees
Executive Sessions law and procedures

Chain of command with employees

Financial Procedures

Current agenda items

Current and pending contracts

E-mail addresses and phone contacts for other board members and Town officials

Sign up and attend ASAP:

MMA training for Newly Elected Officials and other relevant workshops
National Incident Management (NIMS) course {can be done on-line)

As you can, but sooner than later these also are recommended:

e Read the Select Board Policies and guidelines:
Personne! Policy

Purchasing Policy

Investment policy and Fund Balance policy
Disbursement of employees’ wages policy
Disbursement of state fees policy

FOAA, NON-FOAA complaint policies
Public Communication policy

Disposition of tax acquired properties policy
Government TV policy and procedures
Pre-Holiday Closing Policy

Warrant articles petition policy

Annual Board Chairs Meeting procedures
Mailbox Guidelines

O 0O C O 0 0 0 0 O 0 0 0 0

Read Town Ordinances:
o Land Use Ordinance
Conflict of Interest and Recall Ordinance
General Assistance Ordinance
Animal Ordinance
Communication Towers Ordinance
Fircarms Ordinance
Fire Department Ordinance
Flood-Plain Ordinance
8-911 Ordinance

O 0 0 ¢ 0O 0O O O

68




Mass Gathering Ordinance
Noise Ordinance

Sludge Ordinance

Solid Waste Ordinance
Snow Plow Ordinance
Parking Ordinance

cC O 0 0O O O

¢ Readfield follows state law pertaining to Fireworks. There is no local policy or ordinance at this time, so
please read the state law.

Know the below Town Plans:
¢ Emergency Operations Plan

¢ (CIP Plan

As time allows:
* Read MMA Elected Officials Manual
¢ Become familiar with Town website
¢ Walk the Trail system
s Tour the Transfer Station
e  Tour the cemeteries
¢ Know the Town buildings we are responsible for
* Inter local agreements: Transfer Station and Maintenance
» Attend other board and committee meetings
e Write articles for Readfield Messenger- people love information
» Update yourself on various committees and boards working on future projects:
o Library status
Fire Station
Athletic Fields
Conservation and Open Space Plan
Town Farm Forest Plan
Try to stay involved in the RSU 38 budget process
Attend budget meetings in spring

oo O 0 0 ¢

Last but not least, additional advice and comments from a recent Board member’s personal experience this past year:
e Be on time for meetings

¢ Be prepared with what is in the packet, do your homework

» Review an accounts payable and payroll warrant with someone before taking one on yourself

s Return calls, e-mails, questions etc. from residents AFTER researching the information

¢ No questions are ever stupid

» Can’t please everyone, so don’t try

e Don’t act on your own as a board member, be careful how you speak and state something to anyone

¢  You can call any board member at any time

* You can call the Town Manager at any time

» [f there is something you want on the agenda, talk to the chair

¢ If you receive a letter from a resident, you should pass it on to JUST the Town Manager, and he and the
Chair can decide to pass on to the rest of the SB(unless it is a complaint about the Town Manager which

would go to the Chair)
69




* Don’t EVER respond to anyone on behalf of the whole SB, except to relay voted positions. Remember
there are 5 on the board that decides all Town issues.

¢ Enjoy it and have some fun

e LISTEN TO THE PUBLIC, stay upbeat and positive

* Try to get back to a resident on a question after researching it

s  Don’ttry to be a hero

» People that voted you in like to see you attend fireman’s breakfast, bean hole supper, Heritage days, etc.

¢ When making decisions, remember you are representing the entire community

¢ Admit when you are wrong

¢ Vote how you really feel, don’t just go along with other board members

* DON’T TAKE THINGS PERSONALLY!!!!

BEST OF LUCK TO THE TWO NEW SELECT BOARD MEMBERS: VAL POMERLEAU and ALLEN
CURTIS!

(This list was mostly generated by Sue Reay, with input by the Town Manager)




APPENDIX I
DRAFT

Roles and Responsibilities of Readfield Town Manager

Purpose of Town Manager

Readfield’s Town Manager performs the executive and administrative duties for the Town Manager as prescribed by
Maine Law in 30-A M.R.S.A. $ 2636. This statute is attached as Appendix 1.

Appointment of Town Manager

Readfield’s Select Board has responsibility to recruit, hire, evaluate and terminate the Town Manager. The Town
Manager operates under a multi-year contract which will enumerate all conditions of employment including term-up
to 3 years, benefits, protocol for evaluation and specific expectations not otherwise detailed by public law. The Town
Manager is responsible for all other personal appointments within the town,

Duties of the Town Manager

The general responsibilities of the Town Manager are proscribed by Maine law. (See Appendix 1, 30-A Powers and
Duties of Town Manager, attached.} In this section, each of these 14 specific responsibilities is further discussed as
applied in the Town of Readfield.

1. Is the chief executive and administrative officer
The Town Manager shall be the head of the administrative branch of the town government, and shall be
responsible to the Select Board for the proper administration of all affairs of the town.

2. Administers offices

Subject to the listing in section 6 herewith, requiring confirmation by the Select Board for certain appointments, the Town
Manager shall appoint, prescribe the duties of, supervise, and, when necessary for the good of the Town, suspend or remove
all town employees and appointive administrative officers. The Town Manager may authorize any administrative officer
who is subject to his or her direction and supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that officer’s
department, office or agency.

The Town Manager shall direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices and agencies of
the Town except as otherwise provided by this Policy or by the general law.

3. Executes law and ordinances
The Town Manager shall see that all laws, Town ordinances, and acts of the Select Board, subject to enforcement by him or
her or by officers subject to his or her direction and supervision, are faithfully executed.

4. |s the department head
The Town Manager is the head of any department under the control of the Select Board.

5. Appoints department heads

The Town Manager shall appoint, subject to confirmation by the Select Board, supervise and control the heads of
departments under the control of the Select Board when the department is not headed by the Town Manager under section
4, herewith.

6. Appoints some town officials

The TM appoints, subject to confirmation by the Select Board, the Road Commissioner and Public Works Director, who
report directly to him. (The Select Board appoints the Town Treasurer, Tax Collector, Transfer Station Manager, Welfare
Director, and Fire chief, as well as all members of boards, commissions, committees and single assessors.)

7. Is purchasing agent
The Town Manager works closely with the Financial Officer and shall act as purchasing agent for all departments of the




Town.

8. Must attend meetings of Select Bored
The Manager shall attend all meetings of the Board of Selectpersons except when his or her attendance is
excused by the Select Board, may attend when his or her removal is being considered, and shall have the
right to take part in discussion but may not vote. The Manager may be invited to sit with the Select Board
during their meeting.

8. Shall make recommendation to the Select Board for the more efficient operation of the town.
The Manager shall prepare and submit to the Select Board such reports and shall perform such duties as
the Select Board may require, and shall make such recommendations to the Select Board concerning the
affairs of the Town as he or she deems desirable or as the Select Board may request.

The Manager shall act as the Town representative for grant applications, both public and private, and shall actively pursue
grants involving money, equipment, and other awards, that can benefit the Town.

This duty includes routine collaboration with neighboring municipalities and with RSU #38 to work co-operatively for
mutual benefit.

10. Shall attend Town Meeting and hearings.
This duty applies strictly to annual or special Town Meetings. However, the Town Manager is encouraged to attend other
public meetings in which municipal business is being conducted.

11. Shall inform the select Board and town residents of the town’s financial condition.
This shall be done on a routine basis at the beginning of each quarter, and as requested by the Select Board.

12. Shall collect date necessary to prepare the annual budget.
This duty is performed in conjunction with a Budget Comumittee (appointed by the Select Board), the Finance Officer,

other staff members, and representatives of town boards, committees and commissions. The CIP, Capital Investment

Plan, as approved by the Select Board, shall be utilized in the annual budget preparation.

The Manager shall also prepare and submit the annual capital program, and annual financial and administrative reports
to the Select Board, and be responsible for the administration of the annual Municipal Budget and capital program after

their adoption.

13. Shall assist residents
The Select Board encourages this responsibility to be as proactive as possible. Town Manager should individually and
through his or her staff be aware of and respond to issues of concern among Town residents. Maintaining a positive, open
and caring attitude within the municipal offices is important.

14. May remove ali persons whom the manager is authorized to appoint, for cause, after notice and hearing,
Such actions may be grieved to Select Board with due notice.

Select Board/Town Manager Relationship

The employment relationship between the Select Board and the Town Manager honors the fact that the Town
Manager is the chief administrative officer of the Town. The Select Board and the Town Manager are a participatory
team and the Select Board should avoid situations that can result in Town staff being directed, intentionally or

unintentionally, by one or more members of the Select Board. Both parties will adhere to the following access to
72




information.

Individual Select Board members, as well as the Select Board as a whole, are permitted complete freedom of access to any
information requested of staff and shall receive the full cooperation and candor of staff in being provided with any
requested information. Appropriate personnel will pass critical information to all Select Board members. The Town
Manager or appropriate staff will always inform the Select Board when a critical or unusual event occurs about which the
public would be concerned.

The Select Board recognizes the primary functions of staff as executing Select Board policy and actions taken by the Select
Board and in keeping the Select Board informed. The Select Board expects the Town Manager to not cause or allow any
practice, activity, decision, or circumstance which is either itlegal, immoral, imprudent, or in violation of community
accepted business and professional ethics. Staff is obligated to take guidance and direction only from the Select Board as a
whole or from the appropriate management supervisors. Staff is directed to reject any attempts by individual members of
the Select Board to unduly direct or otherwise pressure them into making, changing or otherwise influencing
recommendations.

The Town Manager will make every effort to respond in a timely and professional manner to all requests made by
individual Select Board members for information or assistance, provided that, the request is not of a magnitude, either in
terms of workload or policy, which would require that it would be more appropriately assigned through the direction of the
full Select Board. Ifa request by an individual Select Board member is determined by the Town Manager to take one hour
or more of staff time to complete, that request may be included as a request submitted by the Select Board on the formal
Select Board agenda for full Select Board discussion.

Select Board members have a responsibility in this information flow as well. It is critical that they make extensive use of
staff and committee reports and minutes. Select Board members should come to meetings prepared — having read item
documents as well as any additional information or memoranda that includes an update on major projects or evolving
issues. Additional information may be requested from staff, if necessary.

Any information, service-related needs, or policy positions perceived as necessary by individual Board members which
cannot be fulfilled based on the these guidelines should be scheduled for a Select Board meeting. If so directed by action of
the Select Board, the Town Manager will proceed to complete the work within a Select Board-established timeline.

Regular communication between the Select Board and Town Manager is important in maintaining open
communications. All dealings with the Town Manager, whether in public or private, should respect the
responsibilities of the Town Manager in administrative matters. Disagreements should be expressed in policy terms,
rather than in terms that question satisfaction with or support of the Town Manager.

The Select Board is to evaluate the Town Manager on a regular basis to ensure that both the Select Board and
Town Manager are in agreement about performance and goals based on mutual trust and common objectives.
Readfield Select Boards have utilized the following areas of performance when evaluating the Town Manager:
Public Focus, Committed to Organization, Integrity/Trust, Action-oriented/Empowered, Highly Efficient/Resourceful,
Communication Skills, Technical Skills, and Overall performance.

As in any professional relationship, it is important that the Town Manager keep the Select Board informed. The
Town Manager respects and is sensitive to the political responsibility of the Select Board and acknowledges that the
final responsibility for establishing the policy direction of the Town is held by the Select Board. The Town Manager
communicates with the Select Board in various ways. In addition to what is spoken at the formal Select Board
meetings there is a printed communication at each meeting detailing the topics discussed. There is also a biweekly
meeting with the Chair and Vice-Chair to plan agendas and to become current with issues affecting the town.
Scheduling information and agendas are disseminated via email. Every effort must be taken to ensure that all
Select Board members are treated similarly and kept equally informed. It is equally important that the Select Board
provide ongoing feedback, information and perceptions to the Town Manager including some response to written
communication requesting feedback.

Town Manager's Code of Ethics
73




The Town Manager is subject to a professional code of ethics from his/her professional association. These
standards appear in the appendix of this manual. It should be noted that this code binds the Town Manager to
certain practices that are designed to ensure actions are in support of the Town's best interests. Violations of such
standards can result in censure by the professional association. This code is posted in the Town Manager's office

andobiy e NE@€M tO print and post.

74




Appendix 1

Title 30-A: MUNICIPALITIES AND COUNTIES HEADING: PL 1987, C. 737, PT. A, §2 (NEW)
Part 2: MUNICIPALITIES HEADING: PL 1987, C. 737, PT. A, §2 (NEW)
Subpart 3: MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS HEADING: PL 1987, C. 737, PT. A, §2 (NEW)
Chapter 123: MUNICIPAL OFFICIALS HEADING: PL 1987, C. 737, PT. A, §2 (NEW)
Subchapter 2: TOWN MANAGER PLAN HEADING: PL 1987, C. 737, PT. A, §2 (NEW

30-A §2636. POWERS AND DUTIES OF TOWN MANAGER
The town manager: [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, <. 737, Pt. C, $106 {NEW);
1989, c. 6, (AMD); 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, €88, 10 (AMD) . ]
1. Executive and administrative officer. Ts the chief executive and administrative official of the town;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, 82 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(RMD}; 1989, c. 8%, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §88, 10 (AMD) .]

2. Administer offices. Is responsible to the selectmen for the administration of all departments and offices over which the
selectmen have control;

[ 1987, <. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, $106 {(NEW); 1989, c. &,
(BMD) ; 1989, c. 9, &2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, $§§8, 10 (AMD) .]

3. Execute laws and ordinances. Shall execute all laws and ordinances of the town;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. B, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
{AMD}; 198%, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .]

4. Department head. Shall serve in any office as the head of any department under the control of the selectmen when
directed by the selectmen;

[ 1987, <. 737, Pt. B, §2 (WEW); 1987, <. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(AMD); 198%, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §88, 10 (AMD) .]

5. Appoint department heads. Shall appoint, subject to confirmation by the selectmen, supervise and control the heads of
departments under the control of the selectmen when the department is not headed by the town manager under subsection 4;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. B, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, $106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(AMD); 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, <. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .]

6. Appoint town officials. Unless otherwise provided by town ordinance, shall appoint, supervise and control all town
officials whom the municipal officers are required by law to appoint, except members of boards, commissions, committees and
single assessors; and appoint, supervise and contro! all other officials, subordinates and assistants, except that the town manager
may delegate this authority to a department head and report all appointments to the board of selectmen;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. B, $2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, 8106 (NEW); 1989, c. §,
(AMD); 1989, c. 9, §2 (BMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .)

7. Purchasing agent. Shall act as purchasing agent for all departments, except the school department, provided that the
town or the selectmen may require that all purchases greater than a designated amount must be submitted to sealed bid;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. B, §2 (NEW); 1987, ¢. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
{AMD); 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§88, 10 (AMD) .)

8. Attend meetings of selectmen. Shall attend all meetings of the board of selectmen, and the town manager may attend
meetings when the manager's removal is being considered;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, 8106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
75



(BMD}; 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD}; 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (aMD) .]

9. Make recommendations. Shall make recommendations to the board of selectmen for the more efficient operation of
the town;

[ 1987, <. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, c¢. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
{BMD); 1989, <. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, <. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (BMD) .]

10. Attend town meetings. Shall attend all town meetings and hearings;,

[ 1887, <. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 {(NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(BMD); 1989, <. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c¢. 104, Pt. C, 8§88, 10 (BMD) .}

11. Inform of financial condition. Shall keep the board of selectmen and the residents of the town informed as to the
town's financial condition;

[ 1887, c. 737, Pt. A, &2 (NEW); 1987, ¢. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. &,
{(AMD); 1989, c. 9, &2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .]

12. Collect data. Shall collect data necessary to prepare the budget;

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. ¢, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(BMD); 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §88, 10 (AMD) .]

13. Assist residents. Shall assist, insofar as possible, residents and taxpayers in discovering their lawful remedies in cases
involving complaints of unfair vendor, administrative and governmental practices; and

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. ¢, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(BMD) ; 1989, c. 9, &2 {(AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §88, 10 (&MD) .]

14. Remove appointments, Has exclusive authority to remove for cause, after notice and hearing, all persons whom the
manager is authorized to appoint and report all removals to the board of selectmen.

[ 1287, c. 737, Pt. A, &2 (NEW); 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); 1989, c. 6,
(AMD); 1988, c. 9, §2 (AMD); 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §88, 10 (&AMD) .]

SECTION HISTCRY
1987, c¢. 737, §8A2,C1l06 (NEW). 1989, c. 6, (AMD). 1989, <. 9, §2 (AMD). 1989, c.
104, §5C8,10 (AMD).

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include the
following disclaimer in your publication:

All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects changes made
through the First Special Session of the 124th Legislature, and is current through December 31, 2009, but is subject to change without notice.
It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements
Jfor certified text.

The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our goal is not o
restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to preserve the State's
copyright rights.

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. If you
need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.

76




Appendix 2

ICMA Code of Ethics

International City/County Management Association

The mission of ICMA is to create excellence in local governance by developing and fostering professional local
government management worldwide. To further this mission, certain principles, as enforced by the Rules of
Procedure, shall govern the conduct of every member of ICMA, who shall:

Tenet 1

Be dedicated to the concepts of effective and democratic local government by responsible elected officials and
believe that professional general management is essential to the achievement of this objective.

Tenet 2
Affirm the dignity and worth of the services rendered by government and maintain a constructive, creative, and

practical attitude toward local government affairs and a deep sense of social responsibility as a trusted public
servant.

Tenet 3
Be dedicated to the highest ideals of honor and integrity in all public and personal relationships in order that the

member may merit the respect and confidence of the elected officials, of other officials and employees, and of the
public.

Tenet 4
Recognize that the chief function of local government at all times is to serve the best interests of all people.

Tenet 5
Submit policy proposals to elected officials; provide them with facts and advice on matters of policy as a basis for

making decisions and setting community goals; and uphold and implement local government policies adopted by
elected officials.

Tenet 6
Recognize that elected representatives of the people are entitled to the credit for the establishment of local
government policies; responsibility for policy execution rests with the members.

Tenet 7
Refrain from all political activities which undermine public confidence in professional administrators. Refrain from
participation in the election of the members of the employing legislative body.

Tenet 8

Make it a duty continually to improve the member's professional ability and to develop the competence of associates
in the use of management techniques.

Tenet 9
Keep the community informed on local government affairs; encourage communication between the citizens and all

local government officers; emphasize friendly and courteous service to the public; and seek to improve the quality
and image of public service.

Tenet 10
Resist any encroachment on professional responsibilities, believing the member should be free to carry out official
policies without interference, and handle each problem without discrimination on the basis of principle and justice.

Tenet 11
Handle all matters of personnel on the basis of merit so that fairness and impartiality govern a member's decisions,

pertaining to appointments, pay adjustments, promotions, and discipline. .



Tenet 12

Seek no favor; believe that personal aggrandizement or profit secured by confidential information or by misuse of
public time is dishonest

78



1. PROTOCOLS FOR IMPROVED ADVOCACY: Make your thinking process visible

(walk up the ladder of inference slowly).

What to do

What to say

State your assumptions, and describe the data
that lead to them.

“Here’s what I think, and here's how I got
there.”

Explain your assumptions.

“T assumed that ...

Make your reasons explicit.

“I came to this conclusion because...”

Explain the context of your point of view:
who will be affected by what you propose,
how they will be affected, and why.

Give examples of what you propose, even if
they are hypothetical or metaphorical.

“To gel a clear picture of what I'm talking
about, imagine that you're the customer who
will be affected...”

As you speak, try to picture the other people’s
perspective on what you are saying,

Publicly test your assumptions.

Encourage others to explore your model, your
assumptions, and your data.

“What do you think about what I just said?”,
“Do you see any flaws in my reasoning?”, or
“What can you add?”

Refrain from defensiveness when your ideas
are questioned. If you are advoeating
something worthwhile, then it will only get
stronger by being tested.

Reveal where you are least clear in your
thinking. Ratherthan making your vulnerable,
it diffuses the force of advocates who are
opposed to you, and invites improvement,

“Here’s one aspect which yow might help me
think through...”

Even when advecating: listen, stay open, and
encourage others to provide different views.

“Do you see it differently?”

79




2. PROTOCOLS FOR IMPROVED INQUIRY: Ask others to make their thinking process

vigible,

What to do

What to say

Gently walk others down the ladder of
inference and find out what data they are
operating from.

“What leads you o conclude that?” What data
doyou have for that?” *What causes you to
say that?”

Use un-aggressive language, particularly with
people who are net familiar with these skills,
Ask in a way, which does not provoke
defensiveness, or “lead the witness.”

instead of “What do you mean?” or “What’s
your proof?” say, “Can you help me
understand your thinking herc?”

Draw out their reasoning, find out as much as
you can about why they are saying what they
are saying.

“What is the significance of that?” “How
does this relate to your other concerns?”
“Where does your reasoning go next?”

Explain your reasons for inquiring, and whom
your inquiry relates to your coneerns, hopes,
and needs.

“I'masking you about your assumptions here
because...”

Compare your assumptions to theirs,

Test what they say by asking for broader
contexts, or for examples,

“How would your proposal affect...?” “Is this
similarto... 7" “Canyou describe atypical
example ...?”

Check your understanding of what they have
said.

“Am [ correct that you're saying...?”

Listen for the new understanding that may
emerge. Do not concentrate on preparing to
destroy the other person’s argument or
promote your own agenda.

3. PROTOCOLS FOR FACING A POINT OF

VIEW WITH WHICH YOU DISAGREE:

What to do

What to say

Again, inquire about what has led the person
to that view.

“How did you arrive at this view?” “Are you
taking into account data that I have not
considered?”

Make sure you truly understand the view

“If [ understand you correctly, youw're saying
that ..”

Explore, listen, and offer your own views in
an open way.

“Have you considered...”

Listen for the larger meaning that may come
out of honest, open sharing of alterative
mental models,

Use your left-hand column as a resource.

“When you say such-and-such, I worry that it
means....”

Raise your concerns and state what is leading
you to have them.

“Thave a hard time seeing that, because of
this reasoning...”

80



4. PROTOCOLS FOR WHEN YOU'RE AT AN IMPASSE:

What to do

What to say

Embrace the impasse, and tcase apart the
current thinking. (You may discover that
focusing on “data” brings you all down the
ladder of inference.)

*What do we know for a fact?”

“What do we sense is true, but have no data
for yei?”

*What don’t we know?” “What is
unknowable?”

Look fer information that will help people
move forward.

“What do we agree upon, and what do we
disagree on?”

Ask if there is any way you might together
design an experiment or inquiry that could
provide new information.

Listen to ideas as if for the first time,

Considereach person’s mental model as a
piece of a larger puzzle.

“Are we starting from two very different sets
of assumptions here? Where do they come
from?”

Ask what data or logic might change their
views.

“What, then, would have to happen before
you would consider the alternative?”

Ask for the group’s help in redesigning the
situation.

“Itfeels like we’re gefting into an impasse and
['m afraid we might walk away without any
better understanding. Have you got any ideas
that will help us clarify our thinking?”

Do not let conversation stop with an
“agreement to disagree.”

“I don’t understand the assumptions
underlying cur disagreement.”

Avoid building your “case” when someone
else is speaking from a different point of view.

81




Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023
Item # 23-077

FY 24 BUDGET - DRAFT

Last Updated February 9, 2023

Draft 2

2/9/2023




€202/6/T

%8E"S- (6ST’E) S 8ps‘ss S TBEbE S L0L'8S S VIv'sE S 19042 S S2IUAINIY 1@ ‘Syded ‘UOIIERIIDY - O
%80°6€- (8eT'T) $ 0€61 (S S 89T'E $ 90L'C S 9If's S SIte4L oz
%EE EE- (000°T) $ 000C § TEET $ 000°€ $ o0sz $ 0€ST $ s3132doJd UMOL (g
%09"17Z- (0s5'1T) S 0SL'% $ 08T0T $ 00£9 $ 80C S 016 S UOISSILUWO) UOHBAIBSUO]) g
%000 = $ 0099 $ 6L9°S $ 0099 $ 011§ S 000'¢ $ sheq 28e33H o7
%L59 00v'T S 00L'TT S 9818 S 00£TT S 06T%I S 8I0Y S pieog uoilea.d3Y gz
%0TY - (tze) S 8951 $ SIT'6 S 6EE'8T $ 08871 S 98TV $ yoeag g

S3IUAIIDY B ‘S}JBd ‘UOIIR31IDY - OF

% ¥Z0Z-€202 SPZ0Z-€20Z  139ANA ¥20Z 220 <=QdlA€20Z  139ANd €202 IVNLIV 220T IVNLIY TZ0T NOISIAIQ LIN3WLYYdIa

%ITY vrI's A A S EIVLE S £0L%L $ 598sZT $  0SZ'vo s s391A19s Ajunwwo) - 57
- 0s $ 0SS S TI6C $ 00§ $ g€z $ 0IT'T S Wweq axe7 joodeueleN g
i . = S S Sl $ GLO'ES G et $ pueqgpeoig Qg
%T6'EL- (0sz'v) $ 0051 S [8€ $ 0SL's $ 889'v S £Ep'e S SY8 199435 g9
%E6 VT 7801 S LTE'8 S 96T S SvZ'L S vZ6'y S Y19 3 AL SS222y 21|qnd P2IyPEIY (g
%TT'TT L66'Y S ST6'6Y $ [66°TC $ 86wy S 900ty $ 0069 S Aesgn gy
%00°0 - $ 000C Sk $ 000 S €gL's $ 0ST S Alpuaiig 98y g
%000 - $ o00s'vy S 9zL'y S 0057 S 9zT'y S sZE'y S 90 Asjiepd2qauusy o7
%00°00T- (osz) S $ 0st $ 0S¢ S 0SZ S 0st S ISNJL puey 23qauusy gz
%06°ST STST $ SPOTT $ S99 S 0£s’6 S LTL'8 S 0I6TT $ [041U0D [BWIUY (o

$921AJ9S AJlUNWIWO)) - G7

% ¥Z0T-£202 S¥Z0Z-€20¢  139ANA ¥20Z 290 <=QlAE€T0Z  13DANG £202 VNIV 2Z0Z 1YNLOV TZ02 NOISIAID INJNLY¥VdIa

%201 0TH'91 S O0TL9LT S bbs‘ss S 00g£09t S 9S9'erT S 19Z'1ZI S JuUBURUIBI - ZT
%Y9'€9 0sz's $ 00°00SET LYETT $ 00°0SZ'8 £90'ST $ 60ETT ¢ Soueusuely "dINd3 / 3PIYSA og
%000 = $ 00°0SP'bE 9r9'TT S 00°0S+'%E SL6'LE S gIv'ee S 2dueuUIR BUlp|ing (g
%676 09T°TT S 00°094'ST 1S5'€S S 00°009°LTT ST9'06 S [£S'SL S JUBUBURI |BIBUSD (T

9JUBUIUIBIA - ZT

% $20Z-£202 Stz0Z-€20¢  139ANE ¥T0Z 9°2A<=dlA£20Z  1394ANd £202 TVNLIV 2202 1YNLIV 1202 NOISIAIQ IN3W1¥vdia

%L0°T 00E‘L S 0£Z'L89 S [2ZL'90F S 0£6'6L9 S _T/v‘sss S 1ZZ'08Y S uonessiuiwpy - 0T
%0005~ (000's52) S 000'st S TIFTI $ 00005 $ £09TC S 86 S §301AB5 |eF37 gy
%00° ™ S 00ST S $ 00SC S 8pIC S T¥L $ @ouelsissy Suneay gy
%EV'TL- (000's) S 000 $ 66701 $ 0002 S [0L'6 s - $ Suluue|d 1 BunIp UBID g
%00°00T- (09) S = 5 Sy S 0§ s - $ cgr g pieog sjeaddy g
%00°00T- (sT0°T) S % S 695 S ST0T S 00€ S 66b $ pieog Suluueld qop
%ER'E (ojants $ 007’8 S 8LT'6E $ 09028 S [9LTL $ 887'sS $ UBWLI0MT BP0 gf
%80°ST- (SLt'y) S 00T'sT S 96v'VT S S/9°6T S IrI'1e $ 1TTTC $ Buissessy gz
%60°9LE 056°st $ 0S8°TE $ 1S8'T $ 0069 $ 859°S $ ETL'S $ wawdinb3 o g1
%IST 096°€ $ GE’'TIT $ EE0'ES S G/8'LST $ 1607ZT S §ET'9CT ) souensul gzt
%93'C 06L'6 S Sv9'zsE S Or8'wLT S §98°TYE $ [SOTOE S 8£9°097 $ uoneNsSIUIWPY T

uol1elIsIuiwpY - 0T

% t20Z-£20T SYe0Z-€70T  139AN9 #Z0Z '92A<=AlA€20Z  13I9ANG £202 TVNLIV 2202 TVNLOV 1202 NOISIAIQ LININLYVYdIq

sasuadx3 +70z Ad




£202/6/¢

%90't'T LLT'SY S ZS/'06% S S9E‘ZLT § S/S‘ZvE S ozL'zee $ T98'80% S 91Se/W\ P1|0S - 0L
%0002 005 $ 000°€ S TI8ET S 00SC S [S6'C S LOLT $ 20Ueg (g
%T0¥T LL9'LY S TSLI8E S ¥86'0LT S S/0'0vE S $9L'6TE $ PST'L0€ $ uonels Jaysuell ot

91Se/M PI|OS - 0/

% ¥20Z-£202 S ¥Z0Z-£202 1390N9 ¥20Z 94 <= A1A £20Z 13oand €20z TVYNLOV 2202 IVNLOV 1202 NOISIAIQ IN3IWLYVd43a

%96°ZTT 0bs‘L19 S STTVITT S 99Z'sz S S899pS S 06L'8L S EE0'SLOT S siuawanosdwi |eyde) - 59
%8T- (09601) S 8vS0S S - S 80519 $ 999'87 S 1086T S uonels Jajsuell oz
%0 - S LLT'9 § LLT9 S LLT9 $ LLT9 S - 3 sasea |eyde) gg
%021 000°8T S 000°€E S 6816 $ 000°ST S . S LLT9 S juswdinby gg
%L- (000°s2) $ 000°sZE $ 0066 $ 000°0SE S - S TWO'TIEV S SPeoy og
= 00529 S 00529 S = S = $ 000t S - S $)|emapIS pg
%04 000°L $ 000721 S 5 S 0000T S ) S - S AR1awad gp
- - $ 00005 s - $ 00005 $ - s - 3 aoedg uado g
§ (000’0T) $ 000§ S $ 000'ST $ - $ L1219 $ Suip|ing Adesgn gg
= - m - m - m. N m. 690°€T m S9/T w uoljealdsy R s)led gy
= (ooo‘01) S 00001 gl E $ 00002 S TEYOT S - $ [I_H 3119 pg
2 000°06S $ 000°009 S - $ 00007 S LbPT $ 0019 $ Jawiledaq aild g
i 5 g 3 $ 5 g s g . g . S 13Ulalu| puegpeolg ¢z
- (000'6) S . S - $ 0006 $ - ¢ /9T'ET $ ASojouyda "ulwpy 1

siuswanosdwi jeuden - 59

% ¥20T-£202 $ ¥20Z-£202 139aNng ¥202 294 <= 4LA £20T 139an9 €202 IVYNLIV 2202 IVNLOV T20T NOISIAIG AINJNLYYH3a

%EL' 00T'LY S 05£'98S S 6STL6Z $ 0S9'6ES $ 990'86€ S SLT'OIE S adeuie.q 13 speoy - 09
%EVTT 0ot'8y $ 0SL'89v S 999°¢8l S 0s9‘0ty S T69'9ge S LTI S SouBURUIBIN IRIUIM  of
%8~ (000°T) $ 000°8TT S E6VETT S 000°6TT S E€LET9 S 8F6'SY S SJueuUIjuUIEN PEOY QT

98eule.qg @ SPeOY - 09

% ¥20Z-£202 $ ¥Z0z-£202 139an4 v20z "22d <= AlA £202 139ang £202 IVYNLIV 2202 IWNLIV 1202 NOISIAIG IN3N1YYd3a

%00° - S 00S'6T $ SES‘0T $ 00561 $ L6 $ 80091 S S3IBPWI) - 0§
%0 E S 00S'6T $ SESOT $ 00S'6T S CEL'6 $ 80091 S $3BIBWR) UMOL ot

$314919WA) - 0§

% PZ0T-€202 S #202-€202 139an49 v2oz 224 <= ALA £20Z 139ang €202 VN1V 2202 VN1V 1202 NOISIAIG IN3N1Y¥Vdaa

%66°€ 0£0'L S S008I S 56897 S SI6'SLT S G9/‘8ET S 6/8°6IT S uo13a01d - Ot
- - $ 0001 $ 662'T $ 000T $ = $ z ¢ suonesadQ Adudsiawl gz
%00°'S 0002 $ 0002y S TTE9T S 0000V S 065VE S [99'SE S 8uiyoledsia o
%000 - S 0SSV S Ltp $ 0SSV S 6¥F9 S 69T'T S S3US I9MOL g
%0001 Ore’s $ ovL'ss S 00L'9¢ $ 00V'ES S orr'se S T9T'TE S aoueINquIY oz
%00 - (ot€) S STL9L S LTTTE S SZ0'lL S LT9'6S S 78609 S juawpedag aid op

Uu0112910.d - 07

% tT0T-£T0T S v20T-£202 139an49 v20Z 224 <= d1A €202 13oangd €202 IVN1DV 2202 IVYNLDV 1202 NOISIAIG LN3IWLYVvdaa

sasuadx3y 70z Ad




£202/6/T

%591 LLY'LYT'T S LLTI'POT'S $  059'6St'E $  00£'956'9 S I£6'€96'Ss $  820‘0£9'9 $ 1VLOL

%00 - S 000's AT S 000‘s S P96 S TIZ S 2IUB]SISSY |BJIBUID - S6
%000 - S 000°s S (ST $ 000's S 96 S 112 $ d0UBlSISSY [BJAURD (Of

9JUE]SISSY [BIaU9D) - §6

% YZ0T-£20T $ ¥Z0Z-£202 139aN9 ¥202 '290 <= AlA €202 139an4g €202 IVNLIV 2202 VNIV 1202 NOISIAIQ ININIYVYdIa

%88°Z- (¥ss‘z) $ _£g2'og S _£g£sop $ /£8'88 $ _9ggos $ _fge'op S pauissejpun - 06
%00°'00T- (000%) S - $ 002'C $ 0007 3 = $ . $ uonen|eAsy g
%00°0 . $ 00007 ey $ 000°0T S $ 000'ST S pung asldiaiu3 pjaypeay gg
%000 - S 8RLT S 8WLT S 8PLT S 6951 S 9/vT S 8uljigowmous g
%00°0 - $ 000'ST S Tws's $ 000'sZ s - $ 6veg $ Aouadunuod o
%00°0 - $ SES'PI $ PESYI $ SES'PT $ S8Z'pl $ S8Z'PL $ sa1ouasy 11J04d-UON (g
%000 - S 00001 S = $ 00001 $ - $ - $ 42119y xe ] Auadold |20 ¢t
%PT9 Clag $ 000'sZ $ 60572 $ vSS'sT $ z8v'0T $ £z's ¢ (14eIpJan0 / Juswaleqy) Aelan0 o

PaISSEPUN - 06

% ¥202-£202 $ ¥202-£20T 139an4d vzoz 220 <= A1A €202 139ang £202 IVNLOV 2202 1VNLDV 1202 NOISIAIQ IN3IWLYVdaa

%£9°9 276°6 S TI9°8ST S LLT'GET S 689'8pT S SZ6'TTT S Epe'sg S IIAIDS 172 - S8
%0T0 - (19) S 69t°0€ S ovv'LT S 0gS0€ S 0OIT't S - S puog "lUNIN TCOZ sg
%v0'T - (08t) S 86¥'Sy S Ovr'Iy S 8L6'SY S Ivvr'oy S 9’6 ¢ led pgog) puog "piing "lUNN 0Z0Z 08
%ITT - (86€) S 65¥'8T $ 9zsLT S /S88T S Tve'sT S ¥I96T § )T) Weq@ 1s)3nQ e7jo0deuRIBIN of
%LE0T 198°01T $ S8IP9 S T/8°TS S PEE'Es S TET'PS S £88'7S $ (syjohed ajdiynin) dandL 8414 o1

22IAJ2S 1937 - S8

% YT0T-£T0T $ t20Z-£202 139an9 vzoz "22d <= AlA €202 139ang €202 1VYNIOV Z20Z 1YNIOV TZ0T NOISIAIG LNINLIYVYdIa

%008 $9T'8T S S6T‘08E S TE0ZSE S TE0ZSE S EvL'6IE S 9v8‘00E S xe] Ajuno) - 18
%008 ¥91°8T S GAT'08E S TE0'ZSE S TE0'ZsE S EvL6TE S  9¢8°00E S Xe] Ajuno) 2agauusy oz

Xe] AJunod - T8

% YT0T-£20T S ¥202-£202 139aN9 ¥Z0T 224 <= LA €202 139ang €202 IYNLDV 2202 IVNLOV T20T NOISIAIG LNIWLYYd3a

%28°S- (8v6°2) S S994v A T4 S £190S S viS‘ov S bEOLY s suoneziuediQ |euoiday - 08
%00°02- (000°s) $ 00002 S 8ev'8 $ 000'sZ S [£9°9T S LETVE S Aed 1sdld oy
%10'8 750 $ $99'/2 S SLOLT S ET9'ST S [E6'ET § [6L'TC $  10LISI] PaYsISIBM 935500400 T

suolieziuediQ |euolday - 08

% 7202-£202 S ¥Z02-£20T 139an4d ¥20Z 294 <= dlA £202 139an49 €202 IVNLIY 2202 IVNLOV 1202 NOISIAIG IN3NLYVd3Ia

%00°0T ISETLE S 958'p80v S £S°9S8°T S SOS'ETLE S BO6'VEIE S BO6'VEI‘E S uoneinpy - §£
%00°0T TSETLE S 9587807 § £G/'958'T S SOS'ETL'E $ SeT'eov'e S 806'vE9'E S 8E# NSY 0T

Cc_umu3_uu -G/

% ¥202-£202 $ 20T-£20T 139an4 vT0Z 220 <= A1A £202 139an9 €202 VYNNIV 2202 YNV T20Z NOISIAIQ LN3IWLYVYdIa

sasuadx3 vZ0zZ A4




£202/6/2

%5°9T LLVLPT'T § LLT'POT'S  $ 0S9°6SP'E & 009669 $ TE6‘E96'S $ 8ZO‘0E99 $ 1vlOolL

%00 - S 000°S S LST $ 000°S S v96 $ TIC S BdUe)SISSY |BIBUdD - S6
%6T- (rSsT) S €£87'98 S EE€S'9Y S [£8'88 S 9gg'9e $ EEEOv S payissepun - 06
%L'9 26'6 S TT9'8ST S LLT'6ET S 689'8pT $ GTR'ZZT S Ev6'Es S 2IAIB6 143Q - S8
%0'8 ¥91'8Z S S6T08¢ S TE0'TSE S TEOTSE S EVLBIE S 9¥8°00¢ S xe] Ayuno) - 18
%8S~ (8v6°7) S 599/t § €I5'se S £T9°0S S pLSOv S PEO'LY S suoneziuediQ |euoisay - 08
%0°0T ISE'TLE S 9S8'v80Y $ EGL°958'T S SOS'ETLE S 806'vE9E S 806'vE9’E S uonealnpy - /£
%THT LLT'SY S 2SL'06€ S S9E'TUT $ SLSTvE S 0TL'TeE S T98'80€ S 21SeM PIIOS - 0L
%0'€TT 0pS'LT9 § STTYOT'T S 997'st S G689'9pS S 06L'8L $ EE0SLOT S sjuawaaoldwy |ende) - g9
%.°8 00T'LY S 0S.'98S S 6ST'L6T S 059'6ES S 990'86€ $ S/T0TE S adeuleiq 13 speoy - 09
%0°0 . S 00S6T S SESOT $ 00S6T S TEL'6 S 80091 S sala™dWa) - 09
%0’ 0€0°L $ S00€8T S G689 S SL6'SLT S G9/'8€T S 6/8°6TT S uo1123104d - OF
%y'S- (6ST'E) $ 8p5'sS S 78epE S £0.°8S S tIt'se S T90°LT S SAINAIPY B ‘Syied ‘UOIIEIIIBY - OE
%Y vPT'E S L¥8LL S EIVLE S E0L'ML S §98'sTT S 0ST'v9 S $921A195 Ajunwiwo) - 57
%Z 0T 0T¥'9T $ 0TZ'9.T S trS'ss S 00£09T S 959°€pT S tv92'1ZT $ JueudUIEN - ZT
%T'T 00€°L S 0£7'/89 S LTL'90E S 0E6'6L9 S TL¥'SSS S 17708y S uonessIuIwpYy - 0T

% ¥20Z-€20¢ $ ¥Z0Z-€20T 135an8 ¥Z0Z 224 <= glA £20C 139dn4d €202 VNIV Z20¢ IVNLOV T20C 1NIN1HYVd3a
ISNIdX3 - AHVININNS INJINLIHVYCIad

sasuadx3 707 Ad




€202/6/t

9JUB)SISSY [BI3UID) - 56
paljisse|dun - og =
231AI95 1020 - §8 =
xe] Ajuno) -8 m
suoneziue3diQ |euciday - 08 |
uonesnp3 -/ m
91SEM PlOS - 0L =
sjuawanoldw] jeyde) - som
afeulelq 13 SPEOY - 09 W
S31I913WI) - 0S W
U0I32910.d - OF W
S2IUANDY 13 ‘Syied ‘UOIIRaII3Y - OE
$92IAISS AJUNWWO) - GZ
aJueuIURN - ZT

UOIBJISIUIWPY - 0T |

jusawnedaq Aq sasuadx3y 198png 20z

ERIIVELS
19ed-S8 ™

xe] Ayuno) - 18 m

suoneziuedip
|euoiday - o8 m

uolleinpy-q/m

%6t m
91SEM PIOS - 0L =

syuswanosdw|
|jexden-som

%6'L W
a8eulelqg

'y Speoy -09m
%8'L m
sallalawa) - 0§ gicom
%80
%T'T

uoIa310ld - o7 = oc
SallAIRRY e

g 'Syded
‘UoI1ERUI3Y - DE M %10

%L0 m
%1'S =

SIIIAISS
Ajunwwo) - g7 |

BIUBUBIUIBI
-{1m %S'C m

uol3eJISIuIWpY
-0l =

jusawiedag Aq
sasuadx3 193png £20¢

sasuadx3 20T Ad




£202/6/2

&
>
2
% &
5 i & L
E @s,v 2 RN & aa\ﬁv &
22 o o & 9 & > Py N & .Q
& <8 2 <® o o .Q > & g & o & - &
s S 2O ) oY - o S & ~ . a N /@AV S
& R &.{o, & %.@ %& K e o P zo,,v 54 @nu, N =
2 o -
o%n.u //m.q i g oow & o o @%\ @;.@ & Jv,,%., o/,/,, ooo &
2 & 3 &7 & o & & » 2 P 2 @ 2 *"
%00T-
7 %V'S-
%8°S-
L 1 O\0m. NI 1 ] 1 |ﬂ 1 1 1 1 Q o
n\n O O ey Josies -8 I [|_|._|¢[..|.|,|I|F|E|[I|,4n 4
%L'9 %0'8 %0°0T %T'¥T % %00 % 0¥ %Y i %
%001
%0°ETT
%00¢
Jawedaq Aq d3uey) % y20z-€20C
&
o 5 = o G
a < D ® K, ;
27 % N @.,vm.v 5O 5 0voo & S
S :
@@0 P . < <P 40@ & ¥ oov// & & & & ooov &a\c &
A - & & & ] ¢ o & > > W & &
& R 5 & & & & A © N o > A & ot
& & SIS T N S @ 5 N & > &
s 2 3 > o o & N o X o S oY NG &
2 ® 3" +# & 5 @ & 3 E N - P ey S
13oang yeozm : _ _ o _ _ - g
139angd €20z m 000°000°T$
000°000°ZS
000°000°€S
000°000'vS
000°000°SS

juawniedaq Aq sjeiol ¥20z-£202

sasuadx3 20T A4




€202/6/T

\Ohn\
2
2
(=N o
\0 n.vna @&zs A
\Ovno 5> O & o Fo
Mo S ) S o5
2 " % & & Y od o° & &
o 9 - <& o o o S & & S N & g <
AN o = o) & % & © ® 9] > & S /@,uu N4
3 o e & e & 3 & © S © o o ol s
& ; /,%um . R /\/v, oow O@J %vk/ oeov @% & %@ /)v,.,/ o/@ &@o %v

3 P e © & *F 5¥ o P @ * o @ ey N

000°00S5-
(8v6'7)$ (65TE)S
(rss7)s ¢
1 L 1 1 1 1 1 i 1 5 1 I|_|I|I O
- o, s w I
$ 7e6'6S  voT'8TS 5 ogos PYI'ES  OTP'9TS
LLT'8YS 00T 254 00£°£$
TSETLES
000°005$
0rS'L19%

000°000'TS

yuawnedaq Aq aduey) S ¥202-£20¢

sas5uadx3 $70T7 Ad




€202/6/T

. : gt = s ¢ S s - e 3 FDONYNILINIVIA - 2T
= 3 T s - R A T k& XVL113nd otov

IDONVNILNIVIA - 2T

% v20Z-€20T $PCOZT-€20Z  13DANE ¥Z0Z 3A<=ALAEZ0Z  13DANGE€Z0Z  TWNLIVZZO0Z  TVNLIV TZ0T NOISIAIQ ININ1¥Yd3a

%b'8 £98°75S S TPE'EYT'L S 162°2T9'S S 6/¥0659 $ tbo'zeL’9 $ 995'€Z0'9 $ NOILVHISININGY -0T
z 000'% $ 00001 S = $ 0009 S 3 3 - 3 spun4isni] Jo asn €£0S
%E6T 05909 S £06°19T Si - S £€57°L0T S = s - S plemiod Alied joasn 100S
%0°0F 000'00T S 000°0SE oH - $ 000°0SZ S e S e S spund pajeudisapun Jo @sn 000§
%T'8 00z’ $ 0002y $ 95980C $ 0088 S ¥88'9¢ S 80£TT $ 030 TYDOTHIALNI 0v0E
%0°0ST 0006 S 000'stT S 99g'9T $ 0009 $ 89T'TT S +#IZ'0T S §3343SN ANV1 0z0E
%002 0001 $ 0009 S ovZ's $ 000°S S SkP'9 $ €869 S S334 ONIGNNTd 0T0E
%00 = $ 00sT S 6CT'E $ 00SC S PERE S tyTe S aouelsissy BupesH S60T
%00 - $ 000s S TL9°€ S  000'S S E££6'F S 8£67I S JNOINI 43HLO 060T
%0°0 = S 00ST S 96 $ 00ST S 0LL'T S €051 S $334 AdOD 431411430 S90T
%0°0 = S S oy S 0s S 0¥s'T S 0S S $334 ISNIDIMSSINISNG 090T
- . S 005 $ - S 00S S - S ) S $334 3J1LON 9S0T
= - 3 5 S 2 s = S TIT S 00T S Sav ¥3L1IISMIN HSOT
%00 : $ 000%T $ CET'L $ 00071 $ ¥90°sT $ TIT9T S 334 INIOV €501
%L L~ (0o00‘0s) $ 000009 $ 08g'6ee $ 000059 S PIE099 S TT6'TOL S SIXVL ITDIHIA HOLOW ZSOT
%00 - $ 0058 S T9TT S 0058 $ 888 S 9€76 S SIXVL 3SIDX3 Lv0g TSOT
- - S 3 S = S = S 69L'SET S 7 S 6T-AINOD T¥OT
%9'9 96¢ S 0LE9S S PL6'S S vL6'S S 9oL S 8LLL S LN3NISYNBINITY 3139 ¥EOT
%0°0F 000t S 00071 $ 066'CT $ 0000t S 9/.'0T S o'’ S LNINISHNGNITY HLMOYD 3341 €€0T
%0 TT €657 S 9/TlET S SIS'EsT S EF9'v0T $ 0L0'0TT S s6vore S NOILdINIX3 AVILSINOH ZEOT
%00 = $ 00s8T S 080C $ 00S'T $ SvT't S 9/8C $ NOILdIAIX3 SNYY3LIA TEOT
%L'9T 0001 $ 000 S Sho'L $ 0009 S 68L9 § 8856 S JNODNI LNJNLSIANI TZ0T
%0°0T- (0o0°s) $ 00007 $ 8959 S 000'sT S TTL'6T $ 0BE'EE S S3IXVL NO 1SIYILNI $T0T
%STT 00005 $  000°05% $ 9SR'6YT S 000°00% S [90°LS¥ S OPS‘vIE $ ONIYVHS INNIAIY ILVLIS €101
%9°9 vE0'T S §Z99T S T65'ST S T16S'ST S 0£6°61 S T96'TC S XV1 ALYIdOYd T¥YNOSHId ¢I0T
%L 0S0‘TSE S 6TL9/0°S S TSLTHLY $ 699'STLYy S 789109 S 6206657 S XVL ALY3dOYd I1V1S31v3Id TT0T

NOILYYLSININGY -0T

% v20Z-€202 SrZ0Z-€207  139ANG ¥20Z 92A<=QlAE€Z0Z  139ANd £202 TWNLIV Z2oe IYNLOV 1202 NOISIAIQ IN3IWLYVd3a

$aNUaAaY YZ0T A4




€202/6/t

£ ) S - $ 0§ S - S - 3 - $ EIENEERIGE
i = S S 0S S in S - S - S suoijeuod 0zos

$31¥313N3D 05

% t202-£20¢ SvT0T-€T0T  139aNd9 v20Z 99A<=AlA €202  139ANg €202 IVYNLOY 2202 VNIV 1202 NOISIAIQ ININLYYd3a

%9°ST 00§ S 00L°E S 00§ $ 00Z'€ S 6991 $ O00£€ S NOILO3104d oF
= : S = SET L2 S S R S jueso A134es 4 0S0¥
%00 - S o0oz'e S 2 $ 00Tt $ 00zt $ 002t S S2MIS Jamol  00S€
) & S - s = Sheny = S 06 S 0o0¢ S auljuo SHWIRd uing g4 SEOT
- 00S S 00S S 00S S - S 6L6CT S 008 S SNOILYNOQ LNINL1¥YdIa 3414 0TOT

NOILD3LOYHd OF

% ¥202-£202 $¥20Z-€70T  139ANd $20Z 92A<=AlA €207  139AN9 €202 IVNLIV 2202 VYNV 1202 NOISIAIQ 1INJNLIY¥YdIa

%2°99 0088 S 00122 S SEI'vl $ O00E‘ET S 0£61C $ PS0TT $ SAILIALLOY 8‘S)HVd ‘NOLLYIHI3Y 0F
E ® 5§ = S T S - S SOET $ 009 $ S|lBdL 0TOL
e = S = S 000T S = S = S = S SIUBJD) / SUOI1BUOQ UOIIBAIBSUOD STOE
- = S - S 898 S - S &SI S = S SAVQ 3OVLINIH €L0C
- - S - S - S - S - S - S |ec0j493u| - pleog 29y LZ0T
%00 - $ 0097 s = S 009'T S SPST $ S8% S llegijos - pleog 29y 920¢
- 7 $ 00S S EPT $ 00S $ 005°T $ 0107 S NOILY3I4234 43HLO - Q¥v08 D34 S20¢
%9°8C 000T $ 0057 S 019'% $ 00S'E S SpS'e S ) S lleqiaysed - Q4v0d 234 ¥e0e
- = $ 0001 S = S 000T S 68§ S 0S¥ S ONIWINIMS - Qdv0d 234 £20T
%LTLT 008°c $ 0009 $ S6S'S $ 00T'C S 06LT S = S 930005 - adv0d 23y Teot
%L 9TT 005 $ 0059 S vIT $ 000°€ S §L89 S ISKT S 11v83Sve - QYv0d 23y 120¢
%EEE 005 $ 000¢ $ SI6ET $ 00ST S TE9'E S 8569 S 3NOONI HOY3g 0T0T

SAILIAILDY 8'SYV ‘NOILY3IYIIY OF

% vZ0T-£20T S vTOT-€207  139ANd ¥20Z 930 <=AlA€20Z  139ANd £202 IVNLOY 2202 1VYNLIV TZ0T NOISIAIQ ININIYYdIa

%'T T4 S 00S'8E S 0SP'1e $ SLe'LE S LLE'er S LT S S3DIAYIS ALINNWINOD S2
%00 - $ 000°¢ S EVLST $ 000°0% S £0L'0€ $ §S0'ST S $334 3SIHONVY4 AL 319vD 0T0S
%0°00T SzI S 0ST S SLt § szt S SLT $ 00T S suoJled say UoN Aleaqry 020w
%t - (002) $ 0S¢ $ 19T S 0S¥ $ STE S vse S SUOIINGLIIUOD 3sa( uol4 Aleign STOV
- 00t S 00S'T S SZ8'1T $ 00T'T S TOT'T S 8ST S $333004d 3TVS AdvHgll 0Tov
%68 00L $ 00S°T $ 259 $ 0081 $ 0T6'9 S 8T S SNOILYNOQ AYVYET S00F
= $ 910 S el o e S Qlv 3LV1S Advddn T00v
- : $ 0002 ) E $ 000C S 955, S 6Tre S AT1GN3IY4 39V 000€
= # 9 ? S 0t S - $ St S €€ S aNNd4 NOILYNIDOVA 904 ZTI0T
= ) S 00S $ 0ST $  00S $ 09¢ S 09g S o) saigey TTOT
%0°'ST- {00s) $ 00ST S 865 $ 000 S L0T'T S veY'T S 334 3SN3DI1 904 TOYINOD TYWINY 0TO0T

SIDIAYIS ALINNININOD ST

% 202-£202 $¥Z0Z-€20Z  139ANd ¥20Z '220 <= 1A €202 13oang €202 IVNLIV 2202 IVNLIY 1202 NOISIAIQ LIN3N1¥VYdIa

SaNUaA3Y ¥20¢C Ad




£20t/6/¢

%S'9T LIV'LVT'T $ LLT'VOT'S $ 820'0Z8'S $ 00L956°9 $ €6E'SE9'9 $ 9TT'bZE $ VL0l

%0°0 - $ 00SC AP $ 00SC S 89¢ g - S JONVISISSY TvdINID S6
%00 - $ 00S8C s - $ 00S°T $ 89¢ g e 3 INNIATY ILY1S-1SISSY 1¥4INID 0TOT

JONVLSISSY TYH4INID S6

% ¥20Z-£202 StZ0Z-€20¢  13DANE ¥20T 99U <=QlAE€Z0Z  13DANd £202 VN1V 2202 1YNLOV 1202 NOISIAIQ LININLYYdIa

%8°9T- (000°s) S 8vL'vT S 5 S 8vl'6e AT S BELT S Aa3jHISSYIINN 06
%00 i S 000 - S 000°€ $ €00°€ S 0LT S punj aslidiaiul plalypeay ooy
%00 E S 8T G I S 8vLT S 8Ll $ 695T S s394 3|lgowmous  0TOE
%0°0¢- (0oo0’s) $ 00002 S - $ 000°sZ S - S > S anuanay yled isil4 0SCT

Q3IHISSYIINN 06

% ¥20¢-£202 $PT0T-€20C  139ANE ¥Z0Z 92A<=QlA €20z  139ANd £20Z IVYNLOV 2202 1YNLOV TZ0T NOISIAIQ LIN3NLHVYdIa

%1 T 2UTTE $ 195'092 $ €98'9z1 $ 68€'8Z $ £0v'vET $ vE6'STZ $ ALSVALIIOS DF
%181 orz'st $ 1ST'66 $ 6ST'vY $ TT0'%8 $ G8E'S8 S 8970 3 JYVHS SANAVM - SINNIATY SL 060£
%€°9T ZE6'0T $ 0108 S SSSIY $ 8049 S 67199 $ 5669 $ JYYHS JLLIAYS - SINNIATH SL 680L
- 00S°T S 0051 S g S = S . S - S SJUBID) UONEIS Jajsueld] 0S0L
%00 - S 00¢ 8 S 00g S oov s F S S)IWIad sJ3|ney [epJawwo) 0v0L
- {005°2) S = S 3 $ 00ST $ S6T'E &, - $ BuijpAday Jos 28uUIS S1 9T0L
- - $ 00S $ €92 S 00S $ L¥9 S TSS S ¥IHLO - $319VIDAD3Y SL STOL
%9°'8¢ 000y $ 000°8T $ 6£0'6 S 000%T $ €£9%6T S SIT'ET S VLI - $319VI0AD3Y SL ETOL
- . S 2 S 8LT S 7 $ 6l S g S 1SOdINOD/31DAD3Y SL TT0L
%0°S 000°¢ $ 000€9 S 0L91€ $ 000°09 $ 0z8'ss $ [£8's9 S $334 NOILVLS ¥34SNVYL 0T0L

3LSYM QI10S 0L

% t20T-£202 $¥Z0Z-€20  139AN9 #20T '22Q<=QlA£20Z  13DANd £202 TYNLOY 2202 TYNLOV 1202 NOISIAIQ LNIN1Y¥Ydaa

%9'069€ L19°2SS S 9ZL'TLS S 9518 $ 60T'ST $ 6LE'6GE S ¥8P'0T S SLNIWINOYAIAI TVLIdYD S9
w - S - S - S - S - S - S we( 27 y00JBUBIBIA (0659
%ELT LT19T S 9Tl $ 9508 $ 60T'ST S 06LPT S 80T S (suAepn 18 9119AR4) UOIIRIS JBJSURIL 0LS9
- 000°0¢ $ 000°0€ s - s - Spn- g 5 - $}|eMapIS 0559
" - S F S 00T S z S L6E S - S splRylleg 5259
- < g - g = S 2 S TEIYT S : S uoljeuop + puog ('qr +a4) uipjing Z159
- ) s - S . S : S g S . S (43430 + VdHy) siueso puegpeolg Z0S9
- 000SZS S 000'szs S : S . S £ S = S spaa20.d puog |edidiuny 00S9

SLN3WIAOYHAINI TYLIdVD S9

% t20Z-£202 S¥Z0T-£207  13IDANE ¥20Z °Q<=QlA£€20Z  139ANd £202 YNLDV 2202 IVNLOV 1202 NOISIAIQ LIN3IW1¥YdIa

%00 - S 0009t S Tlv'ot S 000°9€ S TL99€ S VIEVE ) ageuleiq g Speoy 09
§ - 5 - S S = 5 2 $ 0sT 5 JNODNI AYMHOIH 0202
%0°0 - $ 0009 S TLY'9E $ 000'9¢ S TL9'9¢ S t9TvE S JONVLSISSY AV0Y 1¥201 010T

98euleaqg 3 speoy 09

% ¥202-£202 S¥Z0Z-€20¢  13DANYG ¥20Z 92 <=ALAE€20Z  139ANG £202 IVNLIY 2202 TVNLIV TZ0Z NOISIAIQ IN3NLY¥YdIa

S9NUaAlY #Z20¢ Ad




£202/6/T

%S°9T LIV IPTT S LIT'POT'S $ 870'078'S S 009569 S €6E'SEY9 $ 9TT'vZE9 $ V10l

%00 - $ 00ST S - $ 005C S 89¢ S - S JDNVISISSY TVHINID S6
%891~ (000°s) S 8LVT S - S 8vL'6T S TISL'v S BELT S a3lHISSYIINN 06
%I tT TLTTE $ T195°09¢ $ €989T1T S 68E'8TC S €0v'vET S PE6'STT S 31SYM aI1os 0L
%9°069€ LT9°1SS S 9zL'TLS $ 9ST'8 S 60T'ST S 6LE'6E S ¥8¥'0T S SLNINIAOYAINI TVLIAYD S9
%0°0 - $  000'9¢ S TLY'9E S 000'9€ S TL9'9E S VIEPE S a8euieaq 'g speoy 09
- - S - $ 0§ S 5 S . S E S $31Y3L3INITD 0S
%9°ST 00S S 00L°E S 00S S 00T'E S 69¥'9T S 00g'€ S NOI1D310Yd Ot
%2'99 008’8 $ 00T'ZC S SvIYT S O00f'€r S 0£6'TC S ¥S02T $ SAILIAILIY 2'SHYVd ‘NOILYIYDIY 0F
%y'T SZs $ 00S°8€ S 0SY'1T S S/6LE S LLE6Y S L2L'Te S SIDIAYIS ALINNININOD ST
- ) S - S - S - $ - S - $ JONVYNILNIVIA - 2T
%' £98°2SS S TYEEPTL S 16TTI9'S S 6/%'0659 $ ¥¥0'TET9 $ 995'€Z09 $ NOILVYLSININGY -0T
% t202-£202 S ¥202-€20¢ 139and ¥20T 294 <= 1A £20T 1395an4g £20¢ IVNLIV 2202 IYNLOY 1202 IN3INLYVHIA

JNNIATY - AHVINIINNS LNIINLIHV4Id

$SaNUBABY KZ0T Ad




£702/6/2

3ONVISISSV TVHINID S6 ™

d314ISSvIONN 06 =

31SYM aI1os oL =

SINIWNIAOUCINITVLIAYD S99 =

a8eulelq x speoy Q9 =

S314313N3D oS m

NOILD3LOYd Ov m

SIILIAILDY B'SHYVd ‘NOILYIYDIY OEm

S3DIAYIS ALINNIWINOD Sz

FONVNILNIVN - T |

(uonpaisiuiwpo buipnjIxa)
juawiedag Aq anuanay 198png 20¢

FONVISISSY
TVY3INID S6 =

A314ISSVIONN 067

JISVM AINos 0L =

SININWINOUYdINI
WVLdVD S9m

adeulelg

'3 Speoy Q9=
%LV =

S314313NID oS =
%00 =

NOILDIL0Yd ovm %60 m

SIILIAILOV B'SHYVd
‘NOILY3I¥D3Y oem

S32IAY3S
ALINNININOD sTm

JONVNILNIVN -CT B

(uonpaasiuiwpo buipnjaxa)
Juawiliedaq
Aq anuanay 198png €202

SaNUaNaY +Z07 A4




€202/6/t

&
3FONVISISSY Tv¥INID S6 = i L & oar
B AAVAU \ﬁ&‘v 09 I.VJ\va /?O A.xf. \0\/
Q3HISSYIONN 06 = & ® N S S° & & & & S @Ob
e & & & R 5 S o ,V/A,. B &
31SVM aI10S 0L & %o & & % Y 52 5 <3 & 3
QY G P\ A S¥ oY ¢ 3 2 N <
SLNIWIAOYAINI TVLIdYD G9 = S X & > N oF ) NG
Z9 & » & & F N A & 2 N
98euleiq 1@ speoy Q9 m %91~ %005-
S3Y3ILINID osm e : _ : : — | _ _ %0
%00 Fhin %00 %299 %005
NOQOILD3104d O = %L PT %600 69'ST ST %00 ot 4
: ] %000T
S3ILIAILDY '8'SHHVd ‘NOILYIYIIY OEm %00ST
S3DIAY3S ALINNNINOD ST ® %000Z
FONVNILNIVIA - ZT = %0052
%000€
NOILVHLSININGY -0T m
%00S€E
e %000%
juswiedaq Aq aSuey) % 2nUdAY HZ0Z-£207
nonv
& L &op oo%
& & ® & & %
Q P v N > < & A
> Q Q 5 9 & o ) &
<2 o S o > 2
& S > K N & Q
A ol © ® G & 2 SN S
& £ S oF S \ o > o >
/x..,d S & P 2 % A & 4.\vv
& o & O g & > Gl & S
Ko S > By & D ® S & £y
1390an49 ¥Z0z = _ _ —— e Y
13oang szozm 000'00T$
000002
000°00€$
000°007$
000°005$
000°009%
00000L$

(uonpaasiuiwipo buipnjoxa) uswnedaq Aq sje30] 2nuaAdY yZ0Z-£202

SoNUSAIY 207 Ad




£202/6/T

,voﬁo
>
S
5 &
o 8 N
GVOV /% v Y O\v A
4 )bfw & A N\ o A 9
> & Y & S & Q 50 & 4 S
Q & Q Q G o D N
n S oK X R ~ > S Q &
S %] S o ¢. & & ey e & B
o £ B ey o A NG o & & >
& 5 & 3 o & R & AT & &
£ S N & 8 & S & & 5 S
000°00T5-
JONVISISSY TYHINID S6 ™ (0005)3
L - 1 T 1 n@? I I 1 1 CCM..V 1 — 1 L - L [ Om
@3ISSYIINN 06 = S e p 00885 $
31SYM a10S 0L 5 T4
SLNIWINQHdINI TYLIdVD S9m TLT'TES

adeulelq 13 speoy 09 m - 000°00TS
SAYILINID 05 =
NOILD3104d O =

SAILIAILIY B'SHYVd ‘NOILYINIIY OEm - 000'00Z$
SIDIAYIS ALINNININGD SZ =
IONVYNIINIVIAI - ZT

NOILVYLSININQY -OT m - 000°00€S

- 000°00¥S

- 000'005%$

192553 £98°28SS o

juswedaq Aq a8uey) § anuanay vZ0Z-£20¢

SINUINY ¥20¢C Ad




£202/6/t

piemiod Auie) Jo asn T00S
spun4 paleusisapun JO asn 000S =
032 TVO0TH3ILNI OF0E =

§334 3SN ANV10Z0€E
S334 ONISINNTd OTOE =
2ouelsissy SulleaH s60T ®
JWODNI HIHLO 060T =
$334 AdOD Q3141L¥3D0 S90T =
$334 3SN3IDIT SSINISNG 090T =
S$334 IDILON 950T =
SAV Y3LLIISMIN #S0T B
334 IN3OV €S0T B
S3IXVL I1DIHIA HOLOW 2S0T =
SIXVL 3SIDXI LVvOd TSOT =
6T-AINOD T#OT =
1IN3IW3ISYNGINIFY 3139 PEOT =

ININISHNENITY HLMOYD 33HL €EE0T B

NOILdINIX3 Q¥3ILSIWOH ZEOT m
NOILdW3X3 SNVYILIATEOT W
JNOINI LNIWLSIANI TZ0T =
SIXVLNO 1S3H3INI ¥TOT &
ONIYVHS INNIAIY ILVIS ETOT W
XV1 ALHIdOYd T¥YNOSH3d CT0T W
XVL ALYIdO¥d ILVISITVIY TT0T =

T005|0005|0F0E|0Z0EI0TOE|S60T|060T|S90T|090T|9S0T|{PSOT|ESOT|ZSOT|TSOT|TOT|VEOT|EEOT(CEOT|TEOT|TZOT|VTOT|ETOT(CTOT|{TTOT

I—

o

m
bl =

o

[
; 2|z vz |2
° 2 S RS2 |5]|= Z12|5
g|¢g B2 3= = TIE| A5z |z|2]3
2 3 b W = m - o o - = = = m = m > =
S |m 2 o | w ol|lxm]|w m AT m (m | B[R e e | ] m
o tn, = i~ = =3 = = (%] = < = =z =z 5 = =z = m o o
& ') m c = T m — b m m v — o = = =
a > = = = | @ = o s = = = = @ @ m m = = c o o
=0 Bl (= s > olml Q| m|E=d&F|O cle | x| x]|5 m| 9| D
S - (o T e RS Feh-i Bl [ e Jlald 6alalzd| 2D Q|lw m | m
& e el ekzie ] I e el gl ol l2lElz|2 ]88 |2
S|a|lp|m|a|8 gl<|mImig|lslg|lg|=|2 |23 |=|lo|lz|z2|3|3
= c o T n E (@] n T - > e > =) — — =l = Q = = i 5
diadm Eepnl sl BRIl el Rl alslal=zl=z|BlB =22l |B
a o (@] wn wn ] m w wn v ) m v wn w — — = = m wn (9] = e
%0°0C-
%L L-
%0'0 %0°0 %0°0 %0°0 %0°0 %0°0 %00 %00 %00
0/q° o q° 5
%99 S0 TT _xm.maam QoL
YE
%0°0Z %L 9T
%001 %00

%0°0ST

uoisinlg Aq uonessiulwpy - asueyd % INUANIY vZ0TZ-£20T

%0v-

%0¢-

%0

%0¢

%0V

%09

%08

%00T

%021

%0v1

%091

SaNUBAY YTOT A4




£70t/6/¢

T005/00050%0€/0Z0€|0T0E/S60T|060T|590T|090T|950T|rSOT|ESOT[ZS0T|TSOT|TvOT|rEDT|EE0T|ZEDT[TEOT|TZOT[PTOTIETOT(2TOT[TTOT
I—
]
m
m
) -
piemiod ALeD Jo asn T00S c @ I I
) 2|3 =12 |
spun4 pajeudisapun Jo asn 000S = & =) - m M m m = m = =R m
&a c m = ] fes] m b m < = =
032 WO0WaINIOvoEm | © | 2 | _ = S = S|o == 4|2 |G|5|8|2|3
>2|5| (218 |c|5|8 2 < |3 SIZ2IEI2|I2|IR|5|5%|3
sasasnanviozoes | |e |22 E(S|Z|5 2|28 ol By S E|S|215|8|2|8]3
FimilL Rl e is i Bnl GO rmtr g o). [ CiC o | x| o1 mis|lm
$334 DNIGWNId OTOE = |2 (Bleclzlglslel2l2|d|alslz|g|B |2 B|2B|z |2 |e|2|m
siS|2|lRlalz |82 |R[BIS|Z|alal2|2|2|5|3|8|a|2(3]2
sauelsissy SunesH Se0T ® = |2 nlm |8 |o|m|m| . S|z |35 I13|8|3|=
O = (] m m = m m m Pl n = = 0 m m o) o =z > = = =
2B i Elelelg | Elpnlalel8lglzlolas|S|2|2|8|B 8|2|&
3NODNI ¥IHLO 060T = 000'00T%-
$334 AJ0D Q3I41L¥3D S90T =
(000'08)3
$334 ISN3DIT SSINISNG 090T = 000°054-
$334 3DILON 950T =™ .
000°T$ (000°5)$
SAVY 43 LLIISMIN +SOT = L st 1 L L 1 L I L L I L 1 R - 1 1 L e ! L H Om
€5 4 4 % 5 4 $ - 5 -$ o6 -$ 000" bE0'T
331 [NIOV €507 m 00065 Q. -EG TEGn HGT G HG L Eg $ S woofm $ 000°TS €0'TS
_ ££572S = ’
$3XVLIDIHIAYOLOW ZSOT® — — 000°05$
: | 000°05$
S3IXVL 3ISIDXI LvOd TSOT W 059'09%
6T-QINOD THOT B - 000°00TS
‘00T
LINIWISHNEINIZY 3139 pEOT | faper;
LIN3NISYNGINITY HLMOYD 3341 €E0T B - 000°0ST$
NOILJIN3X3 AVILSIWOH ZEOT |
NOILJINIX3 SNVYILIA TEOT W - 000°002$
JNOINI LNIWLSIANI TZOT m
- 000'0ST
SIXVLNO LSIYILN| FIOT s
ONIYVHS INNIATY ILVLIS ET0T
- 000°00€ES
XYL ALY3dO¥d TYNOSHId ZI0T m
XVL ALYIdOYd ILVLST TV3IY TTOT W .
- 000°0SES
050°TSES
000°00%$

uoisinig Aq uonessiuiwpy - agueyd $ aNUIAY YZ0Z-£20T

SanusAly 207 Ad




FY 2024

2023 Tax Commitment (for FY24)

Lo R R Y B A

S O 0

11.

12.
13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

23.

Town of Readfield
FY 2023 MUNICIPAL TAX RATE CALCULATION FORM
. Local Taxable Real Estate Valuation............................... $321,696,719
. Local Taxable Personal Property Valuation........................ $1,053,448
. Total Taxable Valuation (Line 1 plus line 2}, ..o ivuiciimiiniins siitiom i irsnnsssssn s asnenn oo $322,750,167
. a) Total of Homestead Exemption Valuation.......................... $18,941,400
. b) Homestead exemption reimbursement value......................... $14,395,464
. a) Total of BETE Exempt Property...........c.oooiviiiiiiiiinnen... $807,248
. b) BETE exemption reimbursement value................cocoevvvnnin.. $403,624
. Valuation Base (Line 3 plus lines 4b and 5b).................ooiiiiiiiiiiie, $337,549,255
APPROPRIATIONS
e e ) e o ur A S UL S $380,195
. Municipal Appropriation..c.css s i $3,614,126
. TIF Financing Plan Amounts................cooooiiiiiiiiiiiin i $0
. School/Educational Appropriations..........cccvvviviniiiiiiniennnenns. $4,084,856
(Adjusted to Municipal Fiscal Year)
Total Appropriations (Add lines 7 through 10)............oiiiiiiiiiii e $8,079,177
ALLOWABLE DEDUCTIONS
State Municipal Revenue Sharing................................... $450,000
Other Revenues:  (Revenues not accounted for in $2,327,288
Municipal Appropriation which are to be used to reduce the
commitment such as Tree Growth and Veterans reimbursement, $836,838
trust fund income, etc.)
Total Deductions (Line 12 plus line 13)..................cooeean... $2,777,288
Net to be raised by local property tax rate (Line 11 minus line 14) $5,301,889

$5,301,889.00 x 1.05 = $5,566,983.45

{Amount from Tine T5)

$5,301,889.00 + $337,549,255 = 0.01571
(Amount from Tine T3) (Amount from Tine 6)

$5,566,983.45 + $337,549,255 = 0.01649
(Amount from Tine T6) (Amount from Tine 6)

$322,750,167 X 15.78 = $5,093,343.53

(Amount from line 3) (MILL RATE)

$5,301,889.00 X 0.05 = $265,094.45

(Amount from Tine T3)

Maximum Allowable Tax

Minimum Tax Rate

Maximum Tax Rate

MIL RATE
TO BE DETERMINED

Maximum Overlay

$14,395,464 X 0.01578 = $227,175.85 Homestead Reimbursement
{Amount from Tine 4b) (Selected Rate) (Enter onTine 8, Assessment Warrant)
$403,624 X 0.01578 = $6,369.62 BETE Reimbursement
(Amount from Tine 3b) (Selected Rate) (Enter onTine 9, Assessment Warrant)
$5,326,889.00 - $5,301,889.00 =
(Line T9 plus Tine 2T & 22) (Amount from Tine T5)

(If Line 22 exceeds Line 20 select a lower tax rate.)

2/9/2023




FY 2024

Taxable Real Estate Valuation and Mil Rate Over Time

Fiscal Year Mil Rate Taxable RE Valuation General Tax Information
FY Mil Rate % Change * |Valuation % Change * |Interest Commit. Date  Notes

1998 2000 18.60 0.0% 123,049,000 2.6% 10% 9/7/1999

2000 2001 18.60 0.0% 123,652,330 0.5% 10.75% 9/18/2000

2001 2002 19.90 6.5% 126,062,740 1.9% 11.50% 8/20/2001

2002 2003 21.50 7.4% 126,102,370 0.0% 8.75% 8/21/2002

2003 2004 23.50 8.5% 128,931,635 2.2% 7% 8/19/2003

2004 2005 23.80 1.3% 127,886,052 -0.8% 6.50% 9/15/2004

2005 2006 14.50 -64.1% 215,140,662 40.6% 7% 9/8/2005 Revaluation
2006 2007 15.50 6.5% 218,471,667 1.5% 7% 8/24/2006

2007 2008 15.40 -0.6% 222,832,062 2.0% 10% 7/23/2007

2008 2009 15.40 0.0% 225,088,075 1.0% 8% 7/17/2008

2009 2010 15.40 0.0% 228,590,495 1.5% 6% 8/11/2009

2010 2011 15.85 2.8% 234,687,157 2.6% 4% 8/19/2010

2011 2012 15.80 -0.3% 235,984,354 0.5% 4% 9/30/2011

2012 2013 16.20 2.5% 237,595,654 0.7% 4% 7/17/2012

2013 2014 18.20 11.0% 238,389,551 0.3% 4% 7/30/2013

2014 2015 18.50 1.6% 238,928,998 0.2% 4% 7/28/2014

2015 20167 18.08 -2.3% 237,490,554 -0.6% 4% 9/2/2015

2016 2017~ 18.93 45% 235,540,554 -0.8% 7% 8/2/2016

2017 20187 19.29 1.9% 233,406,854 -0.9% 7% 8/25/2017

2018 2019 19.44 0.8% 236,460,554 1.3% 8% 8/16/2018

2019 2020 19.55 0.6% 239,131,154 1.1% 9% 7/31/2019

2020 2021 17.57 -11.3% 261,478,034 8.5% 9% 8/17/2020 10% Adjust.
2021 2022 15.79 -11.3% 290,458,034 10.0% 6% 7/29/2021 10% Adjust.
2022 2023 14.80 -6.7% 319,301,954 9.0% 4% 7/18/2022 10% Adjust.
2023 2024 15.78 6.2% 321,696,719 0.7% 8% TBD XX % Adjust

AVERAGE 17.19 3.4% 2.1% 8.6%

Average Excludes Revaluation Years

Decrease in valuation in these years is the result of changes to the State Homestead Exemption Formula

Valuation

350,000,000

Mil Rate and Taxable Valuation Over Time

o

300,000,000

/\

23.00

250,000,000

N

r 21.00

200,000,000

A

19.00

150,000,000

17.00

100,000,000

J\—

15.00

50,000,000

- 13.00

0 T T

11.00

)
%,
@ %

T T

T T T T T

D L S Y YO S S S S, S, T . . T O O
o, ~0, 0, Y0, Y0, Y0, Y@, Y0, Y0, ~0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0.
Q 2 @ 0? Qo G O O Qg p ¥, 2 (4 £ Ip Yo Yo "6‘.,. < &3
= \/aluation Mil Rate

0, S0, S0y 0, 0y "0y SO
o S Sy

T T T T T

%, %o <o <

9.00

2/9/2023




£202/6/T

« 90UB|Eg pU3 pung pajeusisapun m « DJUB|Bg pu3 pun4 pajeudisagm « 9JUejeg puj pung pajeudisapun = « @JUe|eg puj pung pajeusdisag =
¥Z0Z €20z ZzOZ IZ0Z 0Z0Z 6I0Z 8T0Z £I0Z 910z SIOZ  +I0T
- 0% 0s$
- 000°005% 000°005$
000°000°T$
- 000°000'TS$
000°005'T$
000°005'1$ 000°000°ZS
000°000TS - : 000°005°Z%
000°005°TS - 000°000€$
1ed |easi4 Aq saouejeg pu3j pun4 Jed |easiq Ag soouejeg puj pung
1Spung pajwwo) Jo a5 A4 1usn)
%0 12T P'S8L V8T S snjdins / 119342Q
san[pA pajowins3 €8T'8E9'T S aouejeq 8ulpul 4n pajaspng
ZZAd ybnouya pasn aiam saoup|og pu3 paipny i Q6EEGET S ouejeg Adljod wnwiuiin 4N
T08'T08'T S QTY'LLT'T S 66070T S pOL'TLT S 668°67I'T S TLT'8L9 S 9GE'GeT S £6595¢ S 1S9'90L S JOVHIAY
961°TZ8C S | es1'8e9'T S | ooo‘oog S | ooo‘ose S | €81°889°T S| sTo'esT’T S | ooo‘00E S | €06°29T S | 916°0ST’T S |vzoz  €eot
66068T°C S | €E8T°889'T S | 000°0SE S | ooo‘oo€ S | €81'8€9'T $ | 9T6°0ST'T $ | 000‘0S€E S | esz'L0t S | 691'800°T $ |ecoz  zeot
TSE9Y9’T S | e81'8e9'T S | 000°0SE S | 000°0sT S | €8T'8EST s | e91'800°T S | ooo‘ose s | ozz'zer S | 6Ev'06L s |zeoz teoT
779'8TE'T S | €81'8¢e5'T S | 816°T99 S | 890°60s S | egg’sgeT S | 6ev'06L S| T91'8CE S| 9L0'916 S| ¥SE'BLET s |tcoz  ozot
£89°€9L°T S | ege‘s8e’T S | oer'692 S | 88v'z8e S | TeE'86ET S| rSE'8LET S| LTZ'0SS $ | 099’0t S| L6L'5€E6 s lozoz 10T
88TPEE’T s | 16€'86€'T S| 6TLTIZ S | ooo'szt S | zeo'vieT S | L6L'S€E6 S | 962’892 S | eog'Lee $ | v08'v68 S |etoz  810T
9/1'602°C S| zL9'vIe’T S | 668'09€ S| TEL'LTT S| vOS‘TLT'T S | v08'v68 $ | ov8TLE $ | 8T8'¥8T $ | 284'90L S |8toz ‘s10T
987'8/8'T S| vOS'TLT'T s | zos'se $ | 000°0€T S | ZTO8'SEET s | z8s'90L S | EV8EET $ | 0zo'LTT S | 656'669 S |Ltoz  9t0T
194'S£0'T S | zog'segT $ | eLg’ege $ | €81'00¢€ $ | zr9'zor'T s | 656'669 S| £98°LTT S | s98've $ | £56'959 s |9t02  STOT
695650 s | zro‘zor't S| s8L'TZT S| TZP'ETT S | 8vT'veE'T s | £56'959 S | z8t'seT S | #8091 $ | 619229 s|stoz  vIOT
£98'9T0'C S | svz'vec’T $ | 8Lo’ess ) 2 S| 041°T08 S| 619229 S | eeozs S| LEV'PET S | €zo'sL9 s |rToz  €T0T
92ue|eg pun4 paulquodpun4 pajeusisapun spund maN spund jo asn 3oue|eg |einiulf3 pund pajeusisaq ‘sued] 7@ ‘A3Y 19N spund Jo asn 2dueleg |eniu]]  JeaA [BISI4
sasue|eg pun4 paugisseun sa3uUeleg pund paniwwo)

JeaA [easid Aq spund Jo 3s() pue sajuejeg pun4 pausisseun pue paljwwo)

20T Ad




€20¢/6/¢C

0€oe

6¢0¢

8¢0¢

£20T

9¢0¢

Y404

veoc

€zt

¢eoe

T

000°0Z$
000°0¥S
00009%
000°08$
- 000°00TS
- 000°02TS
000'0¥TS
000'09T$

000'08TS

000002$

1eaA |easi4 Aq 921n19S 1g9 g wudl-3uo] paiadpng R Jud4un)

|edPIUNIASEES TZOZ @

HoAed pZAd -
puog 3onJl 2414 9T0Z |

Hohed 6ZA4 - weq
jooJdeUBIBIA 8TOZ B

sohed

9€Ad - puog Buipjing
ledpiunA 0ZOZ &

HoAed LEAL - puog

J30Aed TEA -
puog ¥onJy 344 $207 =

BIEGST S ZBT'9LT S 0ST/ZLT S 06T'8LT & v82'6LT S 6£r'08T S |0OT9'8ST S |689'8rT & 976°TZT S 1VIOL
ZEL98 S TEL'98 S TEL'98 S TEL'98 S TEL'98 S geL'98 Ss|zesTT S Hohed TEA4 - puog yondy allf #70T
PPE'OE S £9€0€ ¢ £8€0¢ § LIY0E S 8EY'OE S LS¥'0E  Ss|s9vos  s|ogsoE  $ 0OITE S HoAed /EAd - puog [edDIUNIA JSEES TZOT
W'ty S vty S BIVEY § 696'SY S LYW S PO0'SY s|eev'sy s|8Le'st S oy S 3j0hed 9€A4 - puog Buipjing [edRIunip 0Z0T
orz'9T S TTL9T § TLTYLT S LI9LT S 9%0°ST slesy'8T $|/s88T $ evrer S Hohed 6ZA4 - weq yoodeueleA 8T0Z
€Sv'cs S|PvrEEs S TETYS S HOABd YZA4 - puog ¥onJl adi4 9107
0£02 620¢ 820¢ LT0T 9z0T S202 202 €202 2202 193Q

20T Ad




£202/6/T

1€0T
SEe'OrT S
000's. ¢
67E0E S
919ty S
1£02

¥20c Ad



FY 2024

Budget Sheet Summary Revision History

1 ~ Changed all header information, rows, columns, etc. on all sheets to reflect FY24 24-Jan
2 Input FY23 YTD (6mo) and FY22 Actual values 25-Jan
3 Input draft FY24 budget numbers for available departments 26-Jan
4 JInput all remaining draft revenue and expense numbers 27-Jan
5 Set mil rate at 15.71 27-Jan
6 Added schedule of combined debt to Debt Service Sheet 31-lan
7 ~“Increased Roads Capital $275,000 to $325,000 to adjust for planned expense, added $25,000 to Use of FB 8-Feb
l8 -Adjusted Rec Dept. reserve use from $5,000 to $2,600 to balance budget 8-Feb
9 ‘Removed $3,000 in field maintenance expenses 8-Feb
10 'Set mil rate at 15.77 8-Feb
11 ‘Added $1,500 for TS flammables cabinet with offset for grant funding 9-Feb
f;12 ‘Adjusted wages, etc. for Collections Clerk position to move from 38 to 40 hrs/week (+ $2,915) 9-Feb
13 fAdjusted mil rate to 15.78 9-Feb

2/9/2023



What's it gonna cost me if I'm a resident?

FY 2024

"Out of Pocket" change 2020 to 2024 5.4%
FY23 HOME VALUE
S 260,000 =5240,000in 2022, $220,000in 2021 and $200,000 in 2020
TAX YEAR |TAX RATE HOMESTEAD TAX ANNUAL DIFFERENCE? % Change
2024 15.78] $ 25,000 | S 3,709 | § 230.55 6.6%
2023 14.80( ¢ 25,000 [$ 3,478 ]S 83.15 2.4%
2022 15.79] § 25,000 | S 3,395 | S (31.30) -0.9%
2021 17.57| S 25,000 | $ 3,426 | S (92.85) -2.6%
2020 19.55] $ 20,000 | S 3,519 | S 19.80 0.6%
2019 19.44] S 20,000 | S 3,499 | § 27.00 0.8%
2018 19.29( S 20,000 | S 3,472 | s (29.85) -0.9%
2017 18.93] § 15,000 | S 3,502 | S 66.85 1.9%
2016 18.08] $ 10,000 | S 3,435 | § (79.80) -2.3%
2015 18.50] 10,000 | S 3,515 | § 57.00 1.6%
What's it gonna cost me if I'm not?
FY23 HOME VALUE
S 260,000
YEAR TAX RATE HOMESTEAD TAX ANNUAL DIFFERENCE? % Change
2024 15.78] § - S 4,103 | S 255.08 6.6%
2023 14.80| S - S 3,848 | S 58.40 1.5%
2022 15.79] S SR T ) (75.80) -2.0%
2021 17.57| § - S 3,865 | S (44.60) -1.1%
2020 19.55| § - S 3,910 | S 22.00 0.6%
2019 19.44| § - S 3,888 | S 30.00 0.8%
2018 19.29( S - S 3,858 | S 72.00 1.9%
2017 18.93( S - S 3,786 | S 170.00 4.7%
2016 18.08( S - S 3,616 (S (84.00) -2.3%
2015 18.50| $ - S 3,700 | S 60.00 1.6%
What's the value of the Homestead Exemption
YEAR TAX RATE HOMESTEAD VALUE
2024 15.78 | $ 25,000 | § 394.53
2023 14.80 | $ 25,000 [ S 370.00
2022 15.79 | $ 25,000 [ S 394.75
2021 1757 | S 25,000 | S 439.25
2020 19.55 | S 20,000 [ S 391.00

What's the Value of a Mil?

YEAR

AMT TO RAISE

VALUE OF 1 MIL

TAX IMPACT OF $100,000

2024

S 5,093,344

5 322,750.17

0.31 Mils

2/9/2023




NEW BUSINESS




Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023
Item # 23-080

-

] Casco Bay Advisors, LLC

Broadband/Telecom Consulting

February 3, 2023

Mr. Eric Dyer

Town Manager

Town of Readfield

8 Old Kents Hill Road
Readfield, Maine 04355

Dear Eric:

Casco Bay Advisors, LLC (Casco Bay) is pleased to present this proposal to the Town of Readfield
(Town), to assist the Town in its Franchise Agreement renegotiation with Charter (Spectrum).

We look forward to proceeding at your earliest convenience.
Sincerely,

it

Brian Lippold
President

2 Streamside Lane
Gardiner, Maine 04345
(207)233-2976
www.cascobayadvisors.com




=5 Casco Bay Advisors, LLC

Broadband/Telecom Consulting
1 Scope of Work

Casco Bay’s franchise agreement expert — Mike Edgecomb, will review the draft franchise agreement
provided by Charter (Spectrum), as well as the Town’s Cable Ordinance, provide recommended
changes to the Town, and review and provide feedback on any subsequent changes to the draft. Casco
Bay will also provide recommended strategies and feedback to the Town specific to the renegotiation
process. Casco Bay will remain in the background as an advisor to the Town and the Town will conduct
all communications with Charter (Spectrum).

Mike Edgecomb will perform the majority of all anticipated tasks with Brian Lippold providing oversight
and strategic direction as appropriate.

2 Pricing
The hourly rate for Mike Edgecomb is $150 per hour, plus expenses, and the hourly rate for Brian
Lippold is $200 per hour, plus expenses. Expenses are actual expenses incurred without mark-

up. Mileage reimbursement is at the IRS reimbursement rate in effect at that time.

We recommend budgeting $1,500 - $3,000 for the first half of calendar year 2023, and we will plan to
reassess the budget after 6 months, based upon the progress of the renegotiation to date.

3 Invoicing

Invoicing will occur monthly. Payment is due within 30 days after the date of invoice and balances
outstanding beyond these terms will accrue interest at the rate of 1.5% per month (18% per annum),
or the legally permitted maximum if that rate is lower.

4 Acceptance

Your notice to proceed can be a letter or purchase order that makes reference to this proposal, or a
copy of this proposal with an authorizing signature in the space provided below.

Accepted by: (Printed name and title)

Signature: Date:

2 Streamside Lane
Gardiner, Maine 04345
(207)233-2976
www.cascobayadvisors.com




Readfield Select Board
February 13, 2023
Jtem # 23-081

e Variwr
¢ GOVERNMINTS
1. cac) reaaite

KENNEBEC VALLEY COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS

CONTRACT FOR SERVICES

AMENDMENT

This is an amendment to the contract for services between the Town of Readfield (hereinafier referred
to as the "Town") and the Kennebec Valley Council of Governments (hereinafter referred to as
"KVCOG"), last dated August 24%, 2020.

The purpose of this amendment is to change the following:

“This contract is for a sum not to exceed $24:560 827,500 provided that the Town are paid members of
KVCOG during the duration of this contract.”

AND

“KVCOG will perform the tasks described in the Scope of Services prior to the termination date of
December 31,2022 2023.”

AND

“MNick-Asehauer Jessica Cobb, KVCOG Community Planner, will be assigned as the principal planner
for KVCOG,”

No other changes are made to this contract.

For the Town of Readfield:

By: Date:

Eric Dyer, Town Manager

For the Kennebec Valley Council of Governments:

By: Date:
Matthew Underwood, Executive Director




Mark Berpard
Executive Director

Charles C. Owen, Jr.
President

Chris "Tiger" Stockbridge
Vice President

Nancy Silva
Recording Secretary

Jack Wagner
Treasurer

Jason Hook
Sgt. at Arms

Readfield Seiect Board
February 13, 2023
Item # 23-082

P koin

Amerist Fodreatho of Saatw. County ind Munlcips! Ernployess, AFL-£10

February 2, 2023

Eric Dyer, Town Manager readfield.tmgr@roadrunner.com
Town of Readfield

8 Old Kents Hill Road

Readfield, ME 04355

Re: AESCME Local 2011-00 — Readfield General Contract Expiration: 06-
30-2023

Dear Town Manager Dyer:

In accordance with the State/Municipal Public Employees Labor Relations
Act, Chapter 9-A, Title 26, Revisions of 1976, Section 965-1, please
consider this our written request for collective bargaining for wages, rates
of pay and other conditions of employment for the above-mentioned
bargaining unit(s). Attached you will find our request for information.

Sincerely,

Syblvia Febient[bs

Sylvia Hebert

AFSCME Staff Representative
shebert@afscme93.0rg
207-360-9356 (cell}

Enc.

cc:  Anna Carll, Unit Chair hippiecarli@gmail.com

6 Rockwood Dr. « Manchester, ME 04351 - 207-622-6191 » www.afscrned3.org




Mark Bernard
Executive Director

Charles C. Owen, Jr.
President

Chris "Tiger” Stockbridge
Yice Prasident

Nancy Sifva
Recording Secretary

Jack Wagner
Treasurer

Jason Hoolg
5gt. at Arms

D koind

AFSCME.

Ameriean Feorrttion of Stxte, Gourty sd Munkbopal Emplopees, AFL-CHO

TO:

FROM:

DATE:

RE:

Eric Dyer, Town Manager readfield.tmgr@roadrunner.com
Town of Readfield

8 Old Kents Hill Road
Readfield, ME 04355

Sylvia Hebert, AFSCME Staff
Representatives

February 2, 2023

AFSCME Bargaining Unit(s)

In preparation for contract negotiations, please provide us with
the following information for each of the above referenced units:

A list by names & addresses of all employees
covered by this contract

Date of Hire

Current Job Title/Classification

Current Shift Worked

Current Hourly Wage

Current Amount of Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave
Current insurance level - family/single, etc
Current employee monthly insurance contribution
Current employer monthly insurance contribution
Any stipends or additional pay other than hourly
wages

Current job descriptions

Current # of vacancies

6 Rockwood Dr. » Manchester, ME 04351 - 207-622-6197 - www.afscme83.org




Readfield Transfer Station
Commercial Haulers Annual Permit - 2023

N & & - 2t o !

. (OFFICE USE ONLY) Readfield Select Board
i , February 13, 2023
| 32 '
Applicant: (S\ m mh \ﬂ? Wl_) ¢, n(}) Item # 23-083

1.) A fee of $100 was paid on_| l QH J A2 date, and collected byD{ﬂu\g \_10 { .

2.) A certificate of vehicle liability insurance, showing a minimum of $400,000 coverage, that allows
the vehicle 1o be used as a commercial hauler is attached and was received on, j l‘;} ias

3.) A recycling plan, WHICH IS PART OF THIS APPLICATION, was completed and submitted with
this application. The plan was received on, | ]%L{ ’9\’5

4.) A list of commercial customers in Fayette, Readfield, and Wayne including names, addresses, and
other detail information was submitted on and reviewed by the Town Manager on

NOTES:







Readfield Transfer Station
Commercial Haulers Annual Permit - 2023

PERMIT APPLICATION

Company Name: .giﬂommo-ﬂ Ly dng

e T—

Owner/Representative:~d (e © S—\\ el . Tel # 207~ Y[ 8576

Mailing Address: 20 Bot LD  ReodTdd Y . oyass

Street Address, if different:

1.) List of vehicles that will be used to haul materials to the Transfer Station.

MAKE MODEL YEAR PLATE #
Tordd F 350 2611

Chew — Duwargx 205 SATLA3

2.) As a separate attachment, provide a listing of commercial customers including their name,
address, seasonal status, number of dumpsters / cans, their size, their service frequency, and
an estimate of the volume of waste collected weekly. A sample form is attached. For both
commercial and residential customers, provide the information requested below:

Identify the number of customers you currently service from each Town

Fayette Readfield Wayne
Residential Year-Round Customers ' (ST
Residential Summer Customers : o
Commercial Customers D

Identify the number of customers you expect to service from each Town as of July 1, 2022

Fayette Readfield Wayne
Residential Year-Round Customers LS
Residential Summer Customers ' O
Commercial Customers O

3.) List all other municipalities where you are permitted to haul main stream waste:
1 C(‘le, ‘A(\J‘_\;MQ%L, 2

3 4

Hauler’s Signature: //ZV //’0’ Q.—._______ | //\ Date: S ey




Readfield Transfer Station
Commercial Haulers Annual Permit - 2023

RECYCLING PLAN

As part of the Readfield Commercial Haulers Permit Application, a Hauler’s Recycling Plan must be
submitted, along with an application for approval, to the Readfield Select Board. My application
includes the following information regarding my Hauler’s Recycling Plan (please check and initial all
that apply):

1.) I have informed my customers that they must separate recyclables consistent with the Readfield
Transfer Station Ordinance, and I will make the Recycling Guide available to all customers (Please
inform the Readfield Town Office if you would like a digital copy of the Recycling Guide).

Initial M) S

2.) If a customer does not separate recyclables consistent with the Ordinance and Recycling Guide, I
will provide written notification to the Readfield Town Manager.

 Tnitial_ 25
3.) I pick up MSW on i b \\ ml (i M (day) and Recyclables on’—\—{f\.U\AS(\{{ CUA  (day).
Initial >3

4.) 1pick up the following: ¢'Demo; Tires; /Mattresses/Furniture; ~"Metal & White goods. I
collect associated disposal fees from my customers and pay them to the Town of Readfield.

Initial 25

5.) My vehicle andl‘?trailer has yparate section(s) for all single-sort recyclables (paper, plastic,
metal, glass, etc.): v/, and for v~ MSW (regular household waste).

Initial 93

6.) My vehicle and/or trailer are covered, or I can ensure that no MSW or recyclable materials will fall
into the road during transport to the Transfer Station.

Initial  >>

7.) I and/or my employee(s) distribute the recyclables collected from my customers into the
appropriate single-sort compactor at the Readfield Transfer Station.

Initial = >

I understand that it is my responsibility to notify my customers of my Recycling Plan and that said
Plan is subject to Readfield Select Board approval and periodic review. I also understand that I will
lose my right to use the Readfield Transfer Station if I do not follow all the rules above.

Hauler’s Signature: Lf\x,.{c_:'_i i /!/_, Date: /~J0-273



Readfield Transfer Station
Commercial Haulers Annual Permit - 2023

2023 COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS IN FAYETTE, READFIELD, AND WAYNE

Customer Name:

Customer Address:

Weekly Volume Estimates:

Seasonal? __ Yes No Approximate Season:

Dumpster / Can Detgfil\[nformation

# | Location 'Size / \ | Frequency of Service

1 A\

2 \ / \

3 \ J

Notes:

et

my

Customer Name: \

Customer Address: \ /

Weekly Volume Estimate: \ -

Seasonal? Yes No Moximate Season: /

~_ .~

Dumpster / Can Dete}Ng‘f&'mation

# | Location Size / \ Frequency of Service

P AN

1
2 //- \

3 i ™~

7 )
Notes: 4

This page may be duplicated for multiple commercial customers




Readfield Transfer Station
Commercial Haulers Annual Permit - 2023

2023 COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS IN FAYETTE, READFIELD, AND WAYNE

Customer Name:

Customer Address:

Weekly Volume Estimates:

Seasonal? ___Yes __ No Approximate Season:

Dumpster / Capl/DetaiI Information

# | Location Si7,é /\ Frequency of Service

1 AN /|

2 [\ LN

[\ / \
Notes: /\/ \/ / B

Customer Name:

Customer Addré\s\s: A /‘
Weekly Volume Estinate: _
Seasonal? Yes \Qlo Approximate Season:/

/

Du}\pster/ Can Deta}Hﬁormation

# | Location Size / Freguency of Service

2 A

3 i

N

Z N\

N\

This page may be duplicated for multiple commercial customers




OTHER BUSINESS




SOMERSET COUNTY COMMUNICATIONS CENTER

8 County Drive Phone: 207 -474-6386 plichael T, Smifr= Directar
Skowhegan, Maine 04976 Fax: 207 -474-0879 Eipalk:msmith@somerseboounty-meiong
www.SomersetCounty-ME.org Tammy K. Barker — Deputy Director

Email: tbarker@somersetcounty-me.org

January 19, 2023

Town of Readfield
8 Kents Hill Road
Readfield, ME 04355

Good Morning,

While this is the time of year when we would begin discussing contract renewals and PSAP
service fees for the next 2 years, I wanted to take a minute to advise you of a decision that
was made by the Somerset County Board of Commissioners at their meeting yesterday.

In light of the many changes and challenges that we have all faced over the past couple of
years and in addition to staffing issues that all PSAPs across the State are facing, the Somerset
County Commissioners voted-to'not renew the PSAP service contracts with the Municipalities in
Kennebec County who are currently contracting with us. The current contract will remain in
place and will still expire on June 30, 2023.

With that said, we have already advised your Dispatch-only Agency(s) so they are aware of
the changes that will be coming their way.  We have also advised the Communications
Director at Maine Department of Public Safety in Augusta that Municipalities may be contacting
him to inquire about PSAP (911) services to begin on July 1, 2023. This would be the default
agency for PSAP services to all Municipalities in Kennebec County.

We have greatly enjoyed the relationship between your Town and our Agency for many years,
but feel that this move is in the best interest of the citizens, first responders, and most
importantly the employees, of Somerset County Communications Center.

Best wishes on a successful transition and please do not hesitate to contact me if we can be of
any assistance in the transition.

Respectfully,

QLV/ LA

Michael Smith, Director



